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Disclaimer:   This  annual  report,  prepared   by 

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad 

may contain certain forward-looking statements and 

is prepared based on the Manager’s current view of 

future events that may involve  certain assumptions, 

risks and uncertainties. Shareholders and investors 

are advised that past performance  does not

necessarily signify its future performance. 
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HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD

Notes:

* Incorporated in India         ** Incorporated in Labuan   *** Incorporated in Myanmar

 

 

 

                       

Ho Hup Construction  
Company (India)  
Private Limited * 

Konsortium AHHK 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Construction 
Company (L) Ltd** 

Ho Hup (Myanmar) 
E&C Co., Ltd***  

KHH Infrastructures 
Sdn Bhd 

Bukit Jalil 
Development Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Ventures 
(Kuantan) Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Ventures 
(KK) Sdn Bhd 

Suria Jayajuta 
Sdn Bhd 

Golden Wave 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Ventures 
(Johor) Sdn Bhd 

Intact Corporate 
Approach  
Sdn Bhd 

Tru-Mix Concrete 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Industries 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Ventures 
(Malacca) 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Quarries 
(Malacca) 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup-ICM 
Quarry 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup F&B  
Sdn Bhd 

Mahi Mahi 
Sdn Bhd 

Coffee Delight 
Sdn Bhd 

Easy I Zak 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Teratai 
Sdn Bhd 

H2Energy Corporation 
Sdn Bhd 

H2Advance Builders 
Sdn Bhd 

New Interconnected  
Expressway Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Fadason 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Dagang Jaya  
Sdn Bhd 

6 Teppan Dining 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Jaya 
Sdn Bhd 

HH Interpark 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Infinite 
Sdn Bhd 

Ho Hup Rail (Seremban) 
Sdn Bhd 

CONSTRUCTION DIVISION 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 

DIVISION 
BUIDING MATERIALS 

DIVISION 

49.8% 

100% 

100% 

70% 

70% 

90% 

70% 

100% 

75% 

70% 

100% 

70% 

70% 

70% 

100% 

60% 

70% 

100% 

PROPERTY & RETAIL 
MANAGEMENT DIVISION 

75% 

100% 

29% 

75% 

100% 

50% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE
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 26 JUNE 2020

NOTICE OF 46 TH ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING AND ISSUANCE OF 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

46TH ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING 

22 JULY 2020

Quarterly Results

30 MAY 2019

Unaudited consolidated 
result for the 1 st quarter 
ended 31 March 2019

28 NOVEMBER
2019

Unaudited consolidated 
result for the 3 rd quarter 
ended 31 March 2019

27 FEBRUARY
2020

Unaudited consolidated 
result for the 4 th quarter 
ended 31 December 2019

26 AUGUST 2019

Unaudited consolidated 
result for the 2 nd quarter 
ended 30 June 2019

VENUE:
BUKIT JALIL GOLF & COUNTRY RESORT

1ST FLOOR, PERDANA BALLROOM
JALAN JALIL PERKASA 3

BUKIT JALIL, 57000 KUALA LUMPUR

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT  (RM'000) 31 Dec 2015* 31 Dec 2016*^ 31 Dec 2017^ 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2019

Key Statement of Comprehensive Income

Revenue 298,546          241,366          179,677          260,815          371,368          

Profit Before Tax 86,761            78,017            48,755            39,315            76,083            

Profit After Tax 70,274            65,072            38,538            28,263            51,586            

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent 70,934            65,791            40,075            28,891            51,500            

Key Statement of Financial Position

Total Assets 523,153          683,179          895,691          1,087,972       1,305,500       

Total Borrowings 134,965          218,471          306,102          382,055          372,356          

Shareholders' Equity Attributable to 228,276          295,849          335,267          363,719          432,584          

  Owners of the Parent

Share Information

Basic Earnings per Share Attributable to 20.67 18.84 10.69 7.71 13.50

   Owners of the Parent (sen)

Net Assets per Share Attributable to 65.83 78.92 89.44 97.02 104.90

  Owners of the Parent (sen)

Financial Indicators

Net Return on Shareholders' Funds (%) 31.07% 22.24% 11.95% 7.94% 12.87%

Gearing Ratio (times) 0.50 0.63 0.81 0.96 0.68
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Basic Earnings per Share Attributable to
Owners of the Parent (sen)

* Figures for FYE 2015 to FYE 2016 were not adjusted for MFRS 1, MFRS 9 and MFRS 15 impact. It is for  

reference purpose only and is not meant for comparison with FYE 2017 - 2019.

^ Statement of financial position figures have been restated following the adoption of MFRS 1, MFRS 9 and 

MFRS 15.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Ho Hup’s The Crown Service 
Suites is 60% taken up 

Crown to tap KK’s growing tourism demand 

CROWN DIJANGKA TARIK PELANCONG THE CROWN 服務式套房公寓

提供地點絕佳優質住宿 

(cont’d)
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DIRECTOR’S PROFILE

 

TAN SRI DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE 
Chairman/Senior Independent Non-Executive 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

73 Male Malaysian 15 July 2013 
 

6 years and 10 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

30 May 2019 

 
Membership of Board Committees:   
Nomination Committee (Chairman) 
Remuneration Committee 
Audit Committee  
 
Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree from the University of Malaya  
•  Read law at the Inns of Court School of Law in London (UK) 
•  Bar of England  and  Wales  in the  Trinity Term  of 1974 by  the  Honourable Society of Inner 

Temple, London (UK) 
•  Master of Laws (LLM) Degree from the University of Southampton  
•  Awarded  a Certificate  in  Advanced Management Programme by the Banff School of Advanced 

Management, Alberta, Canada  
 
Working Experience: 
He served in various capacities in the Sarawak State Service; as the District Officer, Bintulu, State Training 
Officer Sarawak, Secretary of the Government Examinations Board, Secretary of the Sarawak Complaints 
and Suggestions Bureau, Director of Civic Development Unit, General Manager of Sarawak Timber Industry 
Development Corporation and General Manager of Bintulu Development Authority. 
 
In 1983, he left the Sarawak Government service to set up a legal practice Messrs Sulong Matjeraie & Co. 
and served as its senior partner. He was President of the Advocates Association of Sarawak until his 
appointment as a Judicial Commissioner at the High Court of Malaya in Johor in 1998. He was a High Court 
Judge of Malaya based in Johor Baru in 2000 before being transferred to the High Court of Sabah and 
Sarawak where he served as its High Court Judge in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. 
 
In 2007, he was promoted as a Judge in the Court of Appeal and was later appointed a Federal Court Judge 
at the Federal Court of Malaysia, Palace of Justice at Putrajaya. 
 
In 2013, Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie was appointed by the Prime Minister of Malaysia as 
one of the four eminent persons to serve on the Judicial Appointments Commission for a period of two 
years.  
 
On 30 January 2014, he was made a Bencher of the prestigious Honourable Society of the Inner Temple, 
London. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies 
Petra Energy Berhad 
Southern Acids (M) Berhad 
WTK Holdings Berhad  

  
 He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year. 
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DIRECTOR’S PROFILE

 

DATO’ MAH SIEW KWOK 
Deputy Chairman/Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

72 Male Malaysian 15 July 2013 
 

6 years and 10 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

19 May 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATO’ WONG KIT-LEONG 
Chief Executive Officer/ Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

48 Male Malaysian 12 August 2010 9 years and 9 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

30 May 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Remuneration Committee 
Nomination Committee 
 
Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Barrister-at-Law, Lincoln’s Inn, London (UK) 
 
Working Experience: 
He is qualified in law and was called to the English 
Bar in 1972. He was the founder and senior 
partner of Messrs. Mah & Partners in 1975, 
specialising in Corporate Law, Banking Law and 
Land Law. He remained in practice for ten (10) 
years before venturing into the commercial sector. 
From 1983 to 1994 he served as Managing 
Director of South Malaysia Industries Berhad.  
 
 

He is the Deputy Chairman of Chong Hwa 
Independent High School and a trustee and 
member of Chong Hwa KL Foundation.

 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Omesti Berhad 

Vertice Berhad 

 
 

 

He attended four (4) out of five (5) Board Meetings 
of the Company held during the financial year.  
 

 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Nil 
 
Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Bachelor of Commerce, University of British 

Columbia, Canada 
 
Working Experience: 
He was appointed to the Board of the Company as 
an Executive Director on 12 August 2010, to 
manage the financial and corporate restructuring of 
the Group. He was re-designated as Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company by the 
Board on 24 April 2014. 
 
 

He began his career with Citibank Malaysia in 
1995 before moving to Abric Berhad in 1999. 
During his tenure in Abric up to 2007, he served as 
Executive Director/Chief Operating Officer. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Nil  
 

 He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year.  
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DATO’ WONG GIAN KUI 
Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

60 Male Malaysian 21 August 2017 2 year 9 months 
(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

18 May 2018 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
DATO’ SRI THONG KOK KHEE 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

65 Male Malaysian 6 October 2011 8 years and 7 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

30 May 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Nil 
 

Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Member of Malaysian Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (MICPA)  
•  Member of Malaysian Institute of 

Accountants (MIA)  
 
Working Experience: 
 
An accountant by profession, he articled with 
Harun, Oh and Wong, Chartered Accountants and 
the Malaysian member firm of Horwath 
International in 1981. He qualified as a Chartered 
Public Accountant (CPA) in 1984 and was 
admitted as a member of MICPA in 1985 and as a 
member of MIA in 1988. Dato’ Wong held a senior 
management position in Harun, Oh & Wong and 
was seconded to Stoy Hayward London, Chartered 
Accountants, the UK member firm of Horwath 
International for two (2) years from 1990 to 1991. 
 
He was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of 

Insas Berhad (“Insas”) on 11 September 1992, 
re-designated as Executive Director – Finance in 
January 1993, appointed as Managing Director in 
November 2000 and as Chief Executive Officer on 
29 November 2004. Subsequently, he was 
re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 30 January 2009 and Executive 
Director on 22 November 2017. On 28 February 
2019, Dato’ Wong was appointed as the Chief 
Executive Officer of Insas. He is also an Executive 
Director of Inari Amertron Berhad, an Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman of Yi-Lai Berhad, and a 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of SYF 
Resources Berhad.  
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Remuneration Committee (Chairman) 
 
Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  London School of Economics, (UK) 
 
Working Experience: 
He worked in the financial services industry from 
1979 to 1988. During this period, he worked for 
Standard Chartered Merchant Bank Asia Limited in 
Singapore from October 1982 to June 1988 and 
his last held position was as Director of Corporate 
Finance Division.  
 
 

Dato’ Sri Thong is a major shareholder of the 
Company. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Inari Amertron Berhad

Omesti Berhad

 
 

  
 

Insas Berhad 
Inari Amertron Berhad 
Yi-Lai Berhad 
SYF Resources Berhad 
 
He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year. 
 

He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year.   

(cont’d)
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DATIN CHAN BEE LENG 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

59 Female Malaysian 31 October 2011 8 years and 7 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

18 May 2018 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MR. LOW KHENG LUN 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

33 Male Malaysian 31 October 2011 8 years and 7 
months 

(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

18 May 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Nil 
 
Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Bachelor of  Science (Hons)  Management 

Science (Majoring in Finance & Marketing), 
University of Warwick, (UK) 

•  GSCE  ‘A’  Levels,  Weston – Super – Mare    
Technical College, (UK) 

•  Business Education Council Diploma (BEC) 
 
Working Experience: 
She was a Finance Manager in Brisdale Sdn. Bhd. 
(a subsidiary of developer Perwira Indra Sakti Sdn. 
Bhd.) from 1990 to 1996 and a Director of Tepat 
Concrete Sdn. Bhd. from 2000 to 2006. She 
subsequently joined Bukit Jalil Development Sdn. 
Bhd. as a Consultant from 2006 to 2008. 

She is a major shareholder of the Company. She is 
also the spouse of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major 
shareholder of the Company and mother to Mr. 
Low Kheng Lun, a Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Nil

Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  MA  (Hons)  Entrepreneurial  Management, 

European Business School, London, (UK) 
•  BEng  (Hons)  Civil Engineering,  University 

College London, (UK)  
 
Working Experience: 
He worked as a Graduate Engineer in Buildings 
and Infrastructure Department in Scott Wilson 
PLC, London, UK from 2008 to 2009 and was an IT 
Advisory Associate in KPMG. He is currently a 
Director of Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd. 

He is the son of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major 
shareholder of the Company and Datin Chan Bee 
Leng, a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Ni  

 

She attended four (4) out of five (5) Board 
Meetings of the Company held during the financial 
year.  
 

He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year.  
 

(cont’d)
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(cont’d)

MR. CHOW SECK KAI 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

64 Male Malaysian 17 March 2010 10 years and 2 months   
(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

18 May 2018 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
MR. BOEY TAK KONG 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Age Gender Nationality Date of Appointment Length of Service Date of Last Re-election 

66 Male Malaysian 28 November 2014 5 years 6 months 
(as at 28 May 2020) 
 

19 May 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Nomination Committee  
Remuneration Committee 
Audit Committee 
 

Academic/Professional Qualifications: 
•  Associate  of  The   Institute   Chartered 

Secretaries  and  Administrators (UK) 
•  Fellow  Member  of  The  Institute of Public 

Accountants (IPA), Australia 
 
Working Experience 
He has more than 30 years of working experience 
in public practice in various fields relating to his 
profession as a company secretary and corporate 
advisor to SME companies. 
 

Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

Diversified Gateway Solutions Berhad 

 

Membership of Board Committees:   
Audit Committee (Chairman) 
 
Academic / Professional Qualifications: 
•  Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute 

of Accountants 
•  Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants (UK) 
•  Associate  of  the  Institute  of  Chartered 

Secretaries & Administrators (UK) 
•  Member of the Institute of Marketing Malaysia 
•  Member  of  the  Malaysian   Institute  of  

Management 
 
Working Experience: 
He has over 23 years of broad senior management 
experience in financial management, internal audit, 
general management, corporate affairs and 
regional business development with five (5) major 
listed groups with listings in Malaysia, Singapore, 
United Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand. 
 

His industry knowledge covers financial services, 
industrial equipment assembly and distribution, 
general insurance, textile manufacturing, property 
development, infrastructure project management 
and integrated timber processing and marketing 
business. 
 
Presently, he is the Managing Director of Terus 
Mesra Sdn Bhd, a governance and leadership 
development training company. 
 
Directorships of other Public Listed Companies

He attended all five (5) Board Meetings held during 
the financial year.  
 
 

Censof Holdings Berhad 
Gadang Holdings Berhad 
Green Packet Berhad 
IJM Plantations Berhad (Appointed on 17 Jun 2019)  
 
He attended all the five (5) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year.   
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(cont’d)

 
Notes:- 
 

1. Family Relationship with Director and/or Major Shareholder 
Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has any family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Company, except for Datin Chan Bee Leng who is the mother of Mr. Low Kheng 
Lun, a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and spouse of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major  
shareholder of the Company. 

 
2. Conflict of Interest 

None of the Directors has any conflicts of interest with the Company. 
 

3. Conviction of Offence 
None of the Directors has been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other than 
possible traffic offences, if any. 
 

4. Public Sanction or Penalty Imposed 
None of the Directors has been imposed with any public sanction or penalty by the relevant 
regulatory bodies during the financial year. 
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Dear Shareholders,

On  behalf  of the Board  of  Directors, 

I am pleased to present the Annual 

Report of the Group for the financial 

year ended 31st December 2019.  

(“FYE 2019”)

 

The year under review was marked by height-

ened global trade tensions causing growth in 

major economies to sputter. While Malaysia’s 

export-led economy remained largely resilient it 

was unable to fully absorb the impact of the 

external factors and the country’s economic 

expansion slowed to 4.3%. 

Notwithstanding these market challenges, Ho 

Hup Group achieved a stronger pre-tax profit of 

RM76 million. 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The Group’s property division benefitted from the Government’s initiatives to revitalise the sector that had 

been largely stagnant in the last two years. The National Home Ownership Campaign (NHOC) launched 

early  in  2019  helped  lift  the  market  through  the  various  customers-driven  incentives  offered. The 

initiative generated fresh buying, momentum especially first-time owners, who were the targets of the 

NHOC. 

Another significant measure was the reduction of the Overnight Policy Rate (OPR) by 25 basis point to 

3% in May 2019. The lowering of rates made certain categories of property more affordable and within 

the reach of more potential buyers. 

These Government-driven initiatives improved sentiments and contributed to an increase in the Group’s 

property sales. We hope to see further support from Government policies in enabling the property market 

to remain resilient in 2020.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SUSTAINABILITY

The Group’s revenue for FYE 2019 totalled RM371.4 million, an increase of RM110.6 million or 42.4% 

improvement from that achieved in FYE 2018. As a result, Group profit-after tax was higher at RM51.6 

million, compared to RM28.3 million in the previous year.

The improved Group  revenue was  due  to  stronger  performances  of  our Construction  and  Property 

Development Divisions. For construction, there was increased contribution from several projects, namely 

the Breakwater Rehabilitation works in Terengganu, the Yong Peng-Segamat highway project, as well as 

the construction of the Technical College (TVET) in Johor. 

In property development, the division registered higher revenue contribution from the Bukit Jalil City Mall 

project. 

An in-depth review of the financial performance is  presented under  the  Management  Discussion  and 

Analysis (MD&A) section on pages 24 to 29.

The Board continues to uphold its firm commitment to implementing  strong  standards  of  corporate  

governance compliance and risk management assurance practices. During the financial year under 

review, all Directors were updated on the developments and changes related  to  relevant  laws  and 

regulatory requirements. Where suitable, training  and  education  programmes were swiftly identified for 

their participation.

During the financial year, the Group adopts an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy and further enhance 

the Whistle-Blowing Policy to report on any irregularities or non-compliance. Staff training on Anti-Bribery 

and Anti-Corruption Policy to address the requirements of MACC Section 17A provisions were carried 

out progressively by regional activities throughout the country. 

At Ho Hup, we continue to recognise the importance of conducting our business in a sustainable and 

responsible manner focusing around the Economic, Environment and Social criteria.

An update on our approach towards sustainability is featured in our Sustainability Report section on 

pages 30 to 50.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

At the macro-level, the COVID-19 pandemic that started in January 2020 and triggered lockdowns and 

production shutdowns globally, have generated huge uncertainties for the world.    The macro-economic 

impact on Malaysians  and  the  economy are  being  managed  by the  Government  with  two  different 

stimulus packages announced within a month. However, combined by the partial lockdown imposed on 

the country, it is not yet clear whether the measures are sufficient to counter the negative drag on all the 

affected economic sectors, including the businesses the Group is engaged in.

While  the  Government  is  new,  we  hope  that  the  policies  of  this  administration  will continue to be 

business-friendly and provide the corporate sector the much needed incentives to encourage further 

investments  in  the  property  and   construction  sectors.  In  addition,   we  are  still   hopeful   the  new 

Government  will  continue  their  predecessor’s  effort  made  to  further  improvements in infrastructure 

project-flows, such as the re-start of mega infrastructure projects. High on the list are the ECRL, LRT3, 

the re-tendering of Klang Valley Double Track (KVDT) works, public hospital works, Putrajaya monorail, 

full  rollout  of  Pan  Borneo  Highway  and  the  potential  infrastructure  development  by  the  Sarawak 

government.

These, if materialise, should augur well for our construction and building materials divisions moving 

forward.

At the micro-level, I am pleased to say that Ho Hup Group is off to an exciting start with the relocation of 

our head office to our very own Ho Hup Tower at the Aurora Place, our signature project at Bukit Jalil City. 

Apart from the office tower, we also own the lower ground retail units, a lifestyle centre and 5 levels of 

carpark, which are being leased and tenanted to provide recurring  revenue for the Group. 

We expect on-going projects at our Construction and Property Development divisions to continue to 

showing good progress, despite the disruption following the unprecedented Movement Control Order 

(MCO) implemented by the Government from March 18th to June 9th. Several of our on-going projects 

are expected to be completed in 2020. The Technical College which is part of the TVET project near 

Kulai, Johor should be completed in 2021/22 while the construction of Crown Jewel Residences and 

Hotel in Kota Kinabalu will progressively pick up the construction pace in 2020. 

Certainly overcoming the current fragile economic condition due to the Covid-19 pandemic will be our 

greatest challenge this year.  We will continue to venture into pipeline projects of mixed development in 

the Klang Valley with a potential estimated GDV of more than RM1billion.

Overall, amidst our country’s political changes and global health crisis, the Group is well-placed to sustain 

our growth in the coming financial year. 
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APPRECIATION 

I would like to express my deep appreciation to our shareholders for their continued trust and support, as 

well as to our business partners, associates and bankers for their support and confidence in the Group.

My sincere thanks to the Senior Management and Staff for their strong commitment,  hard  work  and 

dedication to help us sustain our business agenda, and equally, to my fellow Board members for their 

valuable guidance and contribution to the Group.

We will continue to work hard to create greater value for our stakeholders and we look forward to your 

continuing support and commitment in the years ahead.

TAN SRI DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE 

Chairman
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MR. LEE HENG AUN 
Chief Financial Officer  
Malaysian, Aged 56, Male 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------- 
He was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 5 October 2016.   
 
He is a Fellow of the Association of Certified Accountant (United Kingdom) and a Chartered Accountant of 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He also graduated with a Masters in Business Administration 
(Information Technology Management) from the Multimedia University. 
 
He began his career as an Auditor in 1990 in the United Kingdom and has more than 29 years of experience 
in management, operations and finance in various industries, ranging from trading, manufacturing, express 
delivery, logistics, haulage and transportation, construction, property development, mobile payment to oil and 
gas support services. He served as Chief Financial Officer of Carimin Petroleum Berhad prior to joining the 
Company. 
 
 

MR. LEE CHEN FEE 

Group General Manager – Operations 

Malaysian, Aged 53, Male 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
He holds a Degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Malaya, conferred in 1990, and has over 27 
years of experience in engineering, construction and property development.  
 
He began his career as Resident Engineer with Hashim and Neh Consulting Sdn Bhd and subsequently 
joined L&M Geotechnic Sdn Bhd before moving to APG Geo-Systems Sdn Bhd in 1993. During his tenure in 
APG Geo-Systems Sdn Bhd, he served as its Project Manager and later as its Business Development 
Manager. He also served as General Manager at Relevant Technology (EM) Sdn Bhd and Trans MSB 
Builders Sdn Bhd before joining the Company on April 2010. 
 
 
MS. YEE LAI KUAN 

General Manager – Human Resource and Administration 
Malaysian, Aged 63, Female 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
She graduated with Masters in International Business Management from the University of East London and 
holds a Diploma in Industrial Relations. She worked with several food and beverage establishments in New 
Zealand and Malaysia in various positions between 1977 and 1988. 
 
She joined the Company in December 1999 as Human Resource Manager, was promoted to Senior Manager 
in July 2003 and subsequently to General Manager in November 2006, a position she holds till today. She 
has over 31 years’ experience in Human Resource and Administration Management. 
 
 
MS. VICTORIA LOUI HOONG MEI 

General Manager – Finance 
Malaysian, Aged 50, Female 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
She is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and a member of The Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  
 
She has extensive working experience across a wide-range of industries, from auditing, construction, 
property development, financial services and education. She started her career with Ernst and Young in 1991 
as an Auditor until 1997, following which she joined Asia Pacific Land Berhad and Nam Fatt Corporation 
Berhad. In May 2003, she joined Segi Educational Group International (SEGI) a regional higher education 
provider as its Senior Finance Manager. In 2006, she served at the International Commercial Bank Financial 
Group Holdings AG (ICB), an international financial services provider based in Switzerland with subsidiaries 
in Eastern Europe, Africa and Asia as its Chief Financial Officer prior to her current role as General Manager 
– Finance of the Company. 
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MR. YAP YOON LEAN 

General Manager - Quarry Operations (Building Materials Division) 
Malaysian, Aged 60, Male 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------- 
He holds a Diploma in Commerce in Cost & Management Accounting from Tunku Abdul Rahman College. 
He started his career with Genting Berhad as an Audit Assistant prior to joining Singapore-listed Jurong 
Engineering Ltd as a Finance Officer. 
 
In 1990, he moved back to Malaysia working as an Accountant and Operations Director in the hotel 
management and manufacturing industries. He was the Project Director of Kiara ANR Sdn Bhd, a company 
involved in tin exploration in Perak from March 2013 to July 2015 before joining the Company on August 
2015.  
 
Yap brings with him more than 26 years of experience in accounting, finance and operations in several 
industries from hotel management, construction, engineering, manufacturing and trading. 
 
 
MR. CHOOI KIN PHENG 

General Manager – Property Development 
Malaysian, Aged 56, Male 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Social Sciences (Hons) from University of Waikato, New Zealand.  
 
Chooi joined the Company in November 2018, bringing with him more than 26 years of experience in property 
marketing and sales, property management, and malls and complexes operation. 
 
Prior to joining the Company, he served in various capacities in sales and marketing, and mall and complex 
management with several established property developers and owners, such as Berjaya Land, IJM Land 
Berhad and Malton Berhad. 
 
 
MR. FOO TZEH YUAN 

General Manager – Ready Mixed Operations (Building Materials Division) 
Malaysian, Aged 62, Male 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
He holds a Postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration from University of Leicester, United Kingdom.  
 
He began his career as an Ornamental Horticultural Specialist and received his Diploma from the Botanic 
Gardens in Singapore in 1987.   
 
Subsequently, he moved into the manufacturing sector, serving in management positions, overseeing   
operations and manufacturing in facilities in Asean, China and Russia. He joined the Company in 2014 and 
was assigned to oversee the Company’s project in Myanmar.  
 
With more than 34 years of working experience at various management levels, he was appointed as General 
Manager for Ready Mixed Operations on January, 2019. 
 
 
Notes: 
 
Save as disclosed above, none of the Key Senior Management has:-  
1. any directorship in public companies and listed issuers;  
2. any family relationship with any Directors and/or major shareholders of the Company;  
3. any conflict of interest with the Company;  
4. any conviction for offences within the past 5 years other than traffic offences; and  
5. any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.
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MARKET OVERVIEW 
 

The business environment for the Group in 2019 was better than in the previous year, aided by the 

Government’s implementation of initiatives to revitalise the property sector.  These initiatives, which included 

the National Home Ownership Campaign (NHOC) at the beginning of 2019 help lift sentiments in the property 

market which remained stagnant for several years.   

The reduction in the Overnight Policy Rate (OPR) by 25 basis point to 3% in May 2019 was another positive 

development, as lower financing costs translates to increased affordability for potential buyers. 

The initiatives were among the factors that contributed to an increase in sales of the Group’s development 

projects, which offered attractive and functional designs as well as strategic locations.  

We look forward to further Government-led efforts to sustain the property sector and to encourage the 

development of projects to meet segments where demand is still healthy. 

At the macro-level, global trade tensions impacted Malaysia’s growth lowering Gross Development Product 

(GDP) to 4.3% in 2019 compared to 4.7% in previous year. The trade tensions also caused the Ringgit to 

depreciate, however, this had minimal impact on the costs to the Group.  

In the face of these market constraints, the Group recalibrated our strategy to focus on the Group’s strength 
to ensure the sustainability our core businesses for our next phase of growth. 
 
 
GROUP BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 
 
The Group’s commitment in FYE 2019 to our shareholders was to improve performance, enhance the 
sustainability of our business and stay profitable. We were guided by the following strategies:      
 

CORE BUSINESS DIVISION BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

Construction 
Focus on selective Government infrastructure projects that 
provide reasonable margin. 

Property Development 

Fast track development activities for projects located in the 
Klang Valley, speed up the development of the hotel and service 
apartments in Kota Kinabalu and launch the integrated township 
project in Kulai. 

Building Material 

Ready mix to scale up in trading opportunities from on-going 
infrastructure and property development; quarry business to 
sustain through its challenging business environment and to 
break-even. 

Property and Retail Management 

To focus on growing occupancy rate and improving rental 
collections for sustainable recurring income generated from 
properties and retails with reasonable bottom line  

 
 
SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE 
 

 Financial Year  
2019 

Financial Year  
2018 

Financial Year 
2017 

Year High RM0.70 RM0.65 RM0.92 

Year Low RM0.31 RM0.28 RM0.51 

Year Close RM0.31 RM0.32 RM0.53 

Trading Volume 322.0 million 75.5 million 137.2 million 

Market Capitalisation 
(as at the financial year end) 

RM127.8 million RM118.1 million RM198.7 million 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
Revenue 

 
Group revenue totalled RM371.4 million in FYE 2019 which was RM110.6 million or 42.4% higher than the 
RM260.8 million achieved in the previous year. The higher Group revenue was due to better performance in 
the Property Development and Construction divisions. 
 
The Property Development division received strong revenue contribution totalling RM226.8 million from its 
positive entitlement due to the Group under the Joint Development Agreement (JDA) of Bukit Jalil City. Of 
these, RM67.9 million were for Phase 1, 2 and Phase 3, and RM133.2 million for the sale of Pavilion Bukit 
Jalil, which is part of the Bukit Jalil City project. The Crown Suites project, in Kota Kinabalu, launched in May 
2018 continues to contribute progressively to the Division, with an amount of RM4.1 million profit before tax 
and interest in 2019. 
 
The Construction division received higher contributions from several projects.  These are the Breakwater 
Rehabilitation works in Terengganu, the Yong Peng-Segamat highway project, as well as the construction of 
the Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) college in Johor.   
 
Revenue contribution from the Building Materials Division also improved, driven mainly by higher sales 
recorded by the ready mix business. At the same time, the division continued with efforts to manage cost of 
operations by working closely with the Construction and Property Development divisions, while the Division 
actively sourced for new projects.   
  

  12 MONTHS ENDED 

  31-Dec-19 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Revenue            371,368             260,815  
        179,677 

  
Cost of Sales         (221,400)         (174,866)         (93,520)  
Gross Profit            149,968                85,949             86,157  

      

Other Income                  3,582                  3,739               3,060  

Administrative expenses            (15,523)            (12,978)         (12,523) 

Other expenses            (38,737)            (18,281)         (15,614) 

Result from operating activities 99,290               58,429             61,080  

      

Finance income                 1,688                  3,221                   331  

Net loss on impairment on financial instruments (314) - - 

Finance costs            (24,565)            (22,768)         (12,051) 

Net finance costs            (24,879)            (19,547)         (11,720) 

      

Share of results of associates and joint ventures  (16)                     433                (605) 

Profit before tax               76,083                39,315             48,755  

      

Taxation            (24,497)            (11,052)         (10,217) 

        

Profit for the financial year            51,586             28,263          38,538  
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Cost and expenses 

 
a) The cost of sales (COS) for the Group for FYE 2019 was RM221.4 million compared to RM174.9 million 

in FYE 2018. The increase is in line with the revenue improvement as highlighted in our revenue section.  
 

b) The operating overheads for the Group was RM54.3 million compared to RM31.3 million in FYE 2018. 
The additional RM23.0 million went to: 

 
i) Administrative expenses which rose from RM13.0 million to RM15.5 million, which was mainly 

due to an increase in staff and training costs. 

ii) Other expenses increased from RM18.3 million to RM38.7 million, mainly due to marketing 
expenses for The Crown Suites project in Kota Kinabalu, sales office rental in Kota Kinabalu and 
related fees to support the sales launches, tender expenses and professional fees incurred for 
extension of short-term loans. 

 
Other income  

 
Other income of the Group decreased from RM3.7 million to RM3.6 million mainly from lower interest 

on late payments charged to purchasers of Aurora Place and The Crown Suites development, lower rental 

income from the leasing of ready-mix plants.         

  

  

 
Results from operating activities before interest and tax 

 
Group results from operating activities before interest and tax  was RM99.3 million compared to RM58.4 
million in FYE 2018, an increase of RM40.9 million or 70.0%.  
 
 
Finance costs 

 
Group finance cost of RM24.6 million was RM1.8 million more than the RM22.8 million in FYE 2018. The 
increase was attributed to additional borrowings, facilities obtained for working capital purposes and to fund 
the Group’s on-going activities especially the property developments in Kulai and Kota Kinabalu. 
 
 
Taxation  

 
The tax expense of the Group   was RM24.5 million compared to RM11.1 million in FYE 2018. The increase 
was mainly due to the higher profit before tax of the major operating subsidiary Bukit Jalil Development Sdn 
Bhd of RM93.0 million in FYE 2019 compared to RM43.5 million in FYE 2018. 
 
 
Liquidity and capital resources 

 
The Group’s capital expenditure and working capital requirements were financed by cash generated from 
operations and short-term and long-term debt provided by financial institutions. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (fixed deposits and cash and bank balances) at year ended December 2019, was 
RM85.6 million, an increase of RM54.5 million compared to RM31.1 million as at 31 December 2018. The 
increase was mainly collections from the entitlement under the JDA’s   Phase 1, 2 and Phase 3 of the Bukit 
Jalil City development; and the sale of the Pavilion Bukit Jalil. 
 
Total borrowings (including hire-purchase) of the Group decreased by RM9.7 million to RM372.4 million, from 
RM382.1 million as at 31 December 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the settlement for a term loan 
with the bank. 
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Group Bank Borrowings 
 

  2019 2018 2017 

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Secured       

Bank overdrafts             21,672              32,101              27,779  

Bridging loan             43,943              15,000   -  

Banker acceptance               2,537                4,893                4,997  

Revolving credit               7,500                7,500   -  

Term loans           279,759            314,074            263,519  

Finance lease liabilities 
     

16,945  
              8,487                9,807  

  372,356         382,055          306,102  

Current        

Bank overdrafts             21,672              32,101              27,779  

Banker acceptance               2,537                4,893                4,997  

Bridging Loans 15,000 - - 

Revolving credit               7,500                7,500   -  

Term loans           144,771            138,691            103,397  

Finance lease liabilities -               3,542                2,743  

Lease liabilities 5,814 - - 

          197,294          186,727          138,916  

Non-Current       

Bridging loan             28,943   15,000   -  

Term loans           134,988            175,383            160,122  

Finance lease liabilities -               4,945                7,064  

Lease liabilities 11,131 - - 

          175,062          195,328          167,186  

          372,356          382,055          306,102  

 
 
Gearing  
 
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2019 decreased to 0.7, from 1.0 as at 31 December 2018 
mainly due to the full settlement of a bank loan, as well as for the higher retain earnings and the successful 
private placement. This ratio is calculated as total net debt divided by total shareholders’ funds. Total net 
debt which is calculated as total borrowings less fixed deposits, cash and bank balances (excluded cash and 
cash equivalents restricted from use) amounted to RM304.4 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RM362.7 
million). Total shareholders’ funds were calculated as the sum of total shareholders’ equity, which amounted 
to RM446.2 million in 2019 (2018: RM377.3 million). 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

Construction 

 
The Construction Division’s revenue and profit before tax for the year was RM224.8 million (FYE 2018: RM 
154.7 million) and RM 3.9 million (FYE 2018: RM 3.0 million) respectively. The revenue was mainly derived 
from ongoing contracts for the Breakwater Rehabilitation works in Terengganu, the Bridge Works and 
Immigration Quarters project in Perak,  the Yong Peng-Segamat Highway project and the Technical and 
Vocational Education and Training (TVET) college which contributed positively for the FYE 2019. 
 
During the year under review, the Construction Division continued to work on securing contracts to replenish 
the Group’s order book.  
 
The main structures and building works for Aurora Place in Bukit Jalil was handed over to the purchasers 
after its completion late in 2019. 
 
 
Property Development 

 
Leveraging on the Government’s 2019 initiatives to revitalise the property sector, this Division recorded 
higher revenues and profit before tax of RM226.8 million (FYE 2018: RM105.0 million) and RM93.6 million 
(FYE 2018: RM43.8 million) respectively.     
 
The higher revenue for the division came from two developments. These are the Bukit Jalil City Project, in 
the Federal Territory and The Crown Suites project in Kota Kinabalu. Revenue contribution from the Bukit
Jalil City Project increased  to RM201.1 million (FYE 2018: RM88.1 million) and the progressive sales billing 
from The Crown Suites project in Kota Kinabalu, contributed RM25.3 million (FYE 2018: RM12.2 million).   
 
 
Building Materials  

 
The Division’s contribution to Group’s revenue was RM27.8 million (FYE 2018: RM46.2 million) and loss 
before tax stood at RM5.3 million, a higher loss of RM3.3 million compared to RM2.0 million the previous 
financial year. 
 
There weaker performance was a result of lower revenues  of RM18.4 million (-39.8%) due to the soft    
performance of the quarry and ready-mix operations which was impacted by lower demand and price 
competition, arising from uncertainties following the deferment of several major infrastructures in the country  
last year. Nonetheless, the Group took steps to mitigate rising costs through careful cost planning and 
improving operational efficiency to ensure that the business remain sustainable to minimise cost overruns.  
 
The Group’s current quarry business revenue is generated mainly from the supply of rocks and aggregates 
for Breakwater Rehabilitation works in Terengganu. It is working closely to enhance the quarry site stockpile 
at the Melaka quarry. In carrying out these operations, in the present challenging environment, we closely 
monitor the day to day operations with a General Manager overseeing the operations and engaging with the 
Board via updates and reviews on a regular basis.  
  
 
Property and Retail Management 

 
The Property and Retail Management Division is a new division where the Management foresee the potential 
and opportunity to grow a sustainable recurring rental income for the Group. This division has subsidiaries 
owning assets including the office tower, lower ground retail, a lifestyle centre, food and beverage businesses 
and the carpark. Once Aurora Place is fully tenanted, these assets would provide stable recurring cash flow 
for the Group. 
 
The Division started operations in August. Revenue of RM1.0 million in 2019 was mainly derived from the 
tenancy agreements and rental deposits from newly signed-on tenants for the lower ground retail units and 
tenants occupying the office tower.  
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The Division’s team is working diligently to secure higher tenancy to build a sustainable base of recurring 
income to provide stable positive cash flow for the Group. 
 
 
 
PLANNING AHEAD 

 
Looking ahead in the current turbulence stirred chiefly by external factors beyond our control,  such as the  
COVID-19 global crisis, we are resolute in continuing  to work tirelessly to ensure the Group delivers 
satisfactory results. We have firmed up plans for our business divisions and are committed to strategically 
implement them; to execute and to deliver our projects successfully to achieve optimum results for our 
shareholders. At the same time, we will take all necessary precautions in managing risks and uncertainties 
in our business in the face of the severely tough market conditions in the year ahead. 
 
The Crown Project, Kota Kinabalu which achieved encouraging sales of 60% in FYE 2019 is expected to 
contribute to a major part of the Group’s revenue in 2020 as the development progress quickly catches up. 
 
Having successfully planted the Ho Hup brand at Bukit Jalil at the Aurora Place; and with the relocation of 
our head office to our very own Ho Hup Tower in the same location, we plan to leverage on our assets in 
Aurora Place to produce strong and positive cash flows in 2020. 
 
The Group owns a plot of freehold land next to Aurora Place.  This highly strategic site has been earmarked 
to be developed as the Aurora Duo, with its launch timed to be in the near future. We expect this project to 
contribute positively to the Group. 
 
We also plan to develop the 429 acres land in Kulai, Johor, acquired in 2018, into an integrated mixed 
residential and commercial township with focus on properties suited for first homeowners and the middle 
income group. We have embarked on soft-marketing for this project since the last quarter of 2019 and the 
response has been very encouraging. 
 
With developments in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah and new ones being planned in Kulai, Johor and Bukit Jalil in 
Kuala Lumpur, we will work tirelessly to secure a sustainable future.  
 
Our business development team have identified strategic mixed development projects in the Klang Valley 
with a potential estimated GDV of more than RM1billion as part of our strategic plan to replenish our landbank, 
project pipeline and order book.   
  
For our construction business, we are re-aligning our capabilities and positioning the Group to secure 
possible infrastructure contracts, which we believe the Government could be rolling out or reviving to 
stimulate the Malaysian economy. 
 
 Our quarry operations will focus on industry demand based that could flow from new government initiatives 
on infrastructures activities. The quarry and ready mix operations will also be continuing to support internal 
operations variable to the demand of the progress of our current projects. 
 
Having persevered with a strong performance in FYE 2019, the Group aims to overcome the new challenges 
of 2020 to achieve even more sterling results. 
 
 
Thank you. 
 

DATO’ WONG KIT-LEONG 

Chief Executive Officer 
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Governance Structure

Our 2019 Sustainability Report has been prepared to provide an overview of the year-long effort taken by the Group 

to enhance our Economic, Environment and Social (EES) performance and to improve the long-term sustainability 

of the Group’s business. Throughout the year, we increased data collection on our EES performance so that we 

can measure the progress towards the SDG goals we aim to achieve; as well as to provide our stakeholders an 

insight into our EES performance. This report is guided by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s Sustainability 

Reporting Guidelines.

In 2019, the Group’s construction projects progressed steadily and property sales improved. As our business grew, 

so did the EES component of our operations. The Group’s EES performance is illustrated in the Sustainability 

Highlights on page 35.

Goals

 Be�er Business 

•Op�mise opera�onal 

processes 

•Leverage on be�er 

business ventures 

•Building a good 

reputa�on with high 

commitment to 

product and service 

quality 

Be�er  Planet 

•Developing green 

prac�ces in our 

property & 

construc�on ac�vi�es 

Be�er Workplace 

•Commit to a high 

safety working 

environment 

•Drive a high integrity 

and accountability 

culture 

•Encourage close team 

work engagements 

Be�er 

Communi�es 

•Par�cipa�ng in 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility (CSR) 

ac�vi�es  

Sustainability Value 

Crea�on 

Board of Directors (“Board”) 

The Board is ul�mately accountable for managing sustainability 

ma	ers in the organisa�on. 

 

Management Team 

The management team reports to the Board on sustainability ma	ers 

and coordinates the team in their du�es and responsibili�es. The 

management team comprises of the Head of Department of each 

business func�on.  

 

Sustainability Team 

The sustainability team comprises employees appointed by the 

management team to manage sustainability ini�a�ves.  

 

Opera�ng Divisions 

Opera�ng divisions comprise of employees and staff assigned to 

work/operate in these divisions. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MANAGEMENT TEAM 

SUSTAINABILITY TEAM 

OPERATING DIVISIONS 
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Ul�mate oversight responsibility 

Ensures business strategy incorporates sustainability

Approves sustainability strategy (as delegated by the Board)

Approves targets and market disclosures (as delegated by the 

Board)

Develop sustainability strategy and recommend revision to 

the Board

Oversee implementa�on of sustainability ini�a�ves

Evaluate overall sustainability risks and opportuni�es

Provides leadership over implementa�on of sustainability 

strategy

Oversees departments/ func�ons in ensuring robustness of 

the system of sustainability management is in place

Considers input of all departments/func�ons in the 

sustainability processes, e.g. facilitate materiality assessment

Supports strategy implementa�on

Ensures processes and controls are in place within its 

departments/func�ons

Reports on performance of processes and controls

Reports management targets

Develops plan and �meline for disclosure

Board of Directors 

Management Team 

Sustainability 

Team 

Opera�ng Divisions 

(Board) 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING PERIOD 1 JAN 2019 - 30 APR 2020

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LOCATION HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT SUSTAINABILITY EES CATEGORY

Aurora Place, Bukit Jalil (completed in July 2019) KL Bukit Jalil Development Crea�ng green environment indoor Environment

Sdn Bhd

The Crown, Kota Kinabalu Sabah Golden Wave Sdn Bhd Crea�ng a new lifestyle living Economics

along the harbour front of KK

Laman Iskandaria, Kulai Johor Intact Corporate Land banking ac�vi�es for Economics

Approach Sdn Bhd future developments

CONSTRUCTION LOCATION HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT SUSTAINABILITY EES CATEGORY

Educa�onal Campus Ho Hup Construc�on Helping to build educa�onal Economics

-Technical College (TVET), Kulai Johor Company Berhad campus locally Environment

-Polytechnic, Hulu Terengganu (completed in Jan 2020) Terengganu for future genera�ons Social

Conserva�on works Ho Hup Construc�on Construc�ng the breakwater to protect Economics

-Breakwater Rehabilita�on Work, Sungai Besut Terengganu Company Berhad  the shores against the ba�ering waves Environment

which cause erosion and the shallowing Social

of the river basin.

Government Buildings Ho Hup Construc�on Building facili�es for Economics

-Immigra�on Quarters, Pengkalan Hulu Perak Company Berhad expansion of government services Social

Bridge & Roadworks Ho Hup Construc�on Improving connec�vity by enhancing Economics

-Yong Peng-Segamat Highway Johor Company Berhad roads & bridges infrastructure in Environment

-Teluk Intan Bridge and Road works Perak Peninsular Malaysia Social

BUILDING MATERIAL LOCATION HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT SUSTAINABILITY EES CATEGORY

(Quarry) Rock Supply for Conserva�on works Supplying rocks for the Economics

-Breakwater Rehabilita�on work, Sungai Besut Terengganu Ho Hup Industries construc�on of the Breakwater Environment

Sdn Bhd Rehabilita�on works in Sungai Besut Social

(Ready-mix) Concrete Supply around Klang Valley Klang Valley Tru-Mix Concrete Prudent planning for delivery & lower Environment

 Sdn Bhd carbon footprint Social

PROPERTY AND RETAIL MANAGEMENT LOCATION HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT SUSTAINABILITY EES CATEGORY

Aurora Place, Bukit Jalil KL Ho Hup Jaya Sdn Bhd Effec�vely maintaining a green environment, Economics

-Lower Ground Retail  cleanliness and upkeeping the building Environment

-Level 4 Lifestyle Centre and enhancing the security and safety Social

-Ho Hup Tower environment in Aurora Place.

-Carparks

Food and Beverage (F&B) business KL Ho Hup F&B Sdn Bhd Making food and beverage convenient for Economics

- Coffee Delight Sdn Bhd visitors, residence and employees in Environment

-Mahi Mahi Sdn Bhd Aurora Place. Social

Authority and Responsibility

Scope of Report

This report covers the Group’s business activities in construction, property development, building materials and 

property and retail management for the period from January 2019 to April 2020.

Sustainability measures undertaken at the various projects are detailed in the table below:
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders and our engagement channels, frequency and the material issues identified are summarised below.

Stakeholders Engagement Channel Frequency Material Issues

How we respond? 

(kindly refer to the 

respec�ve sec�ons 

of the statement)

Employees Quarterly get-together Frequent Occupa�onal Health & Safety Economic

Management debrief Learning & Development Social

Team building ac�vity Inclusion, Diversity & Talent

Shareholders/ Investors AGM/EGM Frequent Sustainable Business Growth Economic

Corporate website Business Ethics & Compliance Social

Investor rela�ons Good Procurement Prac�ces

Public announcement Inclusion, Diversity & Talent

Customers Sales engagement Frequent Client Sa�sfac�on Economic

Client survey Data Privacy & Security Environment

Green Nature Indoors & Outdoors

Board of Directors Board mee�ngs At least 5 �mes Sustainable Business Growth Economic

AGM/EGM a year Business Ethics & Compliance Social

Inclusion, Diversity & Talent

Business Partners Business mee�ngs Frequent Sustainable Business Growth Economic

Business ventures Good Procurement Prac�ces

Business Ethics & Compliance

Suppliers and Subcontractors Suppliers evalua�on Frequent Good Procurement Prac�ces Economic

Suppliers survey Sustainable Business Growth

Data Privacy & Security

Regulators Regulatory surveys Ad-hoc Business Ethics & Compliance Economic

Regulatory audits When required Effluent & Waste Management Environment

Occupa�onal Health & Safety Social

Local Communi�es Community programmes Few �mes a year Noise Management Environment

Community engagement (during events) Dust Emission Social

Suppor�ng Our Community

(cont’d)

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Priori�sa�on

Susta

Issues

Stakeholder engagement 

The stakeholders are engaged based on the priority level of 

dependence and influence on the Group. The engagement channels, 

frequency and material issues are recorded. 

 

Iden�fica�on and Categorisa�on of Sustainability Issues 

The informa�on from the engagement with stakeholders is categorised 

according to Economic, Environmental and Social categories. 

 

Priori�sa�on 

The material issues are scored based on materiality levels from 

Influence on stakeholder assessments and decisions versus significance 

of Ho Hup's Economic, Environmental and Social impacts. The material 

issues are priori�sed and strategies are set according to those material 

issues.  

 

Process Review 

Feedback is received from the Board of Directors and stakeholders for 

con�nuous improvements. The report will be compiled and published 

annually. 
 

Sustainability repor�ng 

Priori�sa�on 

Iden�fica�on 

& 

Categorisa�on 

of 

Sustainability 

Issues 

Stakeholder 

engagement 

Priori�sa�on

Sustainability

Issues

PROCESS REVIEW 

O
b

je
c�

v
e

 &
 S

co
p

e
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Material Sustainability Issues

Our Commitment

In September 2015, all 193 member countries of the United Nations unanimously adopted the 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development and its implementation framework, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that 

charts in detail, a way forward to ensure a future that is sustainable for people, planet, peace and prosperity. 

The 2030 Agenda lists 17 SDG goals to address a range of social and economic development issues such as 

poverty, health, education, climate change, water, energy, environment and social justice to create a world that 

is comprehensively sustainable. Ho Hup is committed to being part of the global initiative and has embedded the 

following SDGs in our EES efforts.

No. Economic SDG Goals Economic Impact

1 Sustainable Business Growth 8,9,11,17 refers to the impact of the Company's business opera�ons

2 Good Procurement Prac�ces 8,11,12,17 on economic perspec�ve of its stakeholders from a

3 Client Sa�sfac�on 9,11,15 sustainability point of view.

4 Business Ethics & Compliance 8,12,16

5 Data Privacy & Security 9,16

t Environment SDG Goals Environment Impact

6 Noise Management 8,11,12,16 refers to the impact of the Company's business opera�ons

7 Effluent & Waste Management 6,8,11,12,14,16 on the ecosystem, habitat and the planet.

8 Green Nature Indoors & Outdoors 8,11,12,13,15,16

9 Dust Emission 8,9,11,12,16

Social SDG Goals Social Impact

10 Occupa�onal Health & Safety 3,8,11,12,16 refers to the impact of the Company's business opera�ons

11 Learning & Development 4,8 on the social environment and its local communi�es.

12 Inclusion, Diversity & Talent 5,8,10

13 Suppor�ng Our Community 3,4,11,17

Legend - Important and Material Economic, Environment & Social Ma�ers

sdg icons sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssdgdgdgdggggdddgdddddddddddddddddddddddddddddggdddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddgg iiiiccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooonnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss

(cont’d)

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Our Initiatives

Ho Hup’s initiatives in the following material EES matters are presented in the following table:-

Economic Initiatives addressing sustainability Status Outcome

Sustainable Business Growth

Collabora�ng with strategic partners 

to ensure sustainable growth in our 

business divisions

On-going

Crea�ng a peaceful win-win 

situa�on with our business 

partners

Good Procurement Prac�ce

Regular performance evalua�on on 

suppliers and subcontractors 

performance

On-going

Services and materials are 

sourced & delivered 

trustworthily

Client Sa�sfac�on
Conduct clients sa�sfac�on 

feedbacks & surveys
On-going

Gaining market reputa�on as a 

high quality & responsible 

developer/contractor

Business Ethics & Compliance

Establishing a code of conduct for all 

directors & employees against 

bribery & corrup�on prac�ce

On-going No material incident reported

Data Privacy & Security
Managing ICT, Data Security & 

Disaster Recovery plan
On-going No material incident reported

Environment Initiatives addressing sustainability Status Outcome

Noise Management
Regulate noise levels to be within 

allowable threshold
On-going

All noise levels are within 

allowable threshold

Effluent & Waste Management
Proper scheduled waste 

management
On-going No pollu�on incident reported

Green Nature Indoors & Outdoors
Incorpora�ng green policy as part of 

our development
On-going

Green spaces creates an 

atmosphere closer to nature

Dust Emission
Watering the project pathways to 

reduce dust in the air
On-going

Dust levels are within allowable 

threshold

Social Initiatives addressing sustainability Status Outcome

Occupa�onal Health & Safety
Conduct proper HSE trainings, 

supervision & compliance
On-going Zero fatal accident

Learning & Development
Invest in trainings for upskilling 

employees to industry prac�ces
On-going

Compe��ve and skillful 

workforce

Inclusion, Diversity & Talent
Inves�ng in talents from different 

working experience
On-going

A workforce with diverse 

experience

Sponsoring  RM10,000 to the 

Walk2inspire program
Completed

Contributed for surgery to 

underprivileged heart pa�ents

Ho Hup has teamed up with 

associate companies to contribute 

1 million face mask and 20,000 

gloves to the frontline worker 

during the COVID-19 pandemic

Completed

Vulnerable frontline workers are 

able to obtain free face mask and 

gloves to keep themselves 

protected during the MCO period

Suppor�ng Our Community
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 Sustainability Highlights 2019 
 

To Create and Enhance Shareholders Value 

for a “Be�er Business, Be�er Planet, Be�er Workplace, and Be�er Communi es”  

 

Economic - Be�er Business 

Environment - Be�er Planet 

Social - Be�er  Workforce  and  Be�er  Communi�es 

Sustainable Business Growth Shareholder’s Value 

 

Earnings per Share ("EPS") 

2017 2018 2019 
10.69 sen 7.7 1 sen 13.50 sens 

 

 

Net Asset Value per Share ("NAV") 

2017 2018 2019 
RM0.89 RM0.97 RM1.05 

Business Performance 

 

Revenue  (RM'000) 

2017 2018 2019 
 179,677 260,815 371,368 

 

 

Profit A�er Tax (RM'000) 

2017 2018 2019 
38,538 28,263 51,586 

Sales Performance of Our Development 

 

Aurora Place 100% sold and completed in 2019. 

 

 

 
As at FYE2019, The Crown, KK Development has 

achieved a 60% take up rate. 

 

Noise Management 

 

Construc�on site operates from 8am to 5pm 

daily. No incident of noise emission a�er 

opera�ng hours reported. Noise pollu�ons 

are under control. 
 

√ 2018  √ 2019 

 
Dust Emission 

 

Roads are wet and cleaned every day to keep 

dust low. All vehicles that leave the site are 

rinsed before leaving to avoid carrying dirt to 

the public roads. Dust pollu�ons are under 

control. 
 

√ 2018  √ 2019 

 

 

Green Nature Indoors and Outdoors 

 

The combined green landscape occupies 

29,117.5sq� indoors and outdoors to promote 

greenery for an urban development at Aurora 

Place, Bukit Jalil. 
 

The trees acts as a natural shade indoors. 
As a result, a lower temperature indoors with the 

unique water fountain in the middle of the garden. 

 

More trees and plants also contribute to more 

oxygen and a lower carbon footprint. 

 

Effluent and Waste Management 
 

√ 2018  √ 2019 
 

All  iden�fied water steams  are  tested  at  site 

and  no  pollu�ons were detected. The  total 

suspended solid  and turbidity of the water are 

within DOE Limit with readings below 

50mg/L and below than 250 NTU 
respec�vely. 

 

The amount of mineral and iron deposit found 

in the water are similar to the baseline records 

before opera�ons started. 

 

Zero (0) impact to nature. 

 

 

Occupa�onal Safety and Health (“OSH”) 
 

√ 2018  √ 2019 
 

Zero (0) fatal accidents 

 

All contractors and staffs are briefed on 

safety  prac�ces at  the project sites. 

 

Safety officers observing high standards of 

safety prac�ces for all project 

implementa�on. 

Learning and Development 

 

Total Group training hours 

288 hours 

 

People a ended 

53 persons 

 

Total training courses 

10 courses 

Inclusion, Diversity and Talent 

 

Total staff in 2019 

151 persons 31.79% Female     68.21% Male 

 

Total staff in 2018 

148 persons 32.43% Female     67.57% Male 

 

2018 - 2019 Talent pool improvement

56 new staffs hired 

53 persons le� the organiza�on 

 

Indicators 

Employee reten�on rate  64.2%  

Employees turnover rate 37.5% 

 

The Group recognises that our employees are 

the key drivers in making our business 

successful and grow sustainability.  

The Group has in place a�rac�ve remunera�on 

and compensa�on policies to ensure high  

growth and reten�on of talents in the Company. 

Suppor�ng Our Community 

 

Sponsoring the Walk2inspire welfare program. 

 

Contributed RM40,000 for surgery treatment 

to underprivileged heart pa�ents. 
 

Contributed 1 million face mask and 

20,000 gloves for Malaysia's frontline 

workers during COVID-19 crisis. 

100% 

60% 
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Economic

Sustainable Business Growth

We serve the nation by building meaningful infrastructures that are contribute to nation-building. These include 

bridges and highways that improve connectivity; development of commercial real estate such as hotels to meet 

the needs of local tourism and ultimately contributing to the building of communities and townships. We are fully 

committed to carry out business in a sustainable manner and to deliver our strategic and operational objectives in 

accordance with our business philosophy and core values.

Ho Hup has established a solid track record of delivery on numerous landmark projects; detailed below.

• Stadium Tun Razak, (December 1981 - July 1982)

 Earthworks, piling, reinforced concrete superstructure and car parks

• Road and Bridge Works over Klang River, (March 1986 –December 1987)

 Construction of a new road bridge over the Klang River estuary and the approaches to the bridge

• Petronas Twin Tower (KLCC), (November 1993 – April 1994)

 Bored piling works of 1000mm in diameter for the podium of two office blocks of 88 storeys each

• Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) Hospital, (December 1993 - July1995)

 Bored piling works of size ranging from 600mm to 1200mm diameter

• Light Rail Transit One (LRT1), (April 1994 - August 1995)

 Bored piling works various sizes, construction of pile caps for the Light Rail Transit tracks

• North-South Expressway Central Link and KLIA Expressway, (July 1994 - March 1996)

 Construction of a 3.9km long elevated highway of three lane dual carriageway which comprise of earthworks, 

drainage, utilities and services and the construction of vehicular box culvert

•  National Sports Complex Malaysia, (February 1994 - January 1997)

 Earthworks, piling, the construction of pile caps, ground beams, slabs and wall columns

•  Malaysia-Singapore Second Crossing, (January 1995 – February 1997)

 The project involved the construction of 6.5km of a dual 3 lane carriageway from CIQ Complex to Gelang Patah 

interchange, cross-roads and 2 bridges

•  Kuala Lumpur International Airport (KLIA), (March 1995 – September 1997)

 Construction of a massive and complex structure comprising of basement level, ground level, passenger level 

and mezzanine level with a circular centre hub and track transit system

•  Light Rail Transit Two (LRT2), (January 1995 – July 1998)

 Bored piling works various sizes, construction of piers for elevated track, 2 underground stations, 9 elevated 

stations and 1 at-grade station
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Our construction division continues to leverage on the expertise and track record of the Group in to build sustainability 

for the Group’s business. The current ongoing projects are:

1. Perak Immigration Quarters;

2. Johor Technical College (TVET) Campus;

3. Polytechnic Hulu Terengganu;

4. Yong Peng - Segamat Highway;

5. Teluk Intan Bridge and Road works;

6. Sg. Besut Breakwater Rehabilitation;

7. Aurora Place Mixed Development in Bukit Jalil City, KL; and

8. The Crown Project in Kota Kinabalu, comprising service suites, a five-star hotel and niche retail space.

In 2019, two projects were completed. They are the Polytechnic Hulu Terengganu and the Aurora Place mixed-

development, which were handed over at the end of Dec 2019.

Ho Hup’s Property and Retail Management Division owns assets at Aurora Place, including the office tower, lower 
ground retail space totalling, 207,087 square feet, a lifestyle centre, food and beverage businesses and five levels 
of carpark. Once fully tenanted, these assets would provide recurring income for the Group.

The Group owns a plot of freehold land strategically situated next to Aurora Place, at Bukit Jalil. The plan is to 

develop a residential project, called Aurora Duo on the site. When it is launched, the development is expected to 

contribute positively to the Group.

In the second quarter of 2018, Ho Hup launched a mixed development, The Crown, in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah with 

an estimated GDV of RM900 million. This development has a beautiful façade and is facing the South China Sea. 

Being in a location which is popular with tourists, the mixed development includes a hotel and is anticipated to be 

well received. As at end 2019, the total take up rate for The Crown service suites is 60%.
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Take up rate Project Location

60% The Crown Kota Kinabalu, Sabah

Potential Project Location Land size

Aurora Duo Bukit Jalil, Kuala Lumpur 2.4 acres

Laman Iskandaria Kulai, Johor 429.3 acres

Total land bank 431.7 acres

Ho Hup has successfully replenished its land bank by securing 429 acres of land situated in Kulai, Johor to be 

developed into a township known as Laman Iskandaria, a mixed residential and commercial township, spanning 

the next 15 years.

Through our business and joint venture endeavours, Ho Hup has successfully replenished 431.7 acres of land 

bank which in the future will be used for our developments and joint ventures.

Good Procurement Practices

Enhanced Supplier Selection for a Sustainable Procurement

The Procurement Department continues to enhance its standard operating procedures (SOP) by revamping 

its suppliers’ selection procedures and updating its approved supplier list. Ho Hup’s Procurement Department 

is continuously looking into better evaluation methods to select and approve their suppliers based on selection 

criteria, which include:

• Quality
• Reputation
• Price

Enhanced Subcontractor Selection for a Sustainable Performance.

Ho Hup’s project department has been continuously enhancing its evaluation methods for its subcontractors. 

Subcontractor performance is vital for every project implementation. The risk involved in an under-performing 

subcontractor could lead into liquidated and ascertained damages (LAD) which will eventually impact the profitability 
of the project as well as the reputation of the project owners. Ho Hup has established stringent criteria in selecting 

its subcontractors as part of its risk mitigation program in all the current and upcoming projects

The criteria include:

• Evaluation of financial and cash position;
• Technical and operational team experience;
• Track record of successful projects; and
• Technology and equipment utilisation suitable for the project.
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Client Satisfaction

Ho Hup is committed to deliver quality services with a corporate policy in place that emphasises total commitment 

to quality. In enhancing quality control, Ho Hup has adopted the ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System 

(QMS) to ensure our construction operations are delivering the best quality to our customers.

As part of the QMS, surveys are taken from clients as part of quality monitoring for projects delivered. A SOP to 

perform post-mortem studies on completed stages of the projects was implemented to understand how to improve 

further our project delivery and service quality.

Our 2019 customer service level survey was conducted with the ratings as illustrated below:

The survey above covers 10 criteria to form an overall rating. The targeted score set by Ho Hup is 3.0 for the 

combined aspects of the score card. The overall score for 2018 and 2019 are 3.43 and 3.59 respectively which 

represented a satisfactory scoring above our target of 3.

Business Ethics and Compliance

We are committed to carry out our activities and deliver our strategic and operational objectives in accordance with 

the applicable laws and principles of good governance as well as maintaining high standards of integrity. These 

include implementing and adopting the following commitment and policies: :-

• Code of conduct;
• Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy;
• Whistle-blowing policy;
• Total commitment to quality; and
• Leadership and team work commitment.

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

OVERALL CUSTOMER SATISFACTION LEVEL SURVEY ON 

SELECTED CRITERIA FOR 2018 AND 2019

2019

2018

Target 3.0

CRITERIA
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We are committed to comply with the principles of the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 2017, an assurance 

that the Group practices a sound and highly transparent management in the best interests of the Group and 

stakeholders. Details of the Corporate Governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Overview 

Statement in our Annual Report.

In 2019, the Group has included an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy and procedures. The Anti-Bribery and 

Anti-Corruption Manual has been developed and the Code of Ethics and Conduct was updated with emphasis to 

Section 17A of the Malaysia Anti-Corruption Act. The whistle-blowing policy was also enhanced accordingly. The 

enhancements take into consideration five (5) guiding principles of T.R.U.S.T.

Data Privacy and Security

Ho Hup has identified that a good Information and Communication Technology (ICT) and data security management 
is essential, in this age of the digital economy. The current operations of Ho Hup are not fully dependent on ICT 

infrastructures and have low risk when it comes to information technology and data security risk exposure. However, 

the management takes a prudent view in ensuring that there will be a reasonable degree of protection in place to 

safeguard against any cyber security risk by investing in firewall systems protection.

Aside from the digital security measures, Ho Hup has in place a Closed-circuit Television (CCTV) and Radio-

Frequency Identification (RFID) systems to control crowd movements within the office premises to safeguard 
against any other forms of risk.

Personal Data and Protection Act (PDPA) compliance is important to safeguard confidential details of our clients 
and business partners. Ho Hup has established and enforced a group-wide personal data and protection policy to 

safeguard against any personal data leakages.

As part of the process, the management ensures that a Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) is in place. Our ICT 

department will ensure that all data and information stored are backed up timely and well secured. Besides these, 

server maintenance is done periodically which includes servicing and monitoring to mitigate downtime risk.

Looking Forward

We strive to enhance our shareholders’ value with the above initiatives and grow our business by securing ventures 

with strategic partners and adopting the above good business ethics and compliance.

T.R.U.S.T Guiding Principles Actions taken

Top Level Commitment. Top Level Management is primary responsible to ensure that the 

commercial organisation essentially practices the highest level of integrity 

and ethics.

Risk Assessment. A periodic assessment has been carried out to assess risk of corruption in 

the Group.

Undertake Control Measures. Upon risk assessment, policies and procedures identified were updated to 
enforce control measures.

Systematic Review, Monitoring 

and Enforcement.

The policies and procedures will be periodically reviewed and updated when 

required.

Training and Communication. Trainings and briefings were conducted in phases throughout the Group 
throughout all operations.
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Environment

We recognise the potential environmental impact of our business and are committed to operating in a manner that 

respects the environment and optimises scarce resources.

We seek continuous improvements in our operations to minimise any negative impact to the environment especially 

on climate change and our project implementation are conducted in compliance with the applicable environmental 

rules and regulations. Our project sites have good housekeeping and maintenance system in place to ensure a 

safe and clean operating environment. The sites are in compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements of 

the Department of Environment (DOE) as well as other authorities.

Noise Management

Noise level reduction and management are monitored by a Site Environment Officer at all of our project sites. The 
project operating hours adhere to the allowable high noise hours by the relevant authorities. Ho Hup ensures that 

our operations will not disturb our neighbours during hours after 6pm or timings as directed by Local Authorities.

Air Quality Monitoring

Ambient and air monitoring are carried out around the project sites quarterly. The Site Environment Officer is 
responsible to monitor the air quality at the sites to ensure it is within tolerable threshold. If air levels are not within 

approved levels, operation at site will be suspended until air quality conditions are safe to operate in. No significant 
harmful air qualities were reported in 2019.

Ho Hup maintains a dirt and mud management policy at all over operation sites. Vehicles moving in and out at sites 

are washed at the washing bay before being allowed onto public roads. Besides that, the roadways are washed 

and watered daily to remove the dust being released to the air when vehicles cross the paths. There are also 

sediment ponds around the project sites to contain water used in washing the vehicles or drained from the project 

sites before releasing to the public drains. The particles in the water will sediment into the pond before released into 

the main drainage system which mitigates risk of drainage blockages in public drains. Some of our operation sites 

have rain harvesting tanks where the rain water collection is totally utilised for washing and cleaning. We engage 

contractors to repair damaged roads within the operation sites to maintain and clear the drains to prevent flooding.

Year Noise Air Quality Results

2019 √ within approved level √ within approval level No non-conformance 

reported
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Our Building Materials division, has put in place a well-planned system to ensure delivery of its products is smooth 

and causes minimal impact to the environment. Prudent planning in charting our delivery helps to lower our carbon 

footprint. This responsible planning creates confidence with our customers with positive feedbacks on our overall 
delivery timing and quality. No major incidents were reported in 2019.

During the year 2019, an estimated combined sale of 92,618.50 m3 of ready mix and a total of 339,972 litters of 

diesel were consumed. Based on the total consumption of diesel an estimated of 904,326 Kg of carbon dioxide 

was emitted during transportation of the ready mix. The estimation is based on the calculation method using the 

industry benchmark where 2.66Kg of CO2 is emitted per litter of diesel consumed. Aside from transporting sales 

of our ready-mix products, we also provide truck rental services and outsourced transportation services to other 

ready mix producers.

Effluent and Waste Management

We implement measures to protect environmental pollution through continuous awareness training, monitoring and 

auditing initiatives. The operation sites practice responsible planning in waste management procedures with a waste 

management system that provides a holding area and a bund to withhold spillages. Our skid tanks have proper 

bunds to contain any spillages. The streams around project sites are monitored regularly by the Site Environment 

Officer to ensure no pollution originates from our operations. In 2019, no hazardous chemical waste contamination 
or pollution from our operations was reported.

Year Combined sales of 

ready mix (m3)

Litters of diesel 

consumption (L)

Estimated carbon dioxide 

(CO2) emission based on 

diesel consumption (Kg)

2019 92,618.50 m3 339,972 Litters 904,326 Kg
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Year No hazardous 

waste pollution 

detected

Proper and timely 

schedule waste 

management

Fire hazard 

compliance

Results

2019 √ No pollutions 
detected

√ Complied √ Complied No non-

conformance 

reported

Site Environment Officers at our project sites conduct routine checks on the levels of contamination at sites. The 
Officers collect water samples from streams passing through the project sites and analyse them for contamination.

At the Sungai Besut Rehabilitation project, the Officers take readings of fresh river water and sea water conditions 
before and throughout the project to prepare environmental impact assessment (EIA) reports as required by the 

related Authority. There is also a sediment test taken during the process. If high turbidity and iron readings are 

found in the sea water, we will temporary suspend our operations until the turbidity levels return to safe levels.
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The turbidity level can increase partly due to our rehabilitation works in dredging sand at the breakwater basin 

and refilling the sands at the beach of the coast line. The action of dredging and pumping sand can also stir up 
faecal and iron residuals in the sediment of the breakwater basin. Part of the mitigation action taken was to install 

slit curtains and the creation of a sediment pond to capture floating particles in the running water from the pumps 
before flowing into the sea.

Green Nature Indoors and Outdoors (Urban Garden)

Ho Hup has created a serene indoor garden at the podium of its newly completed development, the Aurora Place, 

Bukit Jalil with the objective of promoting greenery for an urban development. The combined indoors and outdoors 

green landscape spreads over 29,118 sq ft. The layout of the garden is unique with a water fountain in the middle 

of the garden and a glass rooftop mimicking a greenhouse ecosystem. There is also a beautiful light display in the 

garden which is named after the earth’s polar lights, The Aurora. In the outdoor section, greens are planted around 

the pathways creating a serene natural atmosphere for the community in Bukit Jalil.

Looking Forward

We strive to be responsible in our development planning by ensuring green practices are embedded in our projects. 

This includes complying with related environmental standards and requirements.

Year Sediment Quality 

Test

Total Suspended 

Solid Test

Turbidity Test Results

2019 √ No pollution 
detected

√ Within DOE Limit 
below than 50 mg/L

√ Within DOE Limit 
below than 250 NTU.

No non-

conformance 

reported
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Social

We aim to create a strong impact on our working environment and our communities through meaningful corporate 

social responsibilities (“CSR”) programmes.

Occupational Safety and Health

Various measures have been implemented to ensure the safety and health of our workforce are given priority. 

We also conduct health awareness campaigns to enable all our employees and contract workers to stay abreast 

of safety and health practices in the workplace; including keeping the sites clean and safe. The sites are also 

monitored periodically on the level of cleanliness, health and safety. During the year, fogging activities were carried 

out to prevent mosquitos breeding.

Qualified Safety Officers visit our sites regularly to monitor workers to ensure they are equipped with proper personal 
protective equipment (PPE).

This includes protection against injuries to:

• the lungs, e.g. from breathing in contaminated air;
• the head and feet, e.g. from falling materials;
• the eyes, e.g. from flying particles or splashes of corrosive liquids;
• the skin, e.g. from contact with corrosive materials;
• the body, e.g. from extremes of heat or cold; and
• the hands and legs, e.g. from sharp or abrasive contacts.

i) Safety assembly and fire drill exercises

 Regular safety assembly and fire drill exercises were conducted in collaboration with Jabatan Bomba dan 
Penyelamat involving the knowledge on firefighting, proper usage of equipment in the workplace and first aid 
training.
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ii) Sign boards and fences

 Dangerous zone at construction sites are placed with bright coloured sign boards and fenced up to ensure 

public safety and protection against trespassing. Temporary signboards and caution tapes are placed around 

temporary working zones along the road to alert vehicles to slow down when passing through construction sites.

iii) Safety working at heights

 Safety Officers are responsible to ensure guarding fences are installed along the walking paths, to make working 
at heights safe for both our workers and the public. This is to ensure our workers are prevented from falling 

from platforms during the course of their work. When necessary workers are equipped with harness to ensure 

their overall safety.

Learning and Development

To support business growth, employees’ competencies must be constantly monitored and strengthened through 

adequate training and development.

Professional training is organised and conducted by external specialists to equip employees with the know-how 

specific to the Group’s business, including proper communication, presentation, finance, management and leadership 
skills. The training conducted throughout 2019 were:-

Total Group training hours were calculated by multiplying the total number of employees participated per course 

with the total hours of training per course. The summary of the Group training hours for 2019 is as follows:-

No. Date in 2019 Title of the Course

1 January Managing Corruption at the Workplace

2 March Completing Employer’s Tax Reporting - Form E And EA In Respect of Remuneration 

Year 2018

3 May Business Transformation - Drive Impactful Performance Results

4 July Business Growth & Risk Management Strategies - Apply the Right Business Insight

5 July Strata Responsibilities for Developers, JMB & MC’s

6 August Corporate Liabilty on Corruption - A Basic Awareness & Implementation Frameworks

7 November 2020 Budget Proposals and Tax Updates

8 November HRDF Conference & Exhibition 2019

9 November Concrete Defects : Testing & Repairs

10 Disember Times Software Year End Workshop 2019

Year Total training courses People attended Total Group training 

hours

2019 10 courses3 53 persons 288 hours
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Inclusion, Diversity and Talent

The Group recognises that employees are our key drivers in making our business sustainable and grow 

successfully. It is their passion, professionalism, talent and commitment that will provide the Group with effective 

project implementation and delivery. The Group strives to establish a working environment that is conducive for our 

employees. At the same time, a variety of events and initiatives are carried out annually to record its appreciation 

towards the employees and to promote staff development both personally and professionally.

The Group adopted a policy on equal opportunities and fair employment practices to all job applicants who are 

treated fairly regardless of ethnicity, gender and age. The Group belief that by unlocking employees full potential 

will help them stay loyal, feel valued and proudly contribute to the Group’s overall performance. The table below 

outlines the level of diversity in the Group’s workforce.
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Employee Engagement Activities

The Group organises events ranging from social gatherings, sports tournaments, team building, annual luncheon 

and festive celebrations to foster togetherness, build team spirit as part of the events to bring employees together 

as a team.

Team building activities are conducted to promote closer relationships, encourage teamwork and promote healthy 

lifestyles. These activities are planned and conducted with a focus to nurture leadership skills and foster team 

work and to improve communication.

Besides these activities, the general welfare of the employees and employee benefits were also attended to. At 
Ho Hup, all employees are covered under Personal Accident Insurance where eligible employees are provided 

with coverage under Hospital and Surgical Insurance.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019     ·        HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)

049

(cont’d)

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Living Healthy Together

In recognising employees being major contributors towards our sustainability, Ho Hup promotes a healthy work 

environment by encouraging walking as a form of healthy living lifestyle. A walking campaign organised by BookDoc 

with attractive prizes to keep staff motivated was organised as an event which encourages healthy living among 

Ho Hup employees.

Supporting Our Community

Sponsoring the Walk2inspire Campaign

Ho Hup have supported the Walk2inspire program since 2018. Walk2Inspire is a fundraising walkathon organised 

by PeopleGiving Association to raise awareness on the importance of healthy lifestyle through the simple act of 

walking. In addition, this sponsorship contributes to the National Stroke Association of Malaysia (NASAM) and 

Institut Jantung Negara Foundation (IJNF). The proceeds will be used to help underprivileged families requiring 

financial support for heart surgery.

In 2019, Walk2inspire raise funds for IJNF’s Patient Assistance Programme and Tabung PPUMCares. These 

organisations provide aid to needy and deserving heart patients by providing financial subsidy to cover their 
procedure or surgery cost at IJN, physical and emotional support, counselling and awareness. The 2019 Walk2inspire 

program was held at University Malaya where 500 participants came for the 5km charity fun run. Ho Hup was a 

gold sponsor for the event and contributed RM 10,000 to the campaign. The 2019 Walk2inpire program raised 

RM40,000 for underprivileged and deserving heart patients.
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Face Masks and Gloves for the Malaysia’s Heroes

Ho Hup teamed up with Omesti Berhad and Microlink Solution Berhad to contribute one million face masks and 

20,000 pairs of gloves for Malaysia’s frontline workers during the COVID-19 crisis. The presentation was made 

to the Honourable Minister of Home Affairs YB Dato’ Seri Hamzah bin Zainudin at the Kementerian Dalam Negeri 

[KDN] in Putrajaya on 16 April 2020.

“We really want to do whatever we can during this crisis to help the most vulnerable”, said Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong, 

CEO of the Group. “We were able to source the supply of these masks and gloves from China through one of our 

partners and arranged for them to reach here as quickly as possible. I want to thank the suppliers and the logistics 

teams for their support in making this happen so smoothly.”

The masks were distributed to Malaysia’s frontliners, including the Royal Malaysian Police, RELA, Immigration 

Department and Malaysian Maritime Enforcement Agency.

Looking Forward

We aim to create meaningful impact on our communities through meaningful corporate social responsibilities 

(CSR). For our workforce, we aim to achieve zero accidents at our workplace through better training and sufficient 
and proper amenities at work sites.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

OVERVIEW STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or “the Company”) recognises 

that good Corporate Governance practices are important to protect, and promote the sustainability of its business 

and ensure the integrity of financial reporting of Ho Hup and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) with the ultimate goal 
to safeguard and to further enhance our shareholders’ value. The Board is pleased to present this statement to 

provide stakeholders and investors with an overview of the corporate governance principles and practices of 
the Company during the financial year 2019 (“FY2019”). This overview takes guidance from the key corporate 
governance principles set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance.

This statement is prepared in compliance with Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market 
Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) and it should be read together with the Corporate Governance Report of the 
Company which is accessible on the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my and via announcement on 

Bursa Securities website.

This statement is to provide shareholders and other stakeholders with an overview of the Group’s application of 
the following three (3) Principles set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance published in April 2017 
(“MCCG”):

(a) Principle A : Board Leadership and Effectiveness;
(b) Principle B : Effective Audit and Risk Management; and
(c) Principle C : Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with Stakeholders.

MCCG, item 2.6 states that it is necessary to provide flexibility and proportionality in the application of certain best 
practices. Certain practices are applicable only to Large Companies. The paragraph identified that Large Companies 
are companies included on the FTSE Bursa Malaysia Top 100 Index or companies with market capitalisation of 
RM2 billion and above. As at the FYE2019, Ho Hup’s market capitalisation is valued at RM127.8 million, which 
have yet to attain the status of the Large Company.

Other listed companies may consider adopting the practices identified for Large Companies if they aspire to 
achieve greater excellence in corporate governance practices. MCCG, Practices Notes are actions, procedures, or 
processes which companies are expected to adopt to achieve the Intended Outcomes of the respective Practices, 
including Step-up Practices which is meant to encourage companies to go a step further in strengthening their 
governance practices and processes.

To facilitate this change, the MCCG adopts to apply or explain an alternative approach, which is meant to promote 
a more meaningful application of good corporate governance practices.

During the year, the Board considers that the Company has complied with the provisions and applied the main 
principles of the MCCG, for the whole FY2019 except for some of the following Practices and Step-ups. In the 
Corporate Governance Report, the explanations for departures of the following MCCG Practices were clearly 
elaborated and some alternative approach applied are summarised in the report. Besides, the Board also indicates 

the measure that the Company has taken or intend to take to adopt the practice as soon as it is practicable. In the 

FY2019, the Step-ups Practices were not adopted by the Company except for the Step-up Practice 8.4, where the 
Audit Committee comprises wholly of Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Board considers that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequately complied with the provisions and 
recommendations of the MCCG for the whole FY2019.
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

Roles of the Board

The Board’s pivotal role is to lead and establish the Group’s vision, strategic direction, key policies and framework, 
including the management of the succession planning process of the Group and the appointment of key senior 

management. In view thereof, the Board’s roles and responsibilities include but are not limited to the following:

• Reviewing and approving the Strategic Business Plan developed by the Management for the Group;

• Overseeing the conduct of the Group’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed;

• Identifying and approving policies pertaining to the management of all risk categories including but not limited 
to, credit, financial, market, liquidity, operational, legal and reputational risks of the Group’s business activities 
and ensure the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks; 

• Serving as the ultimate approving authority for all significant financial expenditure;

• Developing and implementing a shareholder communications policy for the Company; 

• Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of the Group’s internal control systems and management information 
systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines; 

• Approving the remuneration package of both Executive and Non-Executive Directors;  and

• Ensuring that the Group adheres to high standards of conducts, ethics and corporate professional behaviour.

The Board Charter is available at the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my

Roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) remain separate and distinct. The Chairman of 
the Board is a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. The Chairman has an important leadership role within 
the Group and is responsible for:

• Setting the agenda for meetings of the Board and focus on strategic direction and performance.

• Maintaining on-going dialogue and relationship of trust with and between the Directors and Management.

• Ensuring clear and relevant information is provided to Directors in a timely manner.

• Ensuring sufficient time is allowed for the discussion of complex or critical issues.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of managing the day-to-day affairs of the Group to the CEO, 
and through him and subject to his oversight, to other Senior Management. The Board monitors the performance 
of the CEO on behalf of the shareholders.
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Role of the Company Secretaries

The Company Secretaries are qualified to act as Company Secretaries pursuant to Section 235 and Section 236(3) 
of the Companies Act, 2016 and report directly to the Board and are the source of guidance and advice to the 

Directors on areas of corporate governance, relevant legislation, regulations and policies, disclosure of interests 

and disclosure of any conflict of interest in transactions with the Company besides ensuring compliance with the 
MMLR of Bursa Securities and other regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretaries attend Board and Board Committees meetings and are responsible for accuracy and 
adequacy of records of the proceedings of Board and Board Committees meetings and resolutions.

The Company Secretaries also serve closed period notices to Directors and Senior Management for trading in the 
Company’s shares and briefs the Board on the content and timing of material announcements to Bursa Securities. 

The Company Secretaries also facilitate communication of key decisions and policies between the Board, Board 
Committees and Senior Management. 

Board Composition

The Board is chaired by a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and currently comprises (9) Directors, three 
(3) of whom, are Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The Board continues to achieve a balance of 
skills, knowledge, industry experience and perspective among its Directors. The profiles of the Directors are set 
out in the Directors’ Profile of this Annual Report.

In this regard, the Board through its Nomination Committee (“NC”) conducts an annual assessment review of its size 
and composition to determine if the Board has the right size and sufficient diversity with independence elements 
that fit the Company’s objectives and strategic goals.  The NC is actively scouting for additional INED in order to 
ensure that at least half of the Board comprises INEDs.

Board Independence

The INEDs bring with them a variety of relevant experience that enables them to exercise independent judgement 
and to participate objectively in the proceedings and decision-making processes of the Board.

They discharge their roles in ensuring that corporate strategies proposed by the Management are discussed 

and examined in-depth as well as ensuring the interests of shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are 
safeguarded.

Each of the INEDs is required to provide a declaration of his or her independence annually. This declaration is 

assessed by the NC. Based on the outcome of the Board Effectiveness Evaluation (“BEE”) for the Board Assessment 
for FY2019 conducted by the NC, all the INEDs have scored highly and there are no conflicts or potential conflicts 
of interest that may affect their independent judgment.

The Board, through the NC, assesses the independence of the Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”) annually as one 
of the factors in determining the NED’s eligibility to stand for re-election.

Based on the evaluation assessment on the independence of all INEDs in 2019, the Board is satisfied with the 
level of independence demonstrated by all the INEDs and their ability to act in the best interests of the Company, 

as well as ability to resolve problems based on clarity and understanding of all subject matters during deliberations 
at Board meetings. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Tenure of INEDs

One of the recommendations of the MCCG states that the tenure of an INED should not exceed a cumulative term 
of nine (9) years. 

If the Board intends to retain an INED to serve beyond nine (9) years, it should justify and seek annual shareholders’ 

approval otherwise the INED may continue to serve on the Board subject to the said Director’s re-designation as 
a Non-INED. In the event where the Board continues to retain the INED after the twelfth (12th) year, the Board 
should seek annual shareholders’ approval through a two-tier voting process. At the 45th Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”) held in 2019, the shareholder’s approval have been granted for Mr. Chow Seck Kai’s (“Mr. Chow”) retention 
as an INED on his ninth (9th) year of service. 

In 2020, Mr. Chow has held his role as an INED for a cumulative term exceeding his tenth (10th) year. A shareholders’ 
resolution will be tabled for voting at the forthcoming 46th AGM to obtain shareholders’ approval for Mr. Chow to 
continue to act as an INED of the Company. The Board, through the NC had conducted an assessment on the 

independence of Mr. Chow and affirmed that he demonstrated complete independence in character and judgement 
both as Board member and in his role as committees’ member. Mr. Chow has good understanding of the business 
of the Company and with his knowledge and experience, he would continue to provide invaluable contribution to 
the Board. The Board (without the participation of Mr. Chow) therefore recommended that Mr. Chow to continue 
to act as an INED of the Company for the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 46th AGM.

 

Board Diversity Policy

The Board acknowledges the importance of boardroom diversity and is supportive of the recommendation of the 
MCCG pertaining to the establishment of a gender diversity policy. The Board recognises the need to enhance 

boardroom diversity which is not only about diversification in terms of gender, but in terms of age, ethnicity and 
social backgrounds. Hence, the Board had always been in support of a policy of non-discrimination on the basis 
of race, religion and gender. The Board will strive to encourage a dynamic and diverse composition of the Board 
by nurturing suitable and potential candidates equipped with the competency, skills, experience, character, 
time commitment, integrity and other qualities in meeting the future needs of the Company. Currently only one 

female director is available on the Board. The Board, through the NC, is actively scouting for an additional female 

director as a step to meet the target of at least 30% women directors for Large Companies. Although Ho Hup is 
not considered in the definition of Large Companies by MCCG, the Board is still considered it as a target to be 
achieved over five (5) years.
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Board Diversity Policy (cont’d)

The diversity of the Board as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Male Female

Age Group

31-40 1 –

41-50 1 –

51-60 1 1

61-70 3 –

71-80 2 –

Male Female

Ethnicity

Malay 1 –

Chinese 7 1

Indian – –

Others – –

Nationality

Malaysian 8 1

Foreigner – –

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Board Delegation

All matters not specifically reserved for the Board and necessary for the day-to-day operations of the Group are 
delegated to the Management. Specifically, the responsibilities of the Management are, among others:

• Formulating, recommending and implementing the strategic objectives of the Company;

• Translation of the Approved Strategic Plan into annual operating and financial plans of the business;

• Manage the Company’s human, physical and financial resources to achieve the Company’s objectives;

• Operate within the Delegated Authority Limit as set by the Board;

• Assumption of the day-to-day responsibility for the Company’s conformance with relevant laws and regulations, 
its compliance framework and all other aspects of the day-to-day running of the Company;

• Develop, implement and update policies and procedures;

• Keep pace with industry and economic trends in the Company’s operating environment; and

• Provide the Board with accurate, timely and clear information to enable the Board to perform its responsibilities.

Board Committees

The duties and responsibilities of the Board are clearly spelled out in the Board Charter. To facilitate the discharge 

of this responsibility and oversight role, the Board has established and assigned specific responsibilities to three 
(3) Board Committees namely Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee which are 
entrusted to oversee the Group’s affairs, in accordance with their respective written Terms of Reference, The Board 
reviews the Board Committees’ authority and Terms of Reference from time to time to ensure their relevance. These 
Board Committees are responsible for examining particular issues within clearly defined Terms of Reference and 
reporting back to the Board with their recommendations. The minutes of Board Committee and circular resolutions 
passed are presented to the Board for their notation. The Chairman of the relevant Board Committee will also report 
on the key issues deliberated on by the Board Committee at their meetings. The activities of the Board Committees 

are further explained in this Statement.

Audit Committee (“AC”)

The AC comprises entirely of INEDs. The Chairman of the AC is a Chartered Accountant and a member of the 

Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) and complies with Paragraph 15.09 (1)(c)(i) of the MMLR of Bursa 
Securities. The AC has responsibility for oversight of financial statements reporting, risk management, internal 
control system, related party transactions financial assistance support, the internal audit function and the 
Company’s relationship with Internal Auditors as well as External Auditors, in relation to their scope of work and 
audit performance. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The NC comprises entirely of NEDs, the majority of whom are INEDs. The NC shall meet at least once a year or 
as and when deemed fit and necessary. The summary of the NC activities for FY2019 is found in page 60.

A Senior INED was appointed as the Chairman of the NC. The Chairman of NC is in duty to lead the succession 
planning and appointment of Board members, including the future Chairman and CEO; and lead the annual review 
of Board effectiveness assessment, ensuring that the performance of each individual Director is independently 
assessed.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC comprises wholly of NEDs. The RC shall recommend to the Board on the remuneration and entitlements of 
all Directors (including NED) and Senior Management. The Board will decide on the suitability of the Remunerations 
based on the recommendations of the RC. The approval for Directors’ remuneration rests with the Board as a 
whole with the Directors abstaining from voting and deliberating on decisions in respect of their own remuneration 
package. The summary of the RC activities for FY2019 is found in page 60.

Board and Committees Attendance

The Directors are required to allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge their responsibilities effectively, 
including adequate time to prepare for Board and Committee meetings and in joining visits to the Group’s operational 

sites. Last year, the Board attended the Launching of The Crown Project in Kota Kinabalu and the site visit to our 
newly completed development at Aurora Place, Bukit Jalil. 

The calendar of meetings of the Board and Board Committees is drawn up and distributed to the Board in the 
quarter preceding the beginning of the new calendar year. This is to enable the members of the Board to meet the 
time commitment for the meetings.

In addition to the above, all Directors of the Company have complied with the MMLR of Bursa Securities of not 
holding more than five (5) directorships in listed issuers at any given time. This is to ensure the Directors do not 
have competing time commitments that may impair their ability to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

At Board meetings, the Chairman encourages open, constructive and healthy debates, and the Directors are 

free to express their views. Any Director who has a direct or deemed interest in a material transaction or material 
arrangement shall be excused from the Board meeting where the material transaction or material arrangement is 
being deliberated by the Board. Decisions of the Board are made unanimously or by consensus with dissenting 
views raised by any Director recorded in the minutes of meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Board and Committees Attendance (cont’d)

Attendance at the Board and Committee meetings during FY2019 is set out in the table below:

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of meetings held in year 5 5 1 1

Executive Directors

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Wong Gian Kui

5/5
5/5

–

–

–

–

–

–

Non-Executive Directors

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee
Datin Chan Bee Leng

Mr. Boey Tak Kong
Mr. Chow Seck Kai
Mr. Low Kheng Lun

5/5
4/5
5/5
4/5
5/5
5/5
5/5

5/5
–

–

–

5/5
4/5
–

1/1
1/1
–

–

–

1/1
–

1/1
1/1
–

–

–

1/1
–

All Directors have complied with the minimum requirements on attendance at Board meetings as stipulated in the 
MMLR of Bursa Securities (minimum 50% attendance).
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

 

Board Effectiveness

The Board has an agenda that ensures strategic, budget, sustainability, risk management and internal control, 

operational, financial performance and corporate governance items are discussed at the appropriate time at Board 
meetings. The Board agenda has strong links to the strategic objectives for the business. Key highlights of the 
Board’s FY2019 activities and priorities are set out below:

Board Activities & Focus in FY2019

Strategy – Sustainability Governance & Reporting
Financial, Risk & Management

Performance

Sustainability
Implementation Plan

Review of annual report, quarterly 
results & financial statements

Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) approvals 
& performance review of historical 
CAPEX

Improving Sustainability
Reporting and

data collection

Board evaluation & effectiveness 

assessment

The Group’s budget, forecasts & key 

performance targets & indicators

Composition of Board & Board Diversity Risk management & internal control

Adequate Procedures (T.R.U.S.T) are 
roll out Group wide .

Review of Discretionary Authority Limits

The Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 

Manual as well as the Code of Ethics and 
Conduct were updated with emphasis 
to Section 17A of the Malaysia Anti-
Corruption Act and enhancement of 

the whistle-blowing policy.

Group’s operational efficiency

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Board Effectiveness (cont’d)
 

Board Committee Activities & Focus in FY2019

RC NC

Assisted the Board in developing and administrating 

a fair and transparent procedure for setting policy on 

remuneration of Directors and Senior Management.

Reviewed the Terms of Office and performance of the 
Audit Committee and each of its members.

Reviewed the level and compensation of remuneration 
of Directors and Senior Management, taking into 
account to attract and retain the right talent on the 

Board and Senior Management to drive the company’s 
long-term objectives.

Assessed the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and committees of the Board. 

Recommended whether the remuneration of Directors 
and Senior Management commensurate with the 
merit, qualification and competence, having regard to 
the respective operating division’s results, individual 

performance and comparable market statistics.

Reviewed the contribution and performance of each 
individual Director.

Assessed the Directors’ fees and related benefits 

payable.

Determined the independence of the Independent Non-

Executive Directors pursuant to the MCCG.

Recommended the re-election of Directors retiring 

by rotation pursuant to the Company’s Articles of 

Association at the Article 90 of 45th AGM of the 
Company.

Recommended the retention of Mr. Chow Seck 
Kai as Independent Director who has served for a 
accumulative term of more than 9 years

Code of Ethics and Conduct of Directors

The Board has formalised a Code of Ethics and Conduct for the Directors, as well as promulgated by the Companies 
Commission of Malaysia which governs the underlying core ethical values and commitment to lay standards of 
integrity, transparency, accountability and corporate social responsibility in our behavior and business dealings.  

The Code of Ethics and Conduct of Directors is available at the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my.
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Aggregate Remuneration of Directors and Key Senior Management

The details of the aggregate remuneration (including benefits-in-kind) of the Directors of the Company for the FY 
2019 are as follows:

  Group Company

   FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2018

   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

(i) Executive Director’s Remuneration

Directors of Company

Salaries and Other Emoluments  1,275 1,199 1,275 1,199
Defined Contribution Plan  145 155 145 155
Benefits-in-kind  98 40 98 40
 

Total   1,518 1,394 1,518 1,394 

Directors of Subsidiaries

Salaries and Other Emoluments  922 961 – –
Defined Contribution Plan  110 115 – –
Benefits-in-kind  191 94 – –

Total   1,223 1,170 – –

Total Executive Directors’ Remuneration 2,741 2,564 1,518 1,394 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Aggregate Remuneration of Directors and Key Senior Management (cont’d)

The details of the aggregate remuneration (including benefits-in-kind) of the Directors of the Company for the FY 
2019 are as follows: (cont’d)

  Group Company

   FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2018

   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

(ii) Non-Executive Director’s

 Remuneration

Directors of Company

Fees   460 506 460 506
Meeting and Other Allowances  38 39 38 39
Benefits-in-kind  55 55 55 55

Total    553 600 553 600

Directors of Subsidiaries

Other Allowances  72 72 – –

Total    72 72 – –

Total Non-Executive Directors’
 Remuneration  625 672 553 600

Total Executive and Non-Executive
 Directors’ Remuneration (i & ii)  3,366 3,236 2,071 1,994 
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Aggregate Remuneration of Directors and Key Senior Management (cont’d)

 

The details of the aggregate remuneration (including benefits-in-kind) of the Directors of the Company for the FY 
2019 are as follows: (cont’d)

Name

Directors’ 

Fees

(RM’000)

Meeting

and Other

Allowances

(RM’000)

Salaries

and Other

Emoluments

(RM’000)

Defined
Contribution

Plan

(RM’000)

Benefits-
in-kind

(RM’000)

Total

(RM’000)

Tan Sri Datuk Seri
Panglima Sulong
Matjeraie

100.0 10.5 – – 30.0 140.5

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 90.0 3.5 – – 25.0 118.5

Dato’ Sri Thong
Kok Khee

 60.0  4.5 – – – 64.5

Datin Chan Bee Leng 50.0 2.5 – – – 52.5

Mr. Boey Tak Kong 60.0 7.5 – – – 67.5

Mr. Chow Seck Kai 50.0 6.0 – – – 56.0

Mr. Low Kheng Lun 50.0 3.0 – – – 53.0

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong – – 993.2 135.2 97.5 1,225.9

Dato’ Wong Gian Kui  – – 144.9 14.4 – 159.3
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Aggregate Remuneration of Directors and Key Senior Management (cont’d)

The proposed fees and remuneration for the Directors of the Board and Board Committees for the financial year 
2020 are as follows:

Fees

(Per Annum)

(RM)

Meeting Allowance

(Per Meeting)

(RM)

Chairman:

Board

Audit Committee

Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee

60,000

8,000
–

8,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

Deputy Chairman:

Board 54,000 500

Member:

Board

Audit Committee

Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee

40,000

–

–

–

500
500
500
500

NEDs are paid meeting allowances based on attendance. In 2020, the Board has approved the fees for the 
Company’s Directors for the FY2020, as recommended by RC. The fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at 
the forthcoming 46th AGM.

The Executive Directors are not entitled to the above Directors’ fee nor receive any meeting allowance for Board 
Meetings they attend. The Executive Directors’ remuneration package comprises a fixed component which includes 
a monthly salary and benefits-in-kind/emoluments and has been benchmarked against the market and industry 
practice, and compared with peer companies of similar size and complexity.

The top 5 key senior management remuneration in band of RM50,000 are as follows:

Range of Remuneration (in band of RM 50,000) Number of Key Senior Management

RM 650,001 to RM 700,000 2

RM 600,001 to RM 650,000 –

RM 550,001 to RM 600,000 1

RM 500,001 to RM 550,000 –

RM 450,001 to RM 500,000 2
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Directors’ Training

The Board acknowledges that continuous education is vital in keeping them abreast with corporate developments. 
The Directors have constantly been updated with relevant reading materials and technical updates which will 
enhance their knowledge and equip them with the necessary skills to effectively discharge their duties as Directors 
of the Company.

During FY2019 the Directors have attended the following courses:

Courses Attended Date of Training Attended By

Overview of MFRS 9, 15, 16 and 191 12 March 2019 Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

Engagement Session with Audit Committee Members on 
Integrated Reporting 

30 April 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

CG Watch: How Does Malaysia Rank? 3 May 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Business Transformation Drive Impactful Performance 

Results

8 May 2019 Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong

Dato’ Wong Gian Kui

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

Climate Governance Initiative Malaysia – Institute of 

Corporate Directors

16 May 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Corporate Liability in the MACC Act 2009 and the ISO 
37001; Anti Bribery Management System

28 May 2019 Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

Cyber Security in The Boardroom – Accelerating from 
Acceptance to Action – Bursa Malaysia Berhad

27 June 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Avoiding Competition Law Violations - Formulating an 
Effective Compliance Policy 

17 July 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Business Growth and Risk Management 18 July 2019 Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

Dato’ Wong Gian Kui

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong

Datin Chan Bee Leng

Mr. Low Kheng Lun
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

Directors’ Training (cont’d)

During FY2019 the Directors have attended the following courses: (cont’d)

Courses Attended Date of Training Attended By

Audit Committee Institute Breakfast Roundtable 2019 

Corporate Liability, Governance Revelations from Inquest 

Reports and Business Continuity Management

6 August 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Corporate Liability on Corruption, A Basic Awareness & 
Implementation Framework

8 August 2019 Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

Datin Chan Bee Leng

Mr. Low Kheng Lun

Corporate Governance Case Study Workshop - 
Independent Directors: Towards Boardroom Excellence

9 October 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Evaluating Effective Internal Audit Function – Audit 
Committee’s Guide On How To

15 October 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Evaluating Effective Internal Audit Function - Audit 
Committee’s Guide on How To

17 October 2019 Mr. Chow Seck Kai

The Malaysian Budget 2020 Making the Leap Towards 
Mutual Prosperity

22 October 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Budget Talk 2020 “Shared Prosperity: Engendering High 
Quality Inclusive Growth Towards High Income Economy 

28 October 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Session On Corporate Governance and Anti-Corruption 31 October 2019 Mr. Chow Seck Kai

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong

Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Malaysia’s Audit Oversight Board Conversation with 
Audit Committees 

8 November 2019 Mr. Boey Tak Kong

Corporate Liability Protection for Company 8 December 2019 Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
Sulong Matjeraie

In addition, during the financial year under review, all Directors were also advised of developments and changes 
to relevant law and regulatory requirements and suitable training and education programmes were identified for 
their participation. 

The Directors will continue to undergo other relevant seminars, conferences and training programmes from time 
to time as they consider relevant and aid them with the relevant knowledge and ideas to discharge their duties 
effectively.
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Audit Committee (“AC”)

In presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly financial results announcements to shareholders, the 
Board aims to present a balanced assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects to ensure that the 
financial results are released to Bursa Securities within the stipulated time frame and that the financial statements 
comply with the regulatory reporting requirements. In this regard, the Board is assisted by the AC in overseeing 
and governing the Group’s financial reporting processes and the quality of its financial reporting.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019.

In addition to the Chairman’s Statement, the Annual Report of the Company contains the following additional 
information to enhance shareholder’s understanding of the business operations of the Group:

• Management’s Discussion & Analysis;
•  Financial highlights and key performance indicators; and
• Sustainability Report.

The membership of the AC, its responsibilities and works done in FY2019 are set out in the ‘Audit Committee 
Report’ of this Annual Report.

External Auditors

The Board maintains a transparent and professional relationship with the Group’s External Auditors.  During the 
year, the AC considered the independence and objectivity of UHY based on the criteria of quality of services, 
sufficiency of resources, audit planning and communication and interaction. In determining the independence of 
UHY, the AC reviewed all aspects of their relationships, including processes, policies and safeguards adopted by 
the Group and UHY relating to audit independence, and agreed to the audit strategy and the audit fee.

The AC meets periodically to carry out its functions and duties pursuant to its Terms of Reference. Other Board 

members and Key Senior Management also attend meetings upon invitation of the AC. During FY2019, two (2) 
private sessions were held between the External Auditors and the AC.

The AC was also satisfied in its review that the provision of the non-audit service by UHY to the Company for 
FY2019 did not in any way impair their objectivity and independence as External Auditors of the Company.

Having regard to the outcome of the annual assessment of UHY, the Board had in February 2019 approved the 
AC’s recommendation for the shareholders’ approval at the 45th AGM. Shareholders’ approval has since been 
obtained on the appointment of UHY as the External Auditors of the Company for FY2019.

Additional disclosures on non-statutory audit fees and the detailed work carried out by the AC for the financial year 
under review are set out separately in the ‘Audit Committee Report’ of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Risk Management and Internal Audit

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls covering not only financial 
controls but also operational and compliance controls as well as risk management. The internal control system 
involves the business and key management of each business, including the Board, and is formulated to meet the 

Group’s particular needs and to manage the risks to which it is exposed. The system, by its nature, can only provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements, losses and fraud. 

The AC and Board’s review of the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal controls weaknesses and 
Risk Management Reports are tabled to the AC. The reports identified material business risks in the Group’s critical 
business operations, assessing the likelihood and impact of material exposures and determining its corresponding 
risk mitigation and treatment measures.

 There are clear procedures and defined authorities for the following:

• Financial reporting, with clear procedures governing the reporting process and preparation of the financial 
statements.

• Capital investment with detailed appraisal, risk analysis and authorisation.

A summary of the material risks that could affect the Group (including any material exposure to economic, 
environmental and financial risks) are monitored for changes in their exposure and are reported to the Board and 
AC during the course of the year, along with their related controls and action plans.

Risk Reporting Structure

 

Audit Committee

Risk Manager

Internal Audit

Board of 

Directors

Monitoring Status of action plans

Risk reporting and monitoring

Ensure accountability

Risk Management Policy &

Strategy

Provide independent report on

Enterprise Risk Management &

internal controls effectiveness

Plants &

Machinery

Procurement

& Contracts

Property Development

& Construction

Tender &

Contracts

Other Corporate Support

Funtions (Finance & Accounts,

Legal and HR & Administration)

Building Materials

        Ready Mix

        Concrete

        Quarry

Staff
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Risk Management and Internal Audit (cont’d)

The Group’s Internal Audit function is outsourced to an independent consulting firm to assist the Board and the 
AC in providing an independent assessment of the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control system.

Scheduled Internal Audit reviews were carried out by the Internal Auditors based on the audit plans presented 
and approved by the AC. During the financial year under review, the Internal Auditors in teams of three (3) had 
conducted two (2) cycles of Internal Audit as  stipulated in the approved Internal Audit Plan.

The Internal Audit was performed in accordance with accepted Internal Auditing practices which involves assessing 
adequacy and integrity of our internal controls that were used to manage key risks associated with operating 
processes; discussions held with Senior Management and key staff; as well as limited tests of transactions based 
on sample selected covering the various related records and documents are supplemented with an observation 
of its current practices adopted.

An overview of the state of risk management and internal controls within the Group are set out in the Statement 
on Risk Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report. 

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP 

WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Communication with Stakeholders

The Board believes that on-going communication with shareholders is vital for shareholders and investors to make 
informed investment decisions and is committed in maintaining effective communications with its shareholders, 
stakeholders and the public generally. A Shareholder Communications Policy (“Policy”) has been developed to 
earn the trust and confidence of shareholders and public investors as a whole, and to provide an understanding 
of the Company’s business, management direction and the industry. This Policy creates clearer communication 

for well-informed investment decisions.

The various channels of communication with the shareholders are as follows:-

a. The Annual Report;
b. The AGM;
c. The quarterly announcements on financial results to Bursa Securities;
d. The various corporate disclosures, circulars  and announcements made to Bursa Securities;
e. Press releases and published interviews with business journals; and
f. The Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my from which shareholders and prospective investors can 

access corporate information, annual reports, press releases, financial information, company announcements 
and share prices of the Company.
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP 

WITH STAKEHOLDERS (CONT’D)

Investor Relations Activities

Investor relations activities such as meeting with fund managers and analysts; and interviews by the media are 
attended by designated Senior Management to explain the Group’s strategy, performance and major developments.  
The following meetings with fund managers were held during the financial year under review:-

Meeting Date Fund Manager/Analyst

18 July 2019 CIMB Equities Research

KAF – Seagroatt & Campbell Securities Sdn Bhd

Conduct of General Meetings

The AGM is an excellent forum for dialogue with all shareholders for which due notice is given. The AGM is also 
an opportunity for shareholders to direct questions to the Board in relation to the Group’s financial performance 
and the Group’s activities.

To ensure the effective participation of and engagement with shareholders at the last AGM held on 30 May 2019, 
the Chairman encouraged the shareholders to participate in the Questions and Answers session on the resolutions 
being proposed and on the Group’s operations in general. The Chairman of the Board and Board Committees 

Chairs, CEO, Management and External Auditors were in attendance to respond to the shareholders’ queries. 
The CEO also shared with the shareholders the Company’s responses to questions received during the last AGM. 

The voting at the last AGM was conducted through electronic voting system to facilitate greater shareholders’ 
participation, as well as to expedite verification and counting of votes. 

Key Focus for FY2020

The Board will focus on reviewing the Company’s various policies and Board Charter to ensure any changes made 
comply with the laws and meet the current Company’s governance practices in the best interest of the Company.

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement was approved by the Board on 28 May 2020.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed towards sustaining a comprehensive system of 
risk management and internal control and is pleased to provide this Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control (“Statement”) which outlines the structure and nature of risk management and internal control of the 
Group and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. This Statement is prepared 
in accordance with Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“Main Market Listing Requirements”) and is guided by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Board upholds its overall responsibility for sustaining a comprehensive risk management and internal control 

system to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers, employees and the Group’s assets. Rather than 

eliminating the risks of failure, the Board also recognises that such systems are designed to manage the Group’s 

risks within a tolerable level towards achieving the Group’s policies, goals and objectives. It can therefore, provide 
reasonable assurance of effectiveness against material misstatement of management and financial information, 
financial losses, fraud and breaches of laws or regulations

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

Management is responsible for implementing the control systems and processes to identify, evaluate, monitor and 

report on risks arising from the pursuit of the Group’s business objectives and action taken to minimise the risks. 

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board recognizes that the Group’s business activities involve certain degrees of risks and that an effective 
risk management practice is essential in pursuit of the Group’s corporate objectives and operating goals. Key 
management personnel and Heads of Departments are given responsibilities to manage key risks in their respective 

operating units.

The key risks relating to the Group’s strategic operations and business plans are deliberated at management 

meetings against a risk management framework that has been approved by the Board. Significant risks identified 
by the Management are then brought to the attention of the Board at scheduled Board meetings. 

 

The above-mentioned practices/initiatives put in place by the Board serve as an on-going process to identify, 
evaluate and manage significant risks.

In the financial year under review, two (2) Internal Audit cycles were performed. The Internal Audit findings of 
the review have been reported to the Audit Committee and subsequently presented to the Board of Directors 
for discussion and deliberation.  Resolution plans and corrective actions with set timelines were agreed upon to 
mitigate the risks identified. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (CONT’D)

1. Investment/Project Risk

 Investment risk on major investments is being mitigated with legal and financial due diligence, feasibility studies 
and risk assessment before the implementation of the projects and investments. Proposals submitted by the 

Management are evaluated by the newly set up Investment Committee comprised of Executive Directors, 
with the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director as the Chairman. Proposals accepted by the Investment 
Committee will be subsequently deliberated at Board meetings. All investment/projects are assessed for risks 
before a decision is made. The Audit Committee reviews the Management’s risk management report on a 
quarterly basis.

 During the year as an on-going oversight process, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors reviewed the 
investment risks for the following major projects undertaken by the Group. 

(i) Investment in Golden Wave Sdn Bhd which has the rights over 5 acres of commercial land in Kota 
Kinabalu, Sabah with an estimated gross development value of RM900 million. 

(ii) Investment in Intact Corporate Approach Sdn Bhd which has the rights over 429 acres of land in Kulai, 
Johor with potential for an integrated township development. 

(iii) Investment in Ho-Hup ICM Quarry Sdn Bhd which has the quarrying rights over 260 acres of quarry 
land in Taboh Naning, Melaka.

(iv) Investment in projects including breakwater rehabilitation works in Terengganu, and the Yong Peng-
Segamat highway project. 

2. Funding Risk

 With the expansion of business activities by the Group, the demands for financing to fund these activities and 
new projects have increased. To mitigate the funding risk for these activities, the Company explored funding 
options with various banks and secured several financing facilities, including contract financing, equity loan 
for equity investments and acquisitions of companies and term-loans for the Group’s ongoing projects and 

for general working capital.
  

3. Project Completion Risk and Non-Performing Sub-Contractors’ Risk

 In carrying out the Group’s projects, the Group emphasises on working with suitable and reliable sub-
contractors. Selection and appointment of sub-contractors is by tender evaluation conducted by the Tender 
Committee based on the evaluation procedures as stated in the International Standard Operation (ISO 9001: 
2015).

 

 This risk is further mitigated through management meetings to ensure that work progresses as scheduled, 
as well as close monitoring of the sub-contractors that have been appointed for the Group’s projects by our 
Project Managers.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (CONT’D)

4. Foreign Currency Risk

 Most on-going overseas projects are paid in United States Dollar (“USD”) of progress claims for its services. 
Any repatriation back to Malaysia will be subjected to fluctuation in the currencies and the Group could be 
exposed to foreign currency gains or losses. 

5. Country and Political Risk

 In assessing overseas projects, the Board’s priority is to avoid capital intensive projects and to minimise 

working capital requirements by marketing our project management expertise and technical consultancy 
services, as was the case in India and Myanmar.  

6. Joint-Venture Partners’ Performance Risk

 The performance of joint-ventures was monitored closely against the joint venture agreements and through 
monthly status reports to avoid delays impacting the Group’s performance. 

 Close monitoring of the partner’s performance through regular meetings and dialogues keep management 

abreast on latest developments in the Group’s joint-ventures.

7. Bribery and Corruption Risk

 As part of the Group’s commitment to combat bribery and corruption, the Group has established its Anti-Bribery 

and Anti-Corruption Manual, which is applied to all business dealings with commercial/private sectors and 
public sectors entity. 

 In order to ensure all parties, adhere to the Group’s commitment towards anti-bribery and anti-corruption, 
awareness trainings are provided and appropriate guidance given to all employees, directors, suppliers, 
vendors, consultants, agents, joint-venture partners and other stakeholders  associated to the Group; and 
this will continue on a regular basis.

 Furthermore, the Code of Ethics and Conduct of Directors and Employees are updates with emphasis to 
Section 17A of the MACC Act where it addresses corporate liability for corruption where Directors and Senior 
Management will be held personally liable for acts of corruption committed by the organisation, either by 
personnel or parties acting on behalf the organisation unless adequate procedures are in place to prevent 

associated person from undertaking such conduct.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below:-

• Control Environment 

 The importance and awareness of a proper control environment is communicated throughout the organisation. 
Focus is directed towards the quality and abilities of the Group’s employees with continuing education and 
training to enhance the skills of employees and reinforce qualities of professionalism and integrity. Such 
training includes internal briefings and external seminars for selected employees relating to areas of risk 
management, leadership, selling & marketing skills and employee management. 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)
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INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (CONT’D)

• Control Structure 

 The Board and Management have established an organisational structure with defined lines of accountability 
and delegated authority. This includes well-defined responsibilities of Board Committees and the various 
management levels, including authorisation levels for all aspects of the business. 

The Group’s control structure is as follows:

i. Management 

• A well-established Standard Operating Procedures (“SOP”) cover all key aspects of the Group’s 
various business processes. These procedures deal with, amongst others, control issues for 
financial accounting and reporting, cash management, asset security, information technology, 
health and safety. The procedures are subject to regular reviews to cater for process changes, 
changing risks or further improvements. 

• Aside from the SOP, changes in internal control procedures, if any, are communicated via circulars 
and internal memos. Such circulars and memos are properly authorised by the relevant members 
of Senior Management. 

• Fortnightly meetings chaired by the Chief Executive Officer with the Senior Management and Heads 
of Sections allow the members to communicate and provide feedback in respect of compliance 
and monitoring of sales performance, expenditure and other key business matters.

• All significant contracts and legally enforceable agreements are vetted by the Group’s legal 
department and/or appointed lawyers;

• Training and development programmes are identified and scheduled for employees to acquire the 
necessary knowledge and competency to meet job task performance expectations.

ii. Internal Audit Function

 The Group engaged an independent advisory firm for Internal Audit services which carries out its functions 
and provides the Audit Committee and the Board with the assurance on the adequacy and integrity of 
the system of internal controls. The Internal Audit is solely responsible for planning, implementing and 

reporting the audits for the Group. For this purpose, each year, the Internal Auditors: 

• Prepare a detailed Annual Audit Plan for submission to the Audit Committee for approval; 

• Carry out all activities to conduct the audits in accordance with the Audit Plan; 

• Share its finding with the auditee upon completion of each audit assignment; and 

• Submit reports on internal audit findings to the Audit Committee. 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)
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INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (CONT’D)

• Control Structure (cont’d)

The Group’s control structure is as follows: (cont’d)

iii. Audit Committee 

 The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, reviews on a quarterly basis, the Group’s financial 
performance and the measures undertaken on internal control issues identified by the Internal Auditor, 
External Auditors and Management. 

iv. Investment Committee

 The Investment Committee, on behalf of the Board, timely oversees the overall investment risk, investment 

performance and making sound investment decision in accordance with good corporate governance 
practices at all times. 

v. Board 

 The Board receives updates from the Audit Committee and Management and considers their reports 

relating to internal controls and deliberates on their recommendations for implementation. 

•  Reporting and Information 

 The Board meets quarterly and has a formal agenda on matters for discussion. The Chief 

Executive Officer leads the presentation of board papers and provides explanations on pertinent 
issues. The quarterly financial results tabled at Board Meetings are approved by the Board upon 
recommendation of the Audit Committee and after due deliberations at the Board meetings.

 Strategic plans are prepared by Management and subsequently approved by the Board to form 
the basis for detailed annual budgets. The detailed budgets are prepared by business operating 

units and reviewed and approved by the Management.  The monitoring of results against budget 
is conducted every month, with major variances followed up and management action taken, where 
necessary. The budget is reviewed every quarter, and where necessary, adjusted for changes in 
the business, financial and operating environment. 

 The Chief Executive Officer chairs fortnightly meetings with senior management to discuss the 
business, financial and operational performance of the Group. Key matters affecting the Group 
are brought to the attention of the Audit Committee by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer or Internal Auditor and are reported to the Board on a regular basis. 

•  Monitoring and Review 

 There are processes for monitoring the system of internal controls. Significant weaknesses, where 
detected, would be reported together with details of corrective action. The system is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis by the Board (through the Audit Committee), Management, Finance and the 
Internal Auditors. Responsibility for monitoring compliance with policies, procedures and guidelines 
rests principally with the Internal Auditors, who report directly to the Audit Committee as described 
above. Heads of Department are actively involved in maintaining and continually improving the 

control processes within their respective departments.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (CONT’D)

• Control Structure (cont’d)

The Group’s control structure is as follows: (cont’d)

v. Board (cont’d) 

• Whistle-blower Policy 

 The Whistle-blower Policy provides a standard platform and acts as a mechanism for parties to 
channel their complaints or provide information on fraud, bribery, corruption, wrongdoings or non-
compliance to any rules or procedures by an employee or the management of the Group. The 

policy outlines when, how and to who a concern may be properly raised, distinguishes a concern 
from a personal grievance and allows the whistle-blower the opportunity to raise a concern outside 
their management line and in confidence. The identity of the whistle-blower is kept confidential and 
protection accorded to the whistle-blower against any form of reprisal or retribution. Any concerns 
raised will be investigated and reported to the Board.

The whistle-blower policy is available from the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my.

ASSURANCE MECHANISM

The Group’s Internal Audit function is outsourced to Galton Advisory PLT. The outsourced internal auditors are 

engaged primarily to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in providing independent assessment of the adequacy, 

efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. They report directly to the Audit Committee 
and Internal Audit Plans are tabled to the Audit Committee for review and approval to ensure adequate coverage.

The Internal Auditors table their findings of the business processes of the operating units to the Audit Committee 
at their scheduled meetings. In addition, the status of the implementation of corrective follow-up actions to address 
control weaknesses are monitored and reported by the Internal Auditors to ensure that these actions have been 
satisfactorily implemented. 

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, will review the adequacy and the integrity of the Group’s system in 
place for risk management and internal control.

The Audit Committee Report of this Annual Report contains further information on the Committee’s activities as 

well as that of the outsourced Internal Auditors.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal control mainly applies to its operating units and does not 

cover associated companies, dormant companies and overseas operations.

BOARD’S COMMITMENT

The structure of controls and operations will be continuously and gradually improved to ensure they remain 
adequate and relevant to the Company and Group activities.  The Board remains committed to sustain a sound 

system of risk management and internal control and will, when necessary, recommend actions to further improve 
and enhance them.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT

AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The External Auditors have reviewed this Statement, as required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Securities and against the scope set out in the Audit and Assurance Practice Guide (AAPG) 
3, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. The External Auditors, following their review, have reported to 
the Board that nothing has come to their attention that cause them to believe that this Statement is inconsistent 
with their understanding of the process the Board has adopted in the review of the adequacy and integrity of the 
risk management and internal controls of the Group. 

AAPG 3 does not require the External Auditors to, and they did not, consider whether this Statement covers all 
risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems.

CONCLUSION

For the financial year under review and up to the date of issuance of the financial statements, the Board is satisfied 
with the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of risk management and internal control to safeguard 
the interest of shareholders. No material losses, contingencies or uncertainties have arisen from any inadequacy 

or failure of the Group’s system of internal control that would require separate disclosure in the Group’s Annual 
Report. The Board has also received reasonable assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, who are primarily responsible for the financial management, that the Group’s risk management process 
and internal control systems are operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects, based on the risk 
management process and internal controls systems of the Group.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 28 May 2020.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the Audit Committee (“AC”) Report which highlights activities carried out for financial 
year ended 2019 guided by its Terms of Reference (“TOR”). 

1. Composition

 As at the date of this report, the AC comprises three (3) members of the Board, all of whom are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.

2. Membership

The current composition of the AC as at the date of this Annual Report comprises:-

Chairman : Mr. Boey Tak Kong
    Independent Non-Executive Director

Members : Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie
   Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

   Mr. Chow Seck Kai
   Independent Non-Executive Director

 The AC Chairman, Mr. Boey Tak Kong is a Chartered Accountant and a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants (“MIA”) and complies with Paragraph 15.09 (1) (c) (i).

3. Attendance of Meetings

 The AC met five (5) times during the financial year ended 2019 and the attendance of the AC members is as 
follows:-

Name of Audit Committee Members Attendance at Audit Committee Meetings

Mr. Boey Tak Kong 5/5

Mr. Chow Seck Kai 4/5

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie 5/5

 The Chief Financier Officer and members of the Senior Management attend the AC meeting by invitation, 
to explain and provide the AC with clarification on relevant matters, when required. The role of the AC is to 
ensure that the recommendations made by both Internal and External Auditors, as well as regulators, are 
addressed and dealt with in a timely manner.

 In performing its function, the AC had met the External Auditors without the presence of any executive member 
of the Board, Management and staff on 25 February 2019 and 25 November 2019.

4. Terms of Reference (TOR)

 The details of the Terms of Reference of the AC are available on the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.
com.my.
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SUMMARY OF AUDIT COMMITTEE’S ACTIVITIES

During the FY2019, the AC had discharged its functions and carried out its responsibilities as set out in the TOR.

A summary of the activities carried out by the AC during the financial year under review are as follows:-

1. Financial Reporting

 Reviewed and briefed the Board on the Group’s quarterly unaudited financial statements and Annual Audited 
Financial Statements of the Company and Group and thereafter, submitted to the Board for their considerations 
and approval. 

 The dates on which the meetings of the AC were convened during the financial year to deliberate on financial 
reporting matters are detailed below:

Date of Meetings Activities

26 February 2019 • Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Group for the 
Fourth quarter ended 31 December 2018

17 April 2019 • Review of the Audited Financial Statement of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2018

14 May 2019 • Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Group for the 
First quarter ended 31 March 2019

26 August 2019 • Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Group for the 
Second quarter ended 30 June 2019

25 November 2019 • Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Group for the 
Third quarter ended 30 September 2019

27 February 2020 • Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Group for the 
Fourth quarter ended 31 December 2019

28 May 2020 • Review of the Audited Financial Statement of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2019

 In reviewing the annual audited financial statements, the AC discussed with the Management and the External 
Auditors on the accounting principles and standards that were applied and their opinion on the items that 
may affect the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUMMARY OF AUDIT COMMITTEE’S ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

2. Internal Audit

(i) Reviewed the Internal Audit Reports prepared by the Internal Auditors and appraised the adequacy of 
the work scope, functions, competency and resources of the Internal Auditors to ensure that it has the 
necessary authority to carry out their responsibilities;

(ii)    Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Programmes and a review of the processes including the 
findings and results of the audit as well as investigations undertaken to ensure that, where appropriate, 
action had been taken on the recommendations of the Internal Audit by the Management to ensure that 

all internal control lapses have been addressed; and

(iii)  Noted the Audit Findings for Corrective Actions.

 The AC acknowledges that the internal control of the Group and the Company, which was enforced and 
implemented throughout the financial year up to the date of this report, provided reasonable although not 
absolute assurance against material financial misstatements or loss. Accordingly, any audit findings that 
highlights weaknesses shall be appropriately corrected and rectified to prevent future irregularities. The 
internal controls were deemed sufficient in safeguarding assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation and regulation 
best practices.

3. External Audit

(i) Discussed the letters of engagement, suitability, objectivity and independence of the External Auditors 
and recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the External Auditors, and on their audit fees 
thereof and also approved the provision of non-audit services by the External Auditors;

(ii) Reviewed the Annual Audit Planning Memorandum, audit strategy, the nature and work scope of the 
audit, prior to the commencement of audit; 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUMMARY OF AUDIT COMMITTEE’S ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

3. External Audit (cont’d)

(iii) Reviewed with the External Auditors on the following areas and reported the same to the Board:

a. Audit report, including the key audit matters which arose during the course of the audit and those 
issues that have been subsequently resolved and those that remain unresolved;

 The AC had on 28 May 2020, reviewed and deliberated the following key audit matters and agreed 
with the Management, the treatment and control procedures implemented to provide the necessary 
safeguard for financial reporting integrity.

Key Audit Matters Control Procedures

Impairment assessment of

goodwill and land rights
Preparation of management’s forecast and cash flow for 
projects and development projects on quarterly basis and 

updated for projects;
 

Provided assumptions on which the cash flow projections are 
based and reviewed the assumptions on a quarterly basis to 
ensure these assumptions were adequate and appropriate; and

Reviewed disclosure notes in financial statements and reports 
on a quarterly and annual basis as to appropriateness of the 

treatment.

Revenue and cost recognition

on construction contracts and

property development activities

 Management review and approvals granted based on 
reconciliation to the contract costs as an approval process for 

payment requisitions; 

Monthly actual reports against budgets by project team 

are reviewed by Finance and variance reports provided to 
Management as part of reporting procedure; and

On monthly basis the architect certificate against stage of 
completion of each contracts and sub-contractor claims are 

ascertained against the percentage of completion recognised 

in the profit or loss.

Liquidated and Ascertained

Damages (“LAD”)

 Assessed the computation of LAD provision provided by 

Finance on any late delivery project unit to buyers together 
with relevant correspondence with buyers.

b. External Auditor’s Management Letter and Management’s responses to the findings of the External 
Auditors and also the Auditor’s report to shareholders ; 

c. Audit approach including coordination of audit efforts with Internal Auditors and assistance given 
by the employees to the External Auditors; and

d. Key significant audit findings reported by the External Auditors.

(iv) Conducted two (2) private meetings with the External Auditors, without the presence of Executive Board 
members, Management and Staff to discuss their observations and areas for improvements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUMMARY OF AUDIT COMMITTEE’S ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

4. Related Party Transactions

 Reviewed the quarterly report pursuant to related party transactions entered into by the Company and the 
Group, including review and monitoring of recurrent related party transactions for which shareholders’ mandate 
have been granted to ensure that:

(i) transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and were not prejudicial to the interest of 
the Company or its minority shareholders;

(ii) adequate oversight over internal control procedures with regard to such transactions; and

(iii) compliance with key issues pertaining to the related party transactions disclosure pursuant to Chapter 
10 of the Main Market Listing Requirements , Malaysian Financial Reporting Standard 124 and the 
Companies Act 2016. 

 Upon review, the AC concurred with the Management’s recommendation that the related party transactions 
were carried out on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the Group or its minority 
shareholders.

5. Risk Management

(i)  Reviewed the updates on the quarterly report on risk management and financial assistance status 
presented by Management, using the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) risk management framework; and

(ii) Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements and thereafter, submitted to the Board for their 
considerations and approval and inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The AC is supported by the Internal Audit team, which has been outsourced to Galton Advisory PLT. Its primary 
role is to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk, internal control and governance framework for the 
Group. The Internal Auditors report directly to the AC and its role is to independently review the internal control 
system established by the management, its adequacy and effectiveness vis-à-vis the objectives set and to make 
appropriate recommendations for further improvement. The Internal Auditors presented a two-year Internal Audit 
Plan, which includes the work scope and functions of the Internal Audit for consideration and approval by the AC. 
The Internal Auditors adopt a risk-based Internal Audit methodology, which is guided by the International Professional 
Practices Framework issued by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

The engagement team from Galton Advisory PLT is headed by Mr. Low Chiun Yik, an Executive Partner of the Firm. 
He has a Master’s Degree in Accountancy and Finance, and has been specialising in the field of internal audit and 
risk management since 2010. He is also an Independent Director of a Bursa Main Board listed company and sits 

on the Risk Management and Remuneration Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
(cont’d)
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (CONT’D)

The Internal Auditors assisted the AC in discharging their duties and responsibilities by executing independent 
reviews, objective assurance and consulting activities within the Group’s operations through audits of the Group’s 
key operations and also to ensure consistency in the control environment and compliance with established policies 
and procedures, rules, regulations, guidelines, directives and relevant laws.  The activities performed by the Internal 
Audit function include:

• developing a two-year Internal Audit Plan for FYE 2018 and 2019, setting out the implementation of the 
internal audit scope for the Group based on agreed-upon communication, timelines and reporting protocols;

• perform reviews of the key processes to examine and evaluate the adequacy and efficiency of the operations’ 
internal controls, and highlight any significant risks and non-compliance matters that have impact to the Group;

• four (4) cycles of Internal Audit were carried out throughout FYE 2018 and 2019, the Internal Audit outlines the 
findings and observations and provides recommendations to strengthen and improve controls of the Group. 
The internal audit work scope for FY2018 and 2019 are:

Year Cycle Scope

2018 1 • Corporate Governance
• Risk Management

2 • Project Governance (Construction division)
• Project Management (Construction division)

2019 3 • Sales and Marketing (Property Development division)

4 • Manufacturing and Trading (Building Materials Division)

• during each cycle, follow-ups were conducted on the status of Management’s implementation based on the 
Internal Audit recommendations which was previously reported in the preceding cycles of Internal Audit.

During the FYE 2019, internal audit activities were carried out in accordance with the pre-approved Internal Audit 
Plan (“IA Plan”). Representatives from the outsourced Internal Audit team conducted Internal Audit visits based 

on the approved IA Plan which are consistent with the Group’s goals. Any significant changes to the IA Plan were 
communicated to the AC for approval prior to the commencement of the Internal Audit.

The Internal Audit Reports prepared by the Internal Auditors arising from the audits were deliberated by the AC 
and recommendations were duly acted upon by the Management. Follow-up reviews were conducted by Internal 
Auditors to ensure that all matters arising from each audit were adequately and promptly addressed by the auditee 
or Management.

The total cost incurred in discharging its functions and responsibilities in 2019 amounted to RM39,345 compared 
to RM48,129 in 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
(cont’d)
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STATEMENT OF

RESPONSIBILITY BY DIRECTORS
In Respect of the Preparation of the

Annual Audited Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2016 to ensure that the financial statements for each financial 
year give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial 
year, and of the results and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group and the 
Company are drawn up in accordance with the requirements of the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standard, the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have ensured that:-

• appropriate accounting policies and practices have been adopted and applied consistently;
• the statements are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; 
• all applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departure and explained in 

the financial statements; and
• going concern basis has been adopted unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue its 

business 

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Group and the Company keep proper accounting records 

which disclose the financial position of the Group and of the Company with reasonable accuracy at any time, thus 
enabling the financial statements to be complied with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 and have been 
made out in accordance with applicable Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Directors are also responsible for taking the necessary steps that are reasonably open to them to ensure 

appropriate systems are in place to safeguard the assets of the Group and of the Company, and to detect and 

prevent fraud and other irregularities. The systems, by their nature, can only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance against material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 28 May 2020.
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The information set out below is disclosed in compliance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad. (“Bursa Securities”)

1. Utilisation of Proceeds Raised from Corporate Proposals

 On 4 November 2019, Ho Hup completed its Private Placement exercise following the listing of and quotation 
for 37,489,400 new ordinary shares of RM0.465 each in Ho Hup (“Placement Shares”). The Company raised 
gross proceeds of RM17.43 million based on the issue price of RM0.465 per Placement Share. The proceeds 
of the Private Placement have been fully utilised as at the date of this report, as described below:

Proposed utilisation Actual Utilisation

Partial Repayment of Borrowings 8,500,000 8,500,000

Working Capital 8,282,571 8,282,571

Estimated Expenses in relation to the 
Private Placement

650,000 650,000

Total 17,432,571 17,432,571

2. Audit and Non-audit Fees

 The amount of non-audit fees incurred and payable to the external auditors and its affiliates by the Group for 
FYE2019 are as follows: 

     Group Company

     (RM) (RM)

Audit services rendered

(1) Current year provision    229,550 229,550
(2) Under provision in prior year    – –

Non-audit services rendered

(1) Review of the Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control  18,000 18,000
(2) Limited Review of Consolidated Financial Statement  33,000 33,000

3. Material Contracts 

 There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors and 
major shareholders’ interests either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
or entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE

INFORMATION
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4. Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

 The ESOS was implemented on 21 August 2015 (“Effective Date”) and is in force for a period of five (5) years. 
The tenure of the ESOS may be extended or renewed, at the discretion of the Board, upon the recommendation 
of the ESOS Committee, subject always that the duration of the ESOS shall not be more than ten (10) years 
from the Effective Date.

 The Company had made the first offer of 6,000,900 new Ho Hup shares (“ESOS Options”) pursuant to the 
ESOS (“First Offer”) to the eligible employees and Directors at the exercise price of RM0.74.

 The total number of ESOS Options granted, exercised and outstanding under the Scheme is set out in the 
table below:

Number of Options

(Since the Effective Date to 31 December 2019)

Description Grand Total Directors

(a) Granted 6,000,900 1,986,100

(b) Exercised 596,000 243,200

(c) Lapsed 1,756,100 111,200

(d) Outstanding 3,648,800 1,631,700

Percentage of options applicable to Directors and Senior Management under the ESOS:

Description Since commencement up to 31 December 2019

(a) Aggregate maximum allocation 10%

(b) Actual granted 1.6%

 There were no new Options granted under the Scheme during the financial year. The breakdown of the 
Options exercised by Non-Executive Directors during the financial year under review is as follows:-

Name of Directors

Balance as at

1.1.2019 Exercised Lapsed

Balance as at

31.12.2019

Tan Sri Datuk Seri
Panglima Sulong Matjeraie

211,900 – – 211,900

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 169,400 – – 169,400

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee 158,900 – – 158,900

Datin Chan Bee Leng 111,200 – – 111,200

Mr. Boey Tak Kong 111,200 – – 111,200

Mr. Chow Seck Kai 122,300 – – 122,300

Mr. Low Kheng Lun 111,200 – – 111,200

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE

INFORMATION
(cont’d)
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5. Recurrent Related Party Transactions of A Revenue Nature

 The breakdown of the aggregate value of transactions of a revenue and trading nature conducted during 
the FYE 2019, pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate obtained at the 45th Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”) of the Company held on 30 May 2019, is set out below:-

No

Ho Hup

and/or its

subsidiaries

Transacting

Parties Nature of Transactions

Aggregate 

value of

transactions

from 1 January

2019 to

31 December

2019

(RM’000)

1. Ho Hup

Group

Directors and/or
Major Shareholders
of Ho Hup Group

and Persons

Connected

to them

Sale of development properties 
in the ordinary course of business 

provided that any one of the 

percentage ratios of the  transaction 

does not exceed 10% as defined in 
the Listing Requirements.

2,189

2. Golden

Wave

Sdn Bhd

Tribeca Real Estate

Asset Management

Sdn Bhd (“TREAM”)

For the provision of development 
and project management services.

720

3. Intact

Corporate

Approach

Sdn Bhd

TREAM For the provision of development 
and project management services.

Nil

4. Ho Hup

Jaya
Sdn Bhd

Omesti Berhad Rental of office premises 175

5. Ho Hup

Jaya
Sdn Bhd

Microlink Solutions
Berhad

Rental of office premises 175

6. – Niaga Sari Sdn Bhd Subcontractor for main building 
works

21,868

7. – Symphony Interactive
Sdn Bhd

Renting of Retail Spaces 699

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE

INFORMATION
(cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding, foundation engineering, civil engineering, 

building contracting works and the provision of management services for subsidiary companies.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

    Group Company

    RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the financial year    51,586 1,941 

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent    51,500
Non-controlling interests    86

    51,586

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed 
in the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. 
The Board of Directors does not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial year.
 

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 374,894,596 to 
412,383,996 through the issuance of 37,489,400 new ordinary shares by a private placement at an exercise price 
of RM0.465 each for the purpose of working capital. The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank 
pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company. 

There was no issuance of debentures during the financial year.
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OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 June 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the establishment 
of an ESOS of up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if 
any) for the eligible Directors and employees of the Group. The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are 
disclosed in the Note 34 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the options offered to take up unissued ordinary shares and the exercise price are as 
follows:

 Number of options over ordinary shares

 Exercise At    At

Date of offer price 1.1.2019 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2019

1 September 2015 RM0.74  3,648,800  – –  – 3,648,800 

Details of options granted to Directors are disclosed in the section of Directors’ Interests in this report. 

During the financial year, no new options were granted by the Company to any person to take up unissued shares 
in the Company.

 

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY 

Directors who served during the financial year until the date of this report are:

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie 
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee*
Datin Chan Bee Leng 

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong*
Boey Tak Kong
Chow Seck Kai*
Low Kheng Lun*
Dato’ Wong Gian Kui                     
                                                                     

* Director of the Company and its subsidiary companies

The names of the Directors of the subsidiary companies of the Company during the financial year until the date of 
this report are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’

REPORT
(cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT
(cont’d)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

The interests and deemed interests in the shares and options over ordinary shares of the Company and of its related 

corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiary company) by the Directors in office at the end of the financial 
year (including their spouse or children) according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

 Number of ordinary shares

  At   At 

  01.01.2019   Acquired   Disposed 31.12.2019 

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad

Direct interest

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok  4,637,500 500,000 – 5,137,500
Boey Tak Kong  1,251,100 748,900 – 2,000,000
Chow Seck Kai  117,400 – – 117,400
Datin Chan Bee Leng  47,700 – – 47,700 

Low Kheng Lun  51,383 – – 51,383 
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong   150,000 – – 150,000 

Indirect interest

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok (1)   51,125,100 – – 51,125,100 
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee (2)   50,697,750   2,000,000  – 52,697,750 
Datin Chan Bee Leng (3)  77,958,722 – – 77,958,722 
Low Kheng Lun (4)  65,113,032 – – 65,113,032 

 Number of options over ordinary shares

 At    At

  01.01.2019 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2019

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad

Direct Interest

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
 Sulong Matjeraie 211,900 – – – 211,900 
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 169,400 – – – 169,400 
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee 158,900 – – – 158,900 
Datin Chan Bee Leng 111,200 – – – 111,200 

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong  635,600 – – – 635,600 
Boey Tak Kong 111,200 – – – 111,200 
Chow Seck Kai 122,300 – – – 122,300 
Low Kheng Lun 111,200 – – – 111,200 
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT
(cont’d)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONT’D)

Notes:

1 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”) by virtue of his substantial 

shareholdings in Omesti Berhad, which is the holding company of Omesti Holdings Berhad and pursuant to 

Section 59(11)(c) of the Act by virtue of his spouse’s and child’s direct shareholdings in the Company.

2 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas 

Berhad and pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act by virtue of his children’s direct shareholdings in the 

Company.

3 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s direct shareholdings in 

the Company and pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s substantial shareholdings in 

Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd., Estate of Low Chee and Concrete Pavers Industries Sdn. Bhd..

4 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Low Chee 

Group Sdn. Bhd.

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok, Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee, Datin 
Chan Bee Leng and Low Kheng Lun are deemed to have interests in the shares of all its subsidiary companies during 
the financial year to the extent that the Company has an interest under Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016.

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares and options over 
shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable 
by Directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related 
corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the 
Director has a substantial financial interest.

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object 
was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the share options granted under the ESOS.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

During the financial year, the total amount of indemnity coverage and insurance premium paid for the Directors 
and certain officers of the Company were RM10,000,000 and RM20,000 respectively. No indemnity was given to 
or insurance effected for auditors of the Company.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a) Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the Directors took reasonable 
steps:

(i) to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that adequate allowance had been made for 
doubtful debts and there were no bad debts to be written off; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business 
including the value of current assets as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company 
have been written down to an amount which the current assets might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) which would render it necessary to write off any bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful 
debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; 
or

(ii) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company misleading; or

(iii) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which 
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading; or

(iv) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or 
liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(c) At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
year.

(d) In the opinion of the Directors:

(i) no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within 
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the 
Group and of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due;

(ii) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature except as 
disclosed in the notes to financial statements; and 

(iii) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of 
the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 

DIRECTORS’

REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The details of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

SUBSEqUENT EVENT

The details of the subsequent event is disclosed in Note 44 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The Auditors, Messrs. UHY, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

The details of the auditors’ remuneration are set out in Note 31(a) to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 28 May 2020.

TAN SRI DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE CHOW SECK KAI

KUALA LUMPUR

DIRECTORS’

REPORT
(cont’d)
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STATEMENT BY

DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

We, the undersigned, being two of the Directors of the Company, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, 
the financial statements set out on pages 101 to 217 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 
2019 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 28 May 2020.

TAN SRI DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE CHOW SECK KAI

KUALA LUMPUR

STATUTORY

DECLARATION
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

I, Lee Heng Aun, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Ho Hup Construction Company 
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements 
set out on pages 101 to 217 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to 

be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the )
abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the )
Federal Territory on 28 May 2020 )

 LEE HENG AUN

 (MIA Membership No. 10104)

Before me,

 COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS
Of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad

[Registration No: 197301000497 (14034-W)] (Incorporated in Malaysia)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 31 December 2019 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and 
of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 101 to 217.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for 
the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 

Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws’) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and land rights

Refer to Note 3(o) (Significant Accounting Policies), Note 2(d) (Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and 
Assumptions) and Note 6 (Intangible Assets).

The carrying values of goodwill and land rights of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are RM10.98 million and 
RM90.16 million respectively.

Goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing and land rights are tested for impairment when there is indication 
of impairment. We focused on these areas as the determination of recoverable amounts of cash-generating-unit 

based on value-in-use calculations by management involved a significant degree of judgement and assumptions.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and land rights (cont’d)

Our audit procedures performed in relation to management’s impairment assessment included the following:

• Assessed the reliability of management’s forecast through the review of past trends of actual financial 
performances against previous forecasted results;

• Assessed the key assumptions on which the cash flow projections are based, by amongst others, comparing 
them against business plans, historical results and market data;

 

• Evaluated the appropriateness of the discount rate used to determine the present value of the cash flows 
and whether the rate used reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

• Performed sensitivity analysis on key assumptions to evaluate impact on the impairment assessment; and

• Assessed the adequacy and reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no significant exceptions.

Revenue and cost recognition on construction contracts and property development activities

Refer to Note 3(g)&(t) (Significant Accounting Policies), Note 2(d) (Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates 
and Assumptions), Note 7 (Inventories and Other Contract Costs), Note 14 (Contract Assets/Liabilities) and Note 
29 (Revenue).

A significant proportion of the Group’s and of the Company’s revenues and profits are derived from construction 
contracts and property development projects which span more than one accounting period. The Group and the 
Company use percentage-of-completion method in accounting for construction contracts and property development 

activities. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of actual costs incurred for work 
performed to date to the estimated total costs for the project.

We focused on this area because management applies significant judgement in determining the stage of completion, 
extent of costs incurred and estimated total costs, as well as appropriateness of provision for liquidated ascertained 
damages.

Our audit procedures performed in this area included, among others:

• Tested the Group’s and the Company’s controls by checking for evidence of reviews and approvals over 
construction contract and property development costs, setting budgets and authorising and recording of actual 

costs incurred;

• Challenged the assumptions in deriving at the estimates of construction contract and property development 
costs. This includes comparing the actual margins achieved of previous similar completed projects to estimates 

and compared the estimated costs to supporting documentation such as approved budgets, quotations, 

contracts and variation orders with sub-contractors;

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS
(cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Revenue and cost recognition on construction contracts and property development activities (cont’d)

• Agreed a sample of costs incurred to date to relevant documents such as sub-contractor claim certificates, 
verified by the Group’s and Company’s internal quantity surveyor or the employers;

• In instances where projects have been delayed, we have tested management’s estimates of the liquidated 
ascertained damages provisions required to supporting documentation such as signed sale and purchase 

agreements with unit buyers, correspondences with unit buyers or sub-contractors and extension of time 
approvals; 

• Reviewed management’s workings on the computation of percentage-of-completion; and

• Assessed the adequacy and reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no significant exceptions.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are 
also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate 

the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS
(cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentation, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s and of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS
(cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REqUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiary companies 
of which we have not acted as auditors, are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 

for the content of this report.

UHY

Firm Number: AF 1411
Chartered Accountants

TEE GUAN PIAN

Approved Number: 01886/05/2022 J
Chartered Accountant

KUALA LUMPUR

28 May 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS
(cont’d)
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STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 218,783 149,834 2,509 4,536
Investment properties 5 124,628 13,548 – –
Intangible assets 6 102,174 105,693 – –
Inventories and other contact costs 7 13,913 9,913 – –

Quarry development cost 8 7,046 5,787 – –
Right-of-use assets 9 21,405 – 1,502 –
Investment in subsidiary companies 10 – – 87,928 87,918 
Investments in associates 11 – – – –

Investments in joint ventures 12 417 433 375 375
Other investment 13 – 1,184 – –

  488,366 286,392 92,314 92,829

Current Assets

Inventories and other contract costs 7 304,949 415,148 – –
Contract assets 14 114,982 96,899 56,766 61,546
Trade receivables 15 203,950 192,218 24,881 20,381
Other receivables 16 107,569 65,775 38,295 38,986 
Amount due from subsidiary

 companies 17 – – 337,456 346,493 
Amount due from a joint venture 18 99 99 99 99 
Tax recoverable  16 338 – 22
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 19 31,383 10,051 27,125 6,198 
Cash and bank balances 19 54,186 21,052 10,361 14,858

  817,134 801,580 494,983 488,583

Total Assets  1,305,500 1,087,972 587,297 581,412 
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 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

EqUITY

Share capital 20 225,007 207,574 225,007 207,574 
Reserves 21 207,577 156,145 91,495 89,554 

Equity attributable to owners
 of the parent   432,584 363,719 316,502 297,128 
Non-controlling interests  13,621 13,538 – –

Total Equity  446,205 377,257 316,502 297,128 

LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 22 – 4,945 – 651 
Lease liabilities 23 11,131 – 407 –

Bank borrowings 24 163,931 190,383 13,797 56,193 
Deferred tax liabilities 25 22,127 22,452 218  –

  197,189 217,780 14,422 56,844 

Current Liabilities

Contract liabilities 14 – 3,917 – 16,868 
Provision for liquidated

 ascertained damages 26 10,143 13,119 15,958 13,119 
Trade payables 27 151,216 175,946 66,796 95,671 
Other payables 28 262,291 85,801 138,482 20,262 
Finance lease liabilities 22 – 3,542 – 592 
Lease liabilities 23 5,814 – 1,398 –
Bank borrowings 24 191,480 183,185 29,969 74,349 
Amount due to subsidiary

 companies 17 – – 1,954 6,579 
Provision for taxation  41,162 27,425 1,816 –

  662,106 492,935 256,373 227,440 

Total Liabilities  859,295 710,715 270,795 284,284

Total Equity and Liabilities  1,305,500 1,087,972 587,297 581,412

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
(cont’d)
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Revenue 29 371,368 260,815 194,018 141,562 

Cost of sales  (221,400) (174,866) (173,883) (136,785)

Gross profit  149,968 85,949 20,135 4,777 

Other income  5,270 6,960 19,277 23,029 

Administrative expenses  (15,523) (12,978) (9,542) (8,520)

Other expenses  (38,737) (18,281) (19,205) (4,490)

Net loss on impairment on

 financial instruments  (314) – (232) –

Finance costs 30 (24,565) (22,768) (6,446) (10,917)

Share of results of associates
 and joint ventures  (16) 433 – –

Profit before tax 31 76,083 39,315 3,987 3,879 

Taxation 32 (24,497) (11,052) (2,046) 12 

Profit for the financial year  51,586 28,263 1,941 3,891 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that are or may be reclassified
 subsequently to profit or loss
 Exchange translation differences
  for foreign operations  (36) (611) – –

Other comprehensive income

 for the financial year  (36) (611) – –

Total comprehensive income

 for the financial year  51,550 27,652 1,941 3,891 
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 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the financial year
 attributable to:

 Owners of the parent  51,500 28,891 1,941 3,891
 Non-controlling interests  86 (628) – –

  51,586 28,263 1,941 3,891 

Total comprehensive income

 attributable to:

 Owners of the parent  51,467 28,437 1,941 3,891
 Non-controlling interests  83 (785) – –

  51,550 27,652 1,941 3,891

Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share (sen) 33(i) 13.5 7.7

 Diluted earnings per share (sen) 33(ii) 13.5 7.7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(cont’d)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019
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STATEMENTS OF

CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Profit before tax  76,083 39,315 3,987 3,879 
Adjustments for:

 Depreciation of:

 - property, plant and equipment   1,880  3,610 93 140 
 - investment properties  1,608 279 – –
 - right-of-use assets  2,425 – 94 –
 Dividend income  – – – (247)

 Amortisation of intangible assets  15 14 – –
 Amortisation of land rights  3,390 – – –

 Impairment loss on trade receivables   314  – 232 –

 Write-off of inventories  – 7 – –
 Share of results of associates and
  joint venture  16 (433) – –

 Gain on disposal of property, plant

  and equipment  (258) (1,104) – –
 Gain on disposal of other investments  (779) – – –

 Loss on unrealised foreign exchange  – 5 – 5 
 Interest income  (1,996) (3,221) (259) (259)
 Finance costs  24,565  22,768 6,446 10,917

Operating profit before
 working capital changes  107,263  61,240 10,593 14,435 

Changes in working capital
 Change in contract assets  (15,597) 3,847 4,780 (28,986)
 Change in contract liabilities  (8,409) (17,012) (16,868) 450 
 Change in inventories and

  other contract costs  (15,363) (67,514) – –
 Change in provision   (2,976) 13,119 2,839 13,119
 Changes in receivables  (53,840) (129,358) (55,943) 22,349 
 Changes in payables  151,760 92,758 89,345 6,387

   55,575  (104,160) 24,153 13,319

Cash generated from/(used in) operations   162,838  (42,920) 34,746 27,754 

 Interest paid  (37,257) (34,128) (6,446) (10,917)
 Interest received  1,996  330 259 259 
 Dividend received  – – – 247 

 Tax refunded  192 – 20 –
 Tax paid  (10,955) (7,540) (10) (10)

  (46,024) (41,338) (6,177) (10,421)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities   116,814  (84,258) 28,569 17,333 
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 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

 Purchase of property, plant and

  equipment (Note 4(a))  (64,644) (147) (2,337) (4,031)

 Additions to inventories - land held

  for property development   (4,000) (31) – –

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

  and equipment and investment properties 10,911 14,385 – 4
 Quarry development cost  (801) (1,303) – –
 Net repayment from/(advances to)
  subisdiary companies  – – 60,339 (589)
 Addition to investment in subsidiary

  companies  – – (10) (2,000)

 Acquisition of other investment  – (1,184) – –
 Proceeds from disposal of other investment 1,963 – – –

 Change in pledged deposits   (5,791)  (2,116)  (3,963)  553
 Capital contribution by

  non-controlling interests  – 45 – –

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (62,362) 9,649 54,029 (6,063)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

 Proceeds from private placement  17,433 – 17,433 –

 Proceeds from exercise of warrants  – 15 – 15 
 Drawdown of borrowings  12,775 117,337 – 14,416 
 Drawdown of finance lease liabilities  – 1,800 – 1,800 
 Repayment of finance lease liabilities  – (3,214) – (651)
 Drawdown of lease liabilities  265 – 265 –
 Repayment of lease liabilities  (4,700) – (1,053) –
 Repayment of borrowings  (21,029) (49,467) (76,433) (31,750)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  4,744  66,471 (59,788) (16,170)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash

 and cash equivalents  59,196  (8,138) 22,810 (4,900)
Exchange translation differences on
 cash and cash equivalents   (92) (28) – (5)
Cash and cash equivalents at the

 beginning of the financial year   (12,779) (4,613) (5,876) (971)

Cash and cash equivalents at the

 end of the financial year (Note 19)  46,325  (12,779) 16,934 (5,876)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF

CASH FLOWS
(cont’d)
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on 

the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

 The principal place of business of the Company is located at No.18, Jalan 17/155C, Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 
Kuala Lumpur. With effect from 3 January 2020, the Company’s principal office has been changed to Level 
18, Ho Hup Tower, No.1, Jalan Persiaran Jalil 1, Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur.

 The registered office of the Company is located at No. 47-5, The Boulevard, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed 
Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur. With effect from 7 January 2020, the Company’s registered office has been 
changed to Ho Hup Tower - Aurora Place, 2-07-01 - Level 7, Plaza Bukit Jalil, No. 1, Jalan Persiaran Jalil 1, 
Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur.

 The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding, foundation engineering, civil 

engineering, building contracting works and the provision of management services for subsidiary companies. 
The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 10. There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

Adoption of new and amended standards

 During the financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted the following new MFRSs, 
amendments to MFRSs and new IC interpretation issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(“MASB”) that are mandatory for current financial year:

MFRS 16
IC Interpretations 23

Amendments to MFRS 9
Amendments to MFRS 119
Amendments to MFRS 128
Amendments to MFRS 15
Amendments to MFRS 140
Annual Improvements to MFRSs
 2015 - 2017 Cycle

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Prepayments Features with Negative Compensation
Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement
Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Clarification to MFRS 15
Transfer of Investment Property

Amendments to MFRS 3
Amendments to MFRS 11
Amendments to MFRS 112
Amendments to MFRS 123

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d)

Adoption of new and amended standards (cont’d)

 The adoption of the new amendments to MFRSs did not have any significant impact on the financial 
statements of the Group and the Company except for:

MFRS 16 Leases

 MFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determine 

whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and IC 

Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

 As a result of the adoption of MFRS 16, the existing requirements for a lessee to distinguish between 
finance leases and operating leases under the MFRS 117 Leases are no longer required. MFRS 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for 

all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, 
under MFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset representing its right to 
use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 

Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the ROU asset and interest on the lease liability, 

and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion 
and presents them in the statement of cash flows.

 The ROU asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The measurement 

includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if 

the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option 
to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different from the lessee accounting 
for leases that are classified as operating leases under the predecessor standard, MFRS 117.

 In respect of the lessor accounting, MFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 
requirements in MFRS 117. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or 
finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

 As permitted by the transitional provision of MFRS 16, the Group has elected to adopt a simplified 
transition approach where cumulative effects of initial application are recognised on 1 January 2019 as 
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.

 For leases that were classified as finance lease under MFRS 117, the carrying amounts of the ROU 
asset and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 are determined to be the same as the carrying amount 
of the lease asset and lease liability under MFRS 117 immediately before that date.
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NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d)

Adoption of new and amended standards (cont’d)

MFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)

 The Group has also applied the following practical expedients when applying MFRS 16 to lease previously 
classified as operating lease under MFRS 117:

• Applied a single discount rate to portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

• The Group does not apply the standard to leases which lease terms end within 12 months from 1 
January 2019.

• No adjustments are made on transition for leases for which the underlying assets are of low value.

• Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the ROU assets at the date of initial application.

• The Group uses hindsight in determining lease terms for contracts that contain options for extension 
or termination.

Impact arising from the adoption of MFRS 16 on the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements:

    As at MFRS 16 As at

    31.12.2018 adjustment 1.1.2019

    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Property, plant and equipment    149,834 (10,972) 138,862 
Right-of-use assets   – 12,690 12,690 

Finance lease liabilities   (8,487) 8,487 –
Lease liabilities   – (10,240) (10,240)

Retained earnings   (186,499) 35 (186,464)

Company

Property, plant and equipment    4,536  (246) 4,290 
Right-of-use assets   – 246 246 

Finance lease payable   (1,243) 1,243 –
Lease liabilities   – (1,243) (1,243)
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NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d)

Adoption of new and amended standards (cont’d)

MFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)

 The following table explains the difference between operating lease commitments disclosed applying 
MFRS 117 at 31 December 2018, and lease liabilities recognised in the statements of financial position 
at 1 January 2019.

     Group Company

     RM’000 RM’000

Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018  632 62 
Discounted using the incremental borrowings rate
 at 1 January 2019    (42) –
Add: Transfer from finance lease obligations
    upon initial application of MFRS 16   8,487 1,243 
 Extention option reasonably certain to be exercised  1,225 –
Less: Recognition exemption for short term leases  (62) (62)

      10,240 1,243 

Standards issued but not yet effective

 The Group and the Company have not applied the following new MFRSs, IC Interpretations and 
amendments to MFRSs that have been issued by the MASB but are not yet effective for the Group and 
the Company:

Effective dates for
financial periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
 in MFRS Standards

1 January 2020

Amendments to MFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
Amendments to MFRS 9,
 MFRS 139 and MFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020

Amendments to MFRS 101
 and MFRS 108

Definition of Material 1 January 2020

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
Amendments to MFRS 101 Classification of Liabilities as

 Current and Non-current  

 1 January 2022

Amendments to MFRS 10
 and MFRS 128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
 an Investor and its Associate or

 Joint Venture

Deferred until

further notice

The Group and the Company intend to adopt the above MFRSs when they become effective.

 The initial application of the abovementioned MFRSs are not expected to have any significant impacts 
on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(b) Basis of measurement

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical 
cost basis, unless otherwise indicated in the significant accounting policies in Note 3.

(c) Functional and Presentation Currencies

 These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
except when otherwise stated.

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

 There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than 
those disclosed in the following notes:

Revenue and cost recognition on construction contracts and property development activities

 The Group and the Company recognise contract or property development revenue and expenses in 
the profit or loss by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by 
the proportion that contract or property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to 
the estimated total contract or property development costs.

 Significant judgement is involved in determining the stage of completion, extent of costs incurred and 
estimated total costs, as well as appropriateness of provision for liquidated ascertained damages. 

 Where the total actual revenue and cost incurred are different from the total estimated revenue and cost 
incurred, such differences will impact the contract profit or losses recognised.

 The carrying amount of property development costs and contract assets/liabilities arising from performance 
under construction contracts at the reporting date are disclosed in Notes 7(i) and 14 respectively.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont’d)

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee

 The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

 The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew 
or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it 

to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the 
lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects 
its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use (“ROU”) assets

 The Group regularly reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and ROU assets 
based on factors such as business plan and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological 
developments. Future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates 
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of 

property, plant and equipment and ROU assets would increase the recorded depreciation and decrease 
the value of property, plant and equipment and ROU assets. The carrying amount of the plant and 

equipment and ROU assets are disclosed in Notes 4 and 9.

Impairment of goodwill and land rights

 The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting 
policy in Note 3(o)(ii) on impairment of non-financial assets. The Group also assesses impairment of 
land rights whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable (i.e. carrying amount is more than the recoverable amount).

 When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows 
from the cash generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 

of those cash flows. The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgement 
and estimations. While the Group believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, 

significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable amounts 
and may lead to future impairment losses. Their carrying amounts as at end of the reporting period and 

key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of goodwill are given in Note 6.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont’d)

Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies

 The Company reviews its investments in subsidiary companies when there are indicators of impairment. 
Impairment is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an investment with its recoverable amount. 
Significant judgement is required in determining the recoverable amount. Estimating the recoverable 
amount requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to determine a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 

of those cash flows.

 The carrying amount at the reporting date for investments in subsidiary companies is disclosed in Note 

10.

Provision for ECLs of trade receivables and contract assets

 The Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor and default or significant delay in payments in calculating ECLs for trade receivables and 
contract assets. The amount and timing of future cash flows are then estimated based on historical 
credit loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics and adjusted with forward-looking 
information such as forecast economic conditions. The assessment of the correlation between historical 
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount 
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s 

historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
customer’s actual default in the future. 

 The information about the ECLs on the Group’s contract assets and trade receivables is disclosed in 

Notes 14 and 15 respectively.

Discount rate used in leases

 Where the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental 

borrowing rate to measure the lease liabilities. The incremental borrowing rate is the interest rate that 
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. Therefore, the incremental 

borrowing rate requires estimation, particularly when no observable rates are available or when they 
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019     ·        HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)

117

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont’d)

Income taxes

 Judgement is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions 
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business.

 The Group recognises liabilities for tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these tax matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and/or deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies set out below, consistently throughout 
all periods presented in the financial statements unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiary companies

 Subsidiary companies are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. 

 Subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary company is the fair values of the assets transferred, 

the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by 
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 

from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in business combination are measured initially at their fair values 

at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an 

acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate 

share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed off in profit or loss as incurred.

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 

in the acquiree is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is 

recognised in profit or loss.
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(cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i) Subsidiary companies (cont’d)

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end to the reporting period 

in which the combinations occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which 
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 

period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date), or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at 
the acquisition date, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated only if there is no indication of 

impairment. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiary companies have been changed 

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are stated 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. Where 
an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount. See accounting policy Note 3(o)(ii) to the financial 
statements on impairment of non-financial assets.

(ii) Change in ownership interests in subsidiary companies without change of control

 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The 
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the 
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary company is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on 

disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(iii) Disposal of subsidiary companies

 If the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 

company, including any goodwill, and non-controlling interests are derecognised at their carrying 
value on the date that control is lost. Any remaining investment in the entity is recognised at 

fair value. The difference between the fair value of consideration received and the amounts 
derecognised and the remaining fair value of the investment is recognised as a gain or loss on 

disposal in profit or loss. Any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets 

or liabilities. 
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(cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(iv)  Goodwill on consolidation

 The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the 

acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the 
total consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 

measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary company 

acquired (ie. a bargain purchase), the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequent when 
there is objective evidence that the carrying amount may be impaired. See accounting policy Note 
3(o)(ii) to the financial statements on impairment of non-financial assets.

(b) Investments in associates and joint ventures 

 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.

 A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing 
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

 On acquisition of an investment in an associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 
is recognised as goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee over the cost 
of investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income 
in the determination of the Group’s share of associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss for the period in 
which the investment is acquired.

 An associate or a joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes 
an associate or a joint venture. Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an 

associate or a joint venture is recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased 

to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or 
joint venture after the date of acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate or a joint 

venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 

the associate or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

 Profits or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its 
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the 
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.

 The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting 
date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 

with those of the Group. 

 Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group 
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair 
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are stated 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the differences between 
net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. When an indication 
of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount. See accounting policy Note 3(o)(ii) to the financial statements on impairment 
of non-financial assets.

(c) Interests in joint operations

 A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about 
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

 The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint 
operation in accordance with the MFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses.

 Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint operation are recognised 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in 
the joint operation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group 

entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period 

are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the 

end of the reporting date, except for those that are measured at fair value which are retranslated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

 Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
differences arising on the retranslation of equity instruments where they are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or a financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, 
which are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 In the consolidated financial statements, when settlement of a monetary item receivable from 
or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, 

foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part 
of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, 

and are presented in the foreign currency translation reserve (“FCTR”) in equity.

(ii) Foreign operations 

 The assets and liabilities of operations denominated in functional currencies other than RM, including 

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to RM at exchange rates 
at the end of the reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign operations, excluding 
foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to RM at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions.

 Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the FCTR in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant 
proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When 
a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the 
cumulative amount in the FCTR related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a 

subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 

reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in 

an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence 
or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses.

 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. 

For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy 
on borrowing costs. Cost also may include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying 
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. 

 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment. 

 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing 

the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is 
recognised net in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 

the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the component will flow to the Group or the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced component is de recognised to profit or loss. The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components 
of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the 
remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately.

 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they are 

available for use. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful 

lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term. Freehold land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment under construction are not 
depreciated until the assets are ready for their intended use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(iii) Depreciation (cont’d)

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets 

as follows:
 

Buildings 50 years
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 5 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Plant and machinery  3 - 20 years

Renovations 10 years

Tools and technical equipment 5 - 10 years

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at end of the reporting period, 
and adjusted as appropriate.

Leasehold land and buildings

 The above accounting policies for property, plant and equipment applies to leasehold land and 

buildings until 31 December 2018. The leasehold land and buildings were depreciated over the 
remaining lease period.

 Following the adoption of MFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, the Group and the Company have 
reclassified the carrying amount of the leasehold land and building to ROU assets. The policy 
of recognition and measurement of the right-of-use assets is in accordance with Note 3(j) to the 
financial statements.

(f) Intangible assets

(i) Intangible assets acquired separately

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation 

methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are 
acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

(ii) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are 
initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as 

intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(f) Intangible assets (cont’d)

(iii) Derecognition of intangible assets

 An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured 

as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

See accounting policy Note 3(o)(ii) on impairment of non-financial assets for intangible assets. 

(g) Inventories and other contract costs

Inventories and other contract costs are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(i) Land held for property development

 The cost of land held for property development is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The cost of land held for property development consists of the purchase price of the land, 

professional fees, stamp duties, commissions, conversion fees, other relevant levies and direct 

development cost incurred in preparing the land for development.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated cost of completion and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

 Land held for property development for which no significant development work has been undertaken 
or where development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating 
cycle, is classified as non-current asset.

 Land held for property development is transferred to property development costs (under current 

assets) when development activities have commenced and where development activities can be 
completed within the Group’s normal operating cycle.

(ii) Property development costs

 Cost is determined based on a specific identification basis. Property development costs comprising 
costs of land, land enhancement costs, direct materials, direct labour, other direct costs, attributable 

overheads and payments to sub-contractors that meet the definition of inventories are recognised 
as an asset and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 

and applicable selling expenses. The property development costs is subsequently recognised as 
an expense in income statements when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

 Property development costs for which work has been undertaken and development activities are 
expected to be completed within the Group’s normal operating cycle, is classified as current asset.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(g) Inventories and other contract costs (cont’d)

(iii)  Completed properties held for sale

 The cost of completed properties is stated at the lower of historical cost and net realisable value. 
Historical cost includes, where relevant, cost associated with the acquisition of land, including all 
related costs incurred subsequent to the acquisition necessary to prepare the land for its intended 

case, related development costs to projects, direct building costs and other costs of bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less applicable 

variable selling expenses.

(iv) Construction materials

The cost of construction materials is stated at the lower of historical cost and net realisable value.

 The cost of inventories is calculated using the first-in, first-out method, and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in 

bringing them to existing location and condition. In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, 
cost includes an appropriate share of production overhead based on normal operating capacity.

 Net realisable value in the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 

cost of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

(v) Other contract costs

 Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or 
the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory (see Note 3(g)
(i)-(iv)), property, plant and equipment (see Note 3(e)) or intangible assets (see Note 3(f)).

 Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract 

with a customer that it would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which 
will be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other 
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

 Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a 
specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to 
provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly 
to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour, 
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other 
costs that are incurred only because the Group entered into the contract. Other costs of fulfilling a 
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, 
are expensed as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(g) Inventories and other contract costs (cont’d)

(v) Other contract costs (cont’d)

  Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract cost asset 
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in 
exchange for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly 
to providing those goods or services that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

 Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or loss when the revenue to which 
the asset relates is recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note 

3(t).

(h) Contract assets/Contract liabilities

 A contract asset is recognised when the Group’s or the Company’s right to consideration is conditional 
on something other than the passage of time. A contract asset is subject to impairment in accordance 

to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (see Note 3(o)(i)).

 A contract liability is stated at cost and represents the obligation of the Group or the Company to transfer 

goods or services to a customer for which consideration has been received (or the amount is due) from 
the customers.

(i) quarry development expenditure

 Quarry development expenditure comprises direct cost of development, cost of site infrastructure 
and other related expenses. Quarry development expenditure is amortised upon commencement of 
commercial rock extraction activities. Quarry development expenditure is amortised over the lease term 
of 10 years. The quarry development expenditure is written off immediately to profit or loss to the extent 
that the unamortised balance is no longer probable of being recovered.

(j) Leases

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

As lessee

 The Group and the Company recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 

commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial 
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, 

plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 

asset or to restore the underlying asset or site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation, accumulated 

impairment loss and, if applicable, adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The policy of 

recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(o)(ii) to the financial 
statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(j) Leases (cont’d)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (cont’d)

As lessee (cont’d)

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 

date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 

estimated useful lives of the right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, 

plant and equipment as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2 %, or over the lease term, if shorter

Plant and machinery 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
Tools and technical equipment 10 years

The ROU assets are subject to impairment.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease payments at the commencement 

date, discounted using the Group’s and the Company’s incremental borrowing rates. Lease payments 
included in the measurement of the lease liability include fixed payments, any variable lease payments, 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and exercise price under an extension 
option that the Group and the Company are reasonably certain to exercise.

 Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate and are dependent on a future activity 
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs.

 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in rate, or if the Group or the 
Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise an extension or termination option.

 Lease payments associated with short term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised on 
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option. Low value assets are those assets valued at 
less than RM20,000 each when purchased new.

As lessor

 When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease. Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. 

 If the lease arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Company apply MFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate the consideration in the contract based on the 
stand-alone selling price.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(j) Leases (cont’d)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (cont’d)

As lessor (cont’d)

 The Company recognise assets held under a finance lease in its statement of financial position and 
presents them as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The Company 

use the interest rate implicit in the lease to measure the net investment in the lease.

 The Company recognises lease payments under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term unless another systematic basis is more representative of the pattern in which benefit 
from the use of the underlying asset is diminished. The lease payment recognised is included as part of 

“Other income”. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 

to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as 

rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

(i) Finance lease

 Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assume substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with 
the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss. 
Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the 

remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

 Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as a property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Operating lease

 Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating 
lease, the leased assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest 
held under an operating lease, which is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or 
both, is classified as investment property and measured using fair value model.

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral 
part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit 
or loss in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid lease payments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(k) Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 

both. Investment properties are measured at cost, including transaction costs, less any accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses.

 The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time 
that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of 
an investment property.

 Investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follow:

Buildings 50 years

 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each reporting date.

 Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is assessed and written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. See accounting policy Note 3(o)(ii) to the financial statements 
on impairment of non-financial assets.

 Investment properties are derecognised upon disposal or when they are permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from their disposal. Upon disposal, the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, bank overdrafts 

and highly liquid investments that are readily converted to known amount of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.

(m) Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

 A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

 A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) or a 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issuance. A trade 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract where the host contract 
is not a financial asset, and accounted for separately if, and only if, the derivative is not closely 
related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative 
is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the 
host contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii)  Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

 Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group or the Company changes its business 

model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on 
the first day of the first reporting period following the change of the business model.

(a)  Amortised cost 

 Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value 
through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by 
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 3(o)(i)) where the effective interest rate 
is applied to the amortised cost.

(b)  Fair value through other comprehensive income 

(i)  Debt investments 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income category comprises debt investment 
where it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the debt investment, and its contractual terms give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding. The debt investment is not designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other 
net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, 

gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss. Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 3(o)(i)) where the 
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2019     ·        HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)

131

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii)  Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

(b)  Fair value through other comprehensive income (cont’d) 

(ii) Equity investments

 This category comprises investment in equity that is not held for trading, and the Group 

and the Company irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s 

fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-

by-investment basis. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the 
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of investment. Other net gains 

and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and 

losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are not reclassified to profit or loss.

(c)  Fair value through profit or loss 

 All financial assets not measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income as described above are measured at fair value through profit or loss. This includes 
derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument). On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably designate a 

financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or loss if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise. Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
measured at their fair value. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income, 

are recognised in the profit or loss. 

 All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, are subject to impairment 

assessment (see Note 3(o)(i)).

Financial liabilities

The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows: 

(a)  Fair value through profit or loss 

 Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are derivatives 
(except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 
hedging instrument), contingent consideration in a business combination and financial 
liabilities that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Financial instruments (cont’d)

(ii)  Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

Financial liabilities (cont’d)

(a)  Fair value through profit or loss (cont’d)

 On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably designate a financial liability 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at fair value 
through profit or loss: 

(a) if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise;

(b) a group of financial liabilities or assets and financial liabilities is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally 

on that basis to the Group’s key management personnel; or

(c) if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not a financial 
asset in the scope of MFRS 9, where the embedded derivative significantly modifies the 
cash flows and separation is not prohibited. 

 Financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured 
at their fair value with gains or losses, including any interest expense are recognised in the 
profit or loss. 

 For financial liabilities where it is designated as fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition, the Group and the Company recognise the amount of change in fair value of the 

financial liability that is attributable to change in credit risk in the other comprehensive income 
and remaining amount of the change in fair value in the profit or loss, unless the treatment 
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch.

(b)  Amortised cost 

 Other financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and 
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Any gains or losses 
on derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Financial instruments (cont’d)

(iii)  Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 

 A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, 
using trade date or settlement date accounting in the current year. 

Trade date accounting refers to: 

(a)  the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and 

(b)  derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the 

recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date. 

Settlement date accounting refers to: 

(a)  the recognition of an asset on the day it is received by the Group or the Company, and 

(b)  derecognition of an asset and recognition of any gain or loss on disposal on the day that is 

delivered by the Group or the Company. 

 Any change in the fair value of the asset to be received during the period between the trade date 
and the settlement date is accounted in the same way as it accounts for the acquired asset. 

 Generally, the Group or the Company applies trade date accounting unless otherwise stated for 
the specific class of asset.

(iv)  Financial guarantee contracts 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when 
due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

 Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured 
at higher of: 

•  the amount of the loss allowance; and

•  the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised in accordance to the principles of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers. 

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are presented together with other provisions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Financial instruments (cont’d)

(v) Derecognition 

 A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire or transferred, or control of the asset is not retained 
or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to 
another party. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial asset and the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained 
less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

 A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also derecognised when its terms 
are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case, 
a new financial liability based on modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a 
financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred 

or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(vi)  Offsetting 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group or the Company currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and liability simultaneously.

(n) Compound financial instruments

 A compound financial instrument is a non-derivative financial instrument that contains both a liability 
and an equity component. 

 Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes that can be converted 
to share capital at the option of the holder, when the number of shares to be issued does not vary with 
changes in their fair value. 

 The proceeds are first allocated to the liability component, determined based on the fair value of a similar 
liability that does not have a conversion feature or similar associated equity component. The residual 

amount is allocated as the equity component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated 

to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 

 Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial 
instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 

 Interest and losses and gains relating to the financial liability are recognised in profit or loss. On 
conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity; no gain or loss is recognised on conversion.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(o) Impairment

(i) Financial assets

 The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, contract assets and lease receivables. Expected credit losses are a 
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. 

 The Group and the Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit loss, except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date, cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss 
allowances for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables are always measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company consider 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 

historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, 
where available. 

 Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are the portion 
of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses 
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit 
risk. 

 The Group and the Company estimate the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a 
provision matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience.

 An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in 
profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. An impairment loss in respect of debt investments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss and the allowance account is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

 At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets carried at 
amortised cost and debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are credit-

impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the 
Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 

sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that 
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
or the Company’s procedures for recovery amounts due. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(o) Impairment (cont’d)

(ii) Other assets 

 The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories and contract assets) are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount 
is estimated each period at the same time. 

 For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or cash-generating units. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for 
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired 
in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a cash-generating 

unit or a group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 

its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating 
unit.

 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating 

unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts 

of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (groups of cash-generating units) on a pro rata 

basis.

 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any 

indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment 

losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(p) Equity instrument

(i) Issue expenses

 Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a 
deduction from equity.

(ii) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(iii) Preference share

 Preference share is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or is redeemable but only at the 
Company’s option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as 

distributions within equity.

 Preference share is classified as financial liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the 
option of the equity holders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are 

recognised as interest expense in profit or loss as accrued.

(iv) Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

 When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, 

including directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
Repurchased shares that are not subsequently cancelled are classified as treasury shares in the 
statement of changes in equity. 

 When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the difference between the sales 
consideration net of directly attributable costs and the carrying amount of the treasury shares is 

recognised in equity.

(v) Distributions of assets to owners of the Company

 The Group measures a liability to distribute assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company at 
the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured 

at each reporting period and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity 
as adjustments to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group 

recognises the difference, if any, between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the 
carrying amount of the liability in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(q) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 

finance cost.

 Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to 
the obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of 
the related provision. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the 
reporting period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensation absences. Short 
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick and medical leave are recognised 

when the absences occur.

 The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount 
expected to be paid as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the end of the 
reporting period.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

 As required by law, companies in Malaysia contribute to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). 
Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. Once the 
contributions have been paid, the Group have no further payment obligations. 

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

 The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for the employees of the 

Group. Employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share options is recognised as 
an expense in the profit or loss over the vesting periods of the grant with a corresponding increase 
in equity.

 For options granted to the employees of the subsidiary companies, the fair value of the options 
granted is recognised as cost of investment in the subsidiary companies over the vesting period 

with a corresponding adjustment to equity in the Company’s financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(r) Employee benefits (cont’d)

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment transaction (cont’d)

 The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair 
value of the share options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included 
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to be vested. At the end of each 
reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share options that are expected 
to be vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the profit or 
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

 When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net 
of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital when the options are 
exercised. When options are not exercised and lapsed, the share option reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings.

(s) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All 

other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.

 The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary 
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is 
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for 
its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

(t) Revenue and other income 

 Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of 
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s 

business. 

 Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, or the 
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is 
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue is after 
deduction of any trade discounts.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(t) Revenue and other income (cont’d)

 Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the 
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, 

discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the 
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where the 
contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, 
revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability 
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 
63 of MFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing component 
if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Construction contracts

 A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a construction contract when the contract 
relates to work on assets under the control of the customer and therefore the Group’s construction 
activities create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

 When the outcome of a construction contract can be reasonably measured, revenue from the 

contract is recognised progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the 

proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

 The likelihood of the Group suffering contractual penalties for late completion are taken into 
account in making these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not 
occur. 

 When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only 

to the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered. 

 If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to exceed the remaining amount of 
the consideration under the contract, then a provision is recognised in accordance with the policy 
set out in Note 3(q).

(b) Revenue from property development

 Property development contracts with customers may include multiple promises to customers and 
are accounted for as separate performance obligations. Transaction price will be allocated to 
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. When these are not directly 

observable, they are estimated based on expected cost-plus margin.

 Revenue from property development is recognised as and when the control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to 
the contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset 

is transferred over time if the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative 
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 

to-date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(t) Revenue and other income (cont’d)

(b) Revenue from property development (cont’d)

 If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by 

using an input method which is based on cost incurred to-date relative to the total expected cost 
to the satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in 
time when the customer obtains control of the asset.

 The Group recognises sales at a point in time for the sale of completed properties, when the control 
of the properties has been transferred to the purchasers, being when the properties have been 
completed and delivered to the customers.

(c) Sale of goods

 Revenue from sale of goods and services is recognised at a point in time when control of the 
assets is transferred to the customer, generally on the delivery of the goods.

(d) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss 
except for interest income arising from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically for the 
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset which is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy on borrowing costs.

(e) Rental income from operating lease

 Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments 
over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative 
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(f) Management fee

Management fee is recognised when services are rendered.

(u) Income tax

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income. 

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous financial years. 
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(cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(u) Income tax (cont’d)

 Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 Where investment properties are carried at their fair value, the amount of deferred tax recognised is 
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the 
reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held with the objective to consume substantially 
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other 
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation 
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised. 

 Unutilised reinvestment allowance and investment tax allowance, being tax incentives that is not a tax 
base of an asset, is recognised as a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future 
taxable profits will be available against which the unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

(v) Operating segments

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the 
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 

to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(w) Contingencies

(i)  Contingent liabilities

 

 Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 
be estimated reliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is 
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(ii)  Contingent assets

 When an inflow of economic benefit of an asset is probable where it arises from past events 
and where existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity, the asset is not recognised in 
the statements of financial position but is being disclosed as a contingent asset. When the inflow 
of economic benefit is virtually certain, then the related asset is recognised.

(x) Fair value measurement

 Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction 
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a 

principal market, in the most advantageous market.

 For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. When measuring the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair value is categorised 
into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used in the valuation technique as follows:

 

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 

can access at the measurement date.

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event 
or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(a) The aggregate additional cost for the property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company 

during the financial year acquired under term loan and finance lease financing and cash payments are 
as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Aggregate costs  66,987 9,570 2,337 4,125 
Less: Finance lease financing  – (94) – (94)
Less: Term loan financing   (526) (5,081) – –
Less: Interest capitalised   (1,817) (4,248) – –

Cash payments  64,644  147 2,337 4,031 

(b) Assets held under finance leases

 At 31 December 2018, the net carrying amount of leased plant and machinery, and motor vehicles of 
the Group and of the Company were RM10,569,000 and RM90,000 respectively. Leased assets are 
pledged as security for the related lease liabilities.

 Following the adoption of MFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, the Group and the Company had reclassified 
the carrying the amount of leased assets to ROU assets (Note 9).

(c) Assets pledged as securities to licensed banks

 

 The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately RM11,567,000 (2018: 
RM129,470,000) is pledged as securities for bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 24.

(d) Capitalisation of the borrowing costs

 The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the financial year was approximately RM1,817,000 
(2018: RM4,248,000) as disclosed in Note 30.

(e) Included in depreciation charged of the Group for the financial year is RM344,000 (2018: RM336,000) 
being capitalised into quarry development cost.
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000 

Cost

At 1 January     13,990   13,990 
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 4)    112,760  –

At 31 December     126,750   13,990 
   

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January     442   163 
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 4)    72  –

Charge for the financial year     1,608   279 

At 31 December     2,122   442 

Carrying amount

At 31 December     124,628   13,548 
 

(a) Fair values of investment properties were based on internal appraisal using comparison method and 
valuations performed by an accredited independent firm of professional valuers based on the comparison 
method. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key 
attributes such as location, property type and size. The most significant input into this valuation approach 
is price per square foot of comparable properties.

 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

     Level 2   Level 3   Total 

    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2019

Investment properties   110,000  29,922  139,922

2018     

Investment properties   –  15,641  15,641
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)

(b) Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000 

Rental income       1,214   287 
Direct operating expenses:
- Income generating investment properties     104   55 

 

(c) Investment properties pledged as securities to financial institutions

 Investment properties of the Group amounting to approximately RM118,227,000 (2018: RM13,548,000) 
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 24.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

   Goodwill on   Land    quarrying

  Software Consolidation Rights  Right

  (Note a)  (Note b)  (Note c)  (Note d)  Total

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2019  151  10,978  93,550  2,500  107,179 
Exchange differences  2  – – –  2
 

At 31 December 2019  153   10,978   93,550   2,500   107,181 

Amortisation

At 1 January 2019  56  – – 1,430  1,486 
Amortisation for the

 financial year  15  –  3,390   114   3,519 
Exchange differences  2  – – –  2 

At 31 December 2019  73  –  3,390   1,544   5,007 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2019  80   10,978   90,160   956   102,174
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

   Goodwill on   Land    quarrying

  Software Consolidation Rights  Right

  (Note a)  (Note b)  (Note c)  (Note d)  Total

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2018  168   10,978   93,550   2,500   107,196 
Exchange differences  (17) – – –  (17)

At 31 December 2018  151   10,978   93,550   2,500   107,179 

Amortisation

At 1 January 2018  46  – –  1,316   1,362 
Amortisation for the

 financial year  14  – –  114   128 
Exchange differences  (4) – – –  (4)

At 31 December 2018  56  – –  1,430   1,486 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2018  95   10,978   93,550   1,070   105,693 

(a) Software

 This represent accounting software and is assessed to have useful lives of 5 years. The amortisation 
period are reviewed at least annually for appropriateness.

(b) Goodwill on consolidation

 The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit (“CGU”) are as 
follows:

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000 

Golden Wave Sdn. Bhd.     187   187 
Intact Corporate Approach Sdn. Bhd.    7,842   7,842 
Ho Hup Quarries (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd.    2,949   2,949
 

      10,978  10,978 
     

 The recoverable amounts of CGUs in respect of the goodwill were determined based on value-in-use 
(“VIU”) calculations. Cash flow projections used in these calculations were based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a three to five-year period.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

(b) Goodwill on consolidation (cont’d)

 Key assumptions used in the VIU calculations for the goodwill impairment assessment are selling price 
per square foot, average room rate, occupancy rate, operating costs and margin. The values assigned 

to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and are 

based on both external sources and internal sources. 

 A pre-tax discount rates of 7% to 10% (2018: 7% to 10%) were applied in determining the recoverable 
amounts of the CGUs. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the 
respective CGU.

 Based on the impairment test, no impairment is required for the goodwill.

 A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions would not result in any impairment.

(c) Land rights

(i) Land right over a leasehold land measuring 5 acres in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.

 The said property is a parcel of commercial land with Approved Development Plan for a block of 
14 storey hotel, 14 storey service apartment and 2 levels of retails. The lease term of the land is 

99 years, expiring on 31 December 2111. The carrying amount of the land right is approximately 
RM72.05 million (2018: RM75.44 million) and is amortised based on the percentage of completion 
over the development period.

(ii) Land right over a leasehold land measuring 429 acres in Kulai, Johor. 

 The said property is a parcel of land for township mixed development with a combined estimated 
land area of 429 acres located off Jalan Kulai-Kota Tinggi, in the Mukim of Ulu Sungai Johor, 
District of Kota Tinggi, Johor Darul Ta’zim.

 The lease term of the land is 99 years, expiring on 12 January 2103. The carrying amount of the 
land right is approximately RM18.11 million (2018: RM18.11 million) and is amortised based on 
the percentage of completion over the development period.

(d) quarrying right

 This represents payment made by a subsidiary company to undertake, operate, manage and control 

the quarry operation project on an area located at Taboh Naning, Alor Gajah, Melaka, which beneficially 
owned by Kolej Teknologi Islam Melaka Berhad. The quarrying right is expiring on 25 March 2028. 
Included in amortisation charged of the Group for the financial year is approximately RM114,000 (2018: 
RM114,000) being capitalised into quarry development cost.
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7. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

 Non-current

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

Land held for property development

Freehold land and development cost

 At 1 January     9,913   9,882 
 Additions     4,000 31

 

 At 31 December    13,913   9,913 

 The freehold land held by the Group under individual title Geran 42277, Lot No. 36101, Mukim of Petaling, 

Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan, measuring land area of approximately 60 acres 
(243,000 square metres) has been subdivided into 6 individual titles. In accordance with the terms of the 
Joint Development Agreement between Bukit Jalil Development Sdn. Bhd. and Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd. 
(“PHSB”), land held under Geran 78077, Lot No. 101461 have been subdivided into four (4) individual titles 
with land area of 201,554 square metres which was charged to financial institutions for a syndicated term 
loan and bridging loan facility for PHSB.

 The land title Geran 79552, Lot No. 101901 (previously known as H.S.(D) 119869, PT15292), Mukim Petaling, 
Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan, Kuala Lumpur with land area of 9,693 square metres 
with total carrying amount of RM13.91 million (2018: RM9.91 million) is charged to a licensed bank for banking 
facilities as disclosed in Note 24.

 Current

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

  

Property development cost (i)     302,720   413,807 
Contract materials (ii)     442   468 
Other contract costs (iii)    1,787   873 

     304,949   415,148
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(cont’d)

7. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS (CONT’D)

(i) Property development cost

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

Property development costs

Freehold land, at cost

 At 1 January     66,270   66,270 
 Less: Reversal of completed projects    (7,032) – 

 At 31 December     59,238   66,270 

Leasehold land, at cost

 At 1 January     114,749   114,749 
 Additions     1,000  – 

 At 31 December     115,749   114,749 
      

Property development costs

 At 1 January     471,175   382,857 
 Addition during the financial year    131,440   88,445 
 Less: Reversal of completed projects    (334,721) – 

 Less: Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 4)   (138,498) – 
 Exchange differences     55   (127)

 At 31 December                            129,451   471,175 

Cost recognised in the statements

 of profit or loss and other
 comprehensive income

 At 1 January     238,387   221,412 
 Recognised during the financial year    84,310   16,975 
 Reversal of completed projects     (320,979) –

 

 At 31 December     1,718   238,387 
      

Total property development costs    302,720   413,807 
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7. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS (CONT’D)

Current (cont’d)

(i) Property development cost (cont’d)

 In the previous year, the land title Geran 78076, Lot No. 101462, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala Lumpur, 
Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur with land area of 24,330 square metres with carrying amount 
of RM105.23 million was charged to a licensed bank for banking facilities as disclosed in Note 24.

 The leasehold land held by the Group under Town lease no. 017561536, District of Kota Kinabalu, Negeri 
Sabah measuring land area of approximately 5 acres was acquired in accordance with the terms of Joint 
Venture Agreement and Power of Attorney between the Golden Wave Sdn Bhd and The Mayor of The 
City of Kota Kinabalu. As at 31 December 2019, the land and related development costs with carrying 
values of RM207.35 million (2018: RM160.48 million) is pledged to a licensed bank for banking facilities 
as disclosed in Note 24.

 A parcel of leasehold land under HSD 43611, Lot No. PTD 14193, Mukim Ulu Sungai Johor, Daerah Kota 
Tinggi, Johor Darul Ta’zim, totaling 98.8 acres was acquired in accordance with the terms of the sale 
and purchase agreement between ICA and YPJ Plantations Sdn Bhd. The lease term of the land is 99 
years, expiring on 12 January 2103. The land and related development costs with carrying amount of 
RM43.09 million (2018: RM36.25 million) is pledged to a licensed bank for banking facilities as disclosed 
in Note 24. 

 During the financial year, the following costs are capitalised to property development costs:

  Group

    2019 2018

   Note RM’000 RM’000

Finance costs   30  10,875   7,112 
Staff costs   35  881   979 

(ii)    Contract materials

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

Recognised in profit or loss:
Inventories recognised as cost of sales     33,571   43,835 
Write-down to net reliasable valule    – 7

 The write-down is included in cost of sales.
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7. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS (CONT’D)

(iii) Other contract costs

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

Costs to obtain contracts     1,787  873

 Costs to obtain contracts relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose 
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the group’s 

properties which are still under construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as 
part of “costs of sales” in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related 
property sales is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the 
year was approximately RM319,000 (2018: RM82,000). There was no impairment loss in relation to the 
costs capitalised.

8. qUARRY DEVELOPMENT COST

  Group

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At beginning of the financial year     5,787   4,034 
Additions     1,259   1,753
 

At the end of the financial year     7,046   5,787 

Carrying amount     7,046  5,787 

 Included in the quarry development cost incurred during the financial year is the following:

  Group

    2019 2018

   Note RM’000 RM’000

Depreciation   4(e)  344   336 

Amortisation   6(d)  114   114
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9. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

  Leasehold Plant  Tools and

  land and and Motor  technical

  buildings machinery vehicles equipment Total

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2019 

Cost

At 1 January – – – – –
Effect of adopting
 MFRS 16  3,080   7,027   7,268  –  17,375 

At 1 January,
 as restated  3,080   7,027   7,268  –  17,375 
Addition  9,790  – –  1,350   11,140 

At 31 December  12,870   7,027   7,268   1,350   28,515 

Accumulated

 depreciation

At 1 January – – – – –
Effect of adopting
 MFRS 16  959   1,142   2,584  –  4,685 

At 1 January,
 as restated  959   1,142   2,584  –  4,685 
Charge for the

 financial year  896   703   759   67   2,425 

At 31 December  1,855   1,845   3,343   67   7,110 

Carrying Amount

At 31 December  11,015   5,182   3,925   1,283   21,405
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9. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONT’D)

   Leasehold   Tools and
   land and Motor  technical
   buildings vehicles equipment Total
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company
2019
Cost
At 1 January  – – – –
Effect of adopting MFRS 16   354   95  –  449 

At 1 January, as restated   354   95  –  449 
Addition  – –  1,350   1,350 

At 31 December   354   95   1,350   1,799 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January  – – – –
Effect of adopting MFRS 16   198  5  –  203 

At 1 January, as restated   198   5  –  203 
Charge for the financial year   7   19   68   94 

At 31 December   205   24   68   297 

Carrying Amount
At 31 December   149   71   1,282   1,502 

 Included in the above, motor vehicles, plant and machinery and technical equipment with the net carrying 
amount of RM10,278,000 and RM1,353,406 of the Group and the Company respectively are pledged as 
securities for the related lease liabilities.

10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

  Company
    2019 2018
    RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost
In Malaysia     112,880   112,870 
Outside Malaysia     11   11 

      112,891   112,881 

Less: Accumulated impairment
         In Malaysia     24,955   24,955 
         Outside Malaysia     8   8
 
      24,963   24,963
 
      87,928   87,918 
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10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows:

Name of 

Company Name of Directors

Place of 

business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective
interest   Principal activities

2019

%

2018

%

Direct holding:

H2Energy

 Corporation

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Sri Mohamad
 Nasir Bin Abdul Rahim

Lee Chen Fee
Yee Lai Kuan

Malaysia 100 100 Engineering, 

procurement, 

construction and 

commissioning of 

pipeline system

Tru-Mix
 Concrete

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Chen Fee
Yee Lai Kuan

Malaysia 90 90 Manufacturing and 

distribution of ready-mix 
concrete

Bukit Jalil
 Development

 Sdn. Bhd.
 (“BJD”)

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok
 Khee
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Chow Seck Kai
Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 100 100 Property development

Ho Hup

 Industries

 Sdn. Bhd. 

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Chen Fee
Yee Lai Kuan

Malaysia 100 100 Quarry proprietor and 

investment holding

Ho Hup Jaya
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Ramli Bin Yusuff
Lee Chen Fee 

Malaysia 100 100 Property management

Ho Hup

 Construction

 Company

 (L) Ltd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei

Labuan, 

Malaysia

100 100 Investment holding

Ho Hup

 Construction

 Company

 (India)

 Pte. Ltd.*

Dato’ Low Tuck Choy
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Yee Lai Kuan

India 100 100 Construction

H2Advance

 Builders

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun

Malaysia 60 60 Construction and property 

development
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10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows: (cont’d)

Name of 

Company Name of Directors

Place of 

business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective
interest   Principal activities

2019

%

2018

%

Direct holding (cont’d):

Ho Hup

 Ventures (KK)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Jaganath Derek
 Steven Sabapathy
Lee Keat Hin
Low Kheng Lun

Malaysia 75 75 Investment holding

Ho Hup

 Ventures
 (Johor)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Jaganath Derek
 Steven Sabapathy
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei
Lee Chen Fee

Malaysia 75 75 Investment holding

New
 Interconnected

 Expressway
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Mohd Arief Aslam

 Bin Arifin

Malaysia 70 70 Dormant

Ho Hup

 Ventures
 (Kuantan)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Malaysia 100 100 Construction, property 

development and 

investment holding

Ho Hup F&B
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Yee Lai Kuan

Malaysia 100 – Dormant

Ho Hup Rail

 (Seremban)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Lee Chen Fee 

Malaysia 100 – Dormant

Ho Hup Teratai

 Sdn. Bhd.
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 100 – Dormant

Ho Hup Dagang

 Jaya Sdn. Bhd.
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 100 – Dormant

Ho Hup Fadasan
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 100 – Dormant
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(cont’d)

10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows: (cont’d)

Name of 

Company Name of Directors

Place of 

business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective
interest   Principal activities

2019

%

2018

%

Indirect holding:

Subsidiary company
 of BJD

Suria Jayajuta
 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Chen Fee

Malaysia 100 100 Dormant

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup

 Construction

 Company (L) Ltd.

Ho Hup

 (Myanmar)

 E&C Co., Ltd.*

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
U Zay Thiha

U Sein Phyo Hlaing
Lee Chen Fee
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei

Myammar 70 70 Property development 

and construction

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup

 Ventures (KK)
 Sdn. Bhd. 

Golden Wave

 Sdn. Bhd
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Jaganath Derek
 Steven Sabapathy
Ronnie Lai Tsin Lee

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 70 70 Property development 

and letting of shoplots, 

food court and 

promotional area

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup

 Industries
 Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup

 Ventures
 (Malacca)

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Datuk Wizan Bin
 Abdul Ghani

Yap Yoon Lean

Malaysia 70 70 Quarry operation, 

manufacturing, trading 

of building materials and 

property development,  

construction and 

services
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10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows: (cont’d)

Name of 

Company Name of Directors

Place of 

business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective
interest   Principal activities

2019

%

2018

%

Indirect holding (cont’d):

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup Ventures

 (Malacca)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup Quarries

 (Malacca)

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Datuk Wizan Bin
 Abdul Ghani

Yap Yoon Lean

Malaysia 100 100 Investment holding

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup

 Quarries

 (Malacca)
 Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup-ICM

 Quarry

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Datuk Wizan Bin
 Abdul Ghani

Noor Effandi Bin Ahmad
Yap Yoon Lean
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei
Yee Lai Kuan
Md Taib Bin Dora

Malaysia 75 75 Quarry operations

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup Ventures

 (Johor) Sdn. Bhd.

Intact Corporate

 Approach

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Dato’ Jaganath Derek
 Steven Sabapathy
Zakbah Bin Harun

Datuk Omar Shariff
 Bin Mydeen

Lee Chen Fee
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei

Malaysia 70 70 Project management that 

includes consultancy 

and infrastructure 

development
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows: (cont’d)

Name of 

Company Name of Directors

Place of 

business/

Country of 

incorporation

Effective
interest   Principal activities

2019

%

2018

%

Indirect holding (cont’d):

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup Jaya

 Sdn. Bhd.

HH Interpark

 Sdn. Bhd.
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 100 – Dormant

Subsidiary company
 of Ho Hup F&B

 Sdn. Bhd.

6 Teppan

 Dining

 Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 70 – Dormant

Easy I Zak

 Sdn. Bhd.
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 70 – Dormant

Mahi Mahi

 Sdn. Bhd.
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Lee Heng Aun 

Monteiro Gerard Clair

Malaysia 70 – Dormant

* Subsidiary companies not audited by UHY
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10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

(a)  Acquisition of subsidiary companies

 During the financial year:

(i) The Company, had on 12 July 2019, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company known as 
Ho Hup F&B Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia under Companies Act 2016, with a total issued share capital 
of RM10,000.

(ii) The Company, had on 3 September 2019, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company known 
as Ho Hup Rail (Seremban) Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia under Companies Act 2016, with a total issued 
share capital of RM2.

(iii) The Company, had on 16 December 2019, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company 
known as Ho Hup Teratai Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia under Companies Act 2016, with a total issued 
share capital of RM2.

(iv) The Company, had on 16 December 2019, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company 
known as Ho Hup Dagang Jaya Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia under Companies Act 2016, with a total 
issued share capital of RM2.

(v) On 1 October 2019, Ho Hup F&B Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
incorporated a 70% owned subsidiary company 6 Teppan Dinning Sdn. Bhd., with a cash 
subscription of RM7.

(vi) The Company, had on 16 December 2019, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company 
known as Ho Hup Fadasan Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia under Companies Act 2016, with a total issued 
share capital of RM2.

(vii) On 27 September 2019, Ho Hup F&B Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary company of the 
Company, incorporated a 70% owned subsidiary company Easy I Zak Sdn. Bhd., with a cash 
subscription of RM7.

(viii) On 27 September 2019, Ho Hup F&B Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary company of the 
Company, incorporated a 70% owned subsidiary company Mahi Mahi Sdn. Bhd., with a cash 
subscription of RM7.

(ix) On 20 November 2019, Ho Hup Jaya Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary company of the 
Company, incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary company HH Interpark Sdn. Bhd., with a cash 
subscription of RM2.
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(cont’d)

10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

(b) Material partly-owned subsidiary companies

 The Group’s subsidiary companies that have material non-controlling interest are as follows:

  Proportion of

  ownership interests 

  and voting rights Profit/(Loss)
   held by non- allocated to non- Accumulated non-

Name of company  controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests

  2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

  % % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn. Bhd. 10 10  (222)  (103)  690   912 

Ho Hup Ventures (KK)
 Sdn. Bhd. 25 25  578   141   17,613   17,035 

Ho Hup Ventures (Johor)
 Sdn. Bhd. 25 25  (153)  (466)  530   683 

Ho Hup Ventures (Malacca)
 Sdn. Bhd. 25 25  (33)  (17)  (2,883)  (2,850)

Individually immaterial subsidiary

 companies with non-controlling
 interests      (2,329)  (2,242)

Total non-controlling interests      13,621   13,538 
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11. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Unquoted shares,

 at cost in Malaysia   *   *   *  * 
Share of post acquisition
 reserves  – – – –

 

   – – – –

Unquoted shares, at cost

 outside Malaysia  18   18   18   18 
Less: Accumulated

   impairment losses   (18)  (18)  (18)  (18)

   – – – – 

   – – – –

* denote RM29

The associates and shareholdings therein are as follows:

    Place of

    business/

    Country of Effective 
Name of companies incorporation interest Principal activities

     2019 2018

     % %

 Direct holding:

Madagascar Malaysia Madagascar 49.8 49.8 Dormant
 Equipment Rental* 
     

Konsortium AHHK Malaysia 29 29 In liquidation  
 Sdn. Bhd.* 

* Associates not audited by UHY
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(cont’d)

12. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Unquoted shares,

 at cost in Malaysia   375   375   375   375 
Share of post-acquisition
 reserves   42   58  – –

      417   433   375   375 

Unquoted shares,

 at cost outside Malaysia   250   250   250   250 
Less: Accumulated

   impairment losses   (250)  (250)  (250)  (250)

           – – – –

    417   433   375   375 

 

 The joint venture and shareholdings therein are as follows:

    Place of

    business/

    Country of Effective 
Name of company incorporation interest Principal activities

     2019 2018

     % %

Ho Hup-Simplex India 50.0 50.0 Inactive
 Joint Venture*       
       

KHH Infrastructures  Malaysia 50.0 50.0 Construction
 Sdn. Bhd.*       
       

* Joint ventures not audited by UHY

13. OTHER INVESTMENT

 Other investment of the Group represents investment in equity instrument quoted in Malaysia. The Group 

designated the other investment as equity securities as at fair value through other comprehensive income 

because these equity securities represent investments that the Group intends to hold for long-term strategic 

purposes.
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14. CONTRACTS ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Contract assets

Construction contracts (Note a)   78,851   59,060   56,766   61,546 
Property development activities

 activities (Note b)   36,131   37,839  – –

    114,982   96,899   56,766   61,546 

Contract liabilities

Construction contracts (Note a)  –  (3,917) –  (16,868)
     

 The changes in contract assets and liabilities are due to i) adjustments arising from changes in the measure 

of progress of contracting work, or ii) reclassification to trade receivables when the Group has unconditional 
right to the consideration. 

 Contract liabilities as at the end of each reporting period are recognised as revenue in subsequent year.

(a) Construction contracts

 The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s and the Company’s rights to consideration for work 
completed on construction contracts but not yet billed at the reporting date. 

 Contract liabilities include billings made in advance which represent amounts where customers have 
been invoiced ahead of the satisfaction of the performance obligation by the Group and the Company.

 During the financial year, the following costs are capitalised to costs:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Staff cost 35  1,716   1,091   1,032   789
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(cont’d)

14. CONTRACTS ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONT’D)

(b) Contract assets from property development activities

  Group

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January     37,839   70,672 
Property development revenue

 recognised during the financial year    25,324   12,161 
Less: Progress billings during the financial year     (27,032)  (44,994)

At 31 December     36,131   37,839 
      

 Contract assets in relation to property development activities is the excess of revenue recognised in 
profit or loss over billings to purchasers as at the reporting date. This unbilled amount for work completed 
will be transferred to trade receivables when the right to bill becomes unconditional.

(c) Contract assets from property development activities

 The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) 
are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Construction contracts   188,769   352,234   180,099   390,960 
Property development activities   1,041,781   916,290  – –

    1,230,551   1,268,524   180,099   390,960 

 

 Based on the information available to the Group, the management of the Group expects the transaction 
price allocated to the above unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts will be recognised as revenue 
in the period of next 6 months to 3 years.
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15. TRADE RECEIVABLES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Trade receivables   205,468   193,422   25,113  20,381 
Less: Accumulated

   impairment losses   (1,518)  (1,204)  (232) –

    203,950   192,218   24,881   20,381 
 

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 14 to 90 days (2018: 14 to 90 days) term. 
They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 The Group’s and the Company’s credit exposures are concentrated mainly on 4 (2018: 6) and 1 (2018: 1) 
debtors respectively, which accounted for 75% (2018: 72%) and 42% (2018: 40%) respectively of the total 
trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.

 Included in trade receivables is an amount of RM560,000 (2018: RM560,000) due from a company in which 
certain Directors of the Company have interest.

 Retention on contracts, included in trade receivables of the Group and the Company amounted to approximately 
RM5,861,000 and RM5,861,000 (2018: RM5,885,000 and RM5,885,000) respectively. Retentions are expected 
to be recovered as follows:

   Group and Company

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Within one year     2,900   2,508 
More than one year     2,961   3,377

 

     5,861   5,885 

 

 Movements in allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Lifetime ECL

At 1 January   1,204   26,008  –  24,804 
Impairment losses

 recognised (Note 31)   314  – 232 –

Amount written off  –  (24,804) –  (24,804)

At 31 December   1,518   1,204   232  –
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15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group manages its debtors and takes appropriate actions 

(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances. Generally, trade receivables will 
pay within 90 days.

 

 The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables for all segments except for 
construction segment. Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a 
receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency. 

 Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. The Group also considers 
differences between (a) economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been 
collected, (b) current conditions and (c) the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of 
the receivables.

 For construction contracts, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristic for ECL measurement. The Group assessed the risk of loss of each customer individually 

based on their financial information, past trend of payments and external credit ratings, where applicable. All 
of these customers have low risk of default.

 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as 
at the end of the reporting period:

Group    Gross   Loss    Net  

     Amount   Allowance    Amount 

2019     RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

Neither past due nor impaired    145,013   (71)  144,942 
Past due not impaired:

 Less than 30 days    9,348   (103)  9,245 
 31 to 60 days    2,362   (15)  2,347 
 61 to 90 days    4,139   (25)  4,114 
 More than 90 days    38,745   (1,304)  37,441 

     199,607   (1,518)  198,089 

2018      

Neither past due nor impaired    75,573  –  75,573 
Past due not impaired:

 31 to 60 days    236  –  236 

 61 to 90 days    1,239  –  1,239 

 More than 90 days    110,489   (1,204)  109,285 

     187,537   (1,204)  186,333 
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15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (cont’d)

 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as 
at the end of the reporting period: (cont’d)

Company    Gross   Loss    Net  

     Amount   Allowance    Amount 

2019     RM’000   RM’000   RM’000 

Neither past due nor impaired    3,774   (45)  3,729 
Past due not impaired:

 Less than 30 days    6,703   (81)  6,622 
 31 to 60 days    313   (4)  309 

 61 to 90 days    1,399   (17)  1,382 
 More than 90 days    7,063   (85)  6,978 

     19,252  (232)  19,020 

2018      

Neither past due nor impaired    7,620  –  7,620 

Past due not impaired:

 More than 90 days    6,876  –  6,876
 

     14,496  –  14,496 

16. OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other receivables   45,548   33,060   13,197   16,761 
Deposits   28,726   11,388   753  745 
Prepayments   4,649   5,861  – –
GST receivables   13,152   2,740   8,387   8,361 
Amount recoverable from

 sub-contractor   15,958   13,119   15,958   13,119 
Others  –  71  – –

    108,033   66,239   38,295   38,986 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses

          - Other receivables   (406)  (406) – –

          - Deposits   (58)  (58) – –

    (464)  (464) – –

    107,569   65,775   38,295   38,986 



HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)     ·        ANNUAL REPORT 2019

176

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

16. OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
 

 Amount recoverable from a sub-contractor of approximately RM15,958,000 (2018: RM13,119,000) as at 
31 December 2019 is respect of estimated Liquidated Ascertained Damages (“LAD”) to be recovered from 

the sub-contractor as a result of the delay in completing its scope of work as set out in the agreement for 
supply. The Group is virtually certain that it is entitled to impose and receive the LAD in accordance with the 
provisions of the said agreement.

 Movements in allowance for impairment losses of other receivables are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January/31 December    406   406  – –

 Movements in allowance for impairment losses of deposits are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January   58   1,852  –  1,591 
Amount written off  –  (1,794) –  (1,591)

At 31 December   58   58  – –

 

 Other receivables and deposits that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting 

period relate to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.

17. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(a) Amount due from subsidiary companies 

  Company

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Amount due from subsidiary companies    337,913   346,950 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses    (457)  (457)

      337,456   346,493 

 

 These represent trade and non-trade balances which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand.
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17. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

(a) Amount due from subsidiary companies (cont’d)

 Movements in impairment losses on amount due from subsidiary companies during the financial year 
are as follows:

  Company

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

 

At 1 January/31 December      457   457

 Included in amount due from subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2019 are retention of approximately 
RM23,566,000 (2018: RM18,661,000) relating to construction work-in-progress. Aproximately 
RM19,893,000 (2018: RM8,789,000) of the retention receivable are expected to be recovered within 
one year.

(b) Amount due to subsidiary companies 

 These represent trade and non-trade balances which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand.

18. AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE

 Group and Company

 This represents non-trade balance which is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
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19. CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Fixed deposits with licensed
 banks   31,383   10,051   27,125   6,198 
Cash and bank balances   53,867   20,740   10,361   14,858 
Housing Development Account (a)  319   312  – –

    85,569   31,103   37,486   21,056 
Less: Bank overdrafts 24  (21,672)  (32,101)  (9,718)  (20,061)

    63,897   (998)  27,768   995 
Less:  Cash and cash equivalents

  restricted from use

  Sinking fund accounts
   build-up (b)  11,195   5,932   8,695   4,732 
  Fixed deposits 
   pledged for banker

   acceptance, bank

   overdraft and 

   term loan (c)  6,273   3,606   2,139   2,139 

  Fixed deposits
   pledged for bank

   guarantee (d)  104   2,243  – –

 

    17,572   11,781   10,834   6,871
 

Cash and cash equivalents   46,325   (12,779)  16,934   (5,876)

(a) Cash held under Housing Development Account of the Group are held pursuant to Section 7A of the 
Housing Development (Control and Licensing) Act 1966.

(b) Sinking fund accounts build-up pledged as fixed deposit to the licensed banks for credit facilities granted 
to the Group and the Company as disclosed in Note 24.

(c) Fixed deposits with licensed banks of the Group and of the Company are pledged to a licensed bank 
as security for credit facilities granted to the Group and to the Company as disclosed in Note 24 and 

hence, are not available for general use.

(d) Fixed deposit pledged as security for the advance payment bank guarantee and performance bond 
guarantee.

 

 The interest rates of deposits of the Group and of the Company at the end of the reporting period are 2.90% 

to 3.45% and 2.90% to 3.00% (2018: 2.95% to 3.45% and 2.95% to 3.00%) per annum respectively.

 The maturities of deposits of the Group and of the Company are ranging from 30-365 days and 30-365 days 
(31.12.2018: 30-365 days and 30 days) respectively.
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20. SHARE CAPITAL

  Group and Company

 Number of shares Amount  

   2019 2018 2019 2018

   Unit’000 Unit’000 RM’000 RM’000

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares

At 1 January   374,894   374,870   207,574   207,559 
Issuance of new shares
- private placement   37,489  –  17,433  –
Exercise of warrants  –  24  –  15 

At 31 December   412,383   374,894   225,007   207,574 
 

 During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 374,894,596 to 
412,383,996 through the issuance of 37,489,400 new ordinary shares by a private placement at an exercise 
price of RM0.465 each for the purpose of working capital. 

 In the previous financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 374,870,396 
to 374,894,596 through issuance of 24,200 new ordinary shares for cash arising from the exercise of warrants 
at an exercise price of RM0.60 each.

 The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the 
Company.

 The holder of ordinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets.

 

21. RESERVES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

 Note  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-distributable

Foreign currency 
 translation reserve (a)  (1,466)  (1,433) – –

Warrant reserve (b) – – – – 

ESOS reserve (c)  766   766   766   766 
Other reserves (d)  (29,687)  (29,687) – –

    (30,387)  (30,354)  766   766 
Distributable

Retained earnings   237,964   186,499   90,729   88,788
 

    207,577   156,145   91,495   89,554 
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21. RESERVES (CONT’D)

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

 Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from that of the 
Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Warrant reserve

  Group and Company

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

   

At 1 January    –  7,720 
Exercise of warrants    –  (4)
Warrants expired    –  (7,716)

At 31 December     – –

 

 The warrants were expired on 21 December 2018 and delisted on 24 December 2018.

(c) Employee share option (“ESOS”) reserve

  Group and Company

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January     766   975 
Lapsed of ESOS    –   (209)

At 31 December     766   766 

   

 Employee share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees. The 

reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the 

vesting period commencing from the grant date of equity-settled share options, and is reduced by the 

expiry or exercise of the share options. Employee share option is disclosed in Note 34.

(d) Other reserves

 Other reserve represents the difference between the Group’s share of net assets before and after the 
acquisition of equity interest from its non-controlling interests, and any consideration paid and fair value 

allocated to the detachable warrants issued in conjunction with rights issue.
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22. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES 

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January    8,487   9,758   1,243   – 
Effect of adopting MFRS 16   (8,487)  –   (1,243)  – 

At 1 January, as restated   –   9,758   –   – 
Additions   –   1,943   –   1,894 
Payments   –   (3,214)  –   (651)

At 31 December    –   8,487   –   1,243 

Minimum lease payments

Within one year   –   3,979   –   636 

Later than one year and

 not later than two years   –   4,817   –   613 
Later than two years and 
 not later than five years   –   441   –   58
 

    –   9,237   –   1,307 

Less: Future finance charges   –   (750)  –   (64)

Present value of minimum

 lease payments   –   8,487   –   1,243

Present value of minimum

 lease payments

Within one year   –   3,542   –   592 
Later than one year and 

 not later than two years   –   4,514   –   597 
Later than two years and 
 not later than five years   –   431   –   54
 

    –   8,487   –   1,243 

Analysed as:

Repayable within twelve months   –   3,542   –   592 
Repayable after twelve months   –   4,945   –   651
 

    –   8,487   –   1,243

 Obligations under finance leases

 In the previous financial year, these obligations were secured by a charge over the leased assets as disclosed 
in Note 4(b). The interest rates of the leases are ranging from 3.15% to 4.00% per annum.
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January   –   –   –   – 
Effect of adopting MFRS 16   10,240   –   1,243   – 

At 1 January 2019, as restated   10,240   –   1,243   – 
Additions   11,405   –   1,615   – 
Payment   (4,700)  –   (1,053)  – 

At 31 December    16,945   –   1,805   – 

Presented as:

Non–current   11,131   –   407   – 

Current   5,814   –   1,398   –
 

    16,945  –   1,805   - 
      

 The maturity analysis of lease liabilities of the Group and the Company at the end of the reporting period:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Within one year   6,527   –   1,475   – 
Later than one year and 

 not later than two years   4,432   –   381   – 
Later than two years and
 not later than five years   6,014   –   39   – 
Later than five year   1,536   –   –   –
 

    18,509   –   1,895   – 
Less: Future finance charges   (1,564)  –   (90)  – 

Present value of lease liabilities   16,945   –   1,805   – 

 The Group leases buildings, motor vehicles and machineries. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual 

basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
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24. BANK BORROWINGS

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Secured

Bank overdrafts   21,672   32,101   9,718  20,061 
Bridging loan   43,943   15,000  – –
Banker acceptance   2,537   4,893  – –
Revolving credit   7,500   7,500  – – 
Term loans   279,759   314,074   34,048   110,481
 

    355,411   373,568   43,766   130,542 

Current

Bank overdrafts   21,672   32,101   9,718   20,061 
Banker acceptance   2,537   4,893  – – 
Bridging loan   15,000  – – – 
Revolving credit   7,500   7,500  – – 
Term loans   144,771  138,691   20,251   54,288
 

    191,480   183,185   29,969   74,349 
 

Non-current

Bridging loan   28,943   15,000  – – 
Term loans   134,988   175,383   13,797   56,193
 

    163,931   190,383   13,797   56,193 

    355,411   373,568   43,766   130,542 

 The bank overdrafts, banker acceptance, bridging loan, revolving credit and term loans obtained from licensed 

banks are secured by the following:

 Term loans, bank overdrafts, bridging loan and revolving credit

(a) All monies in the facilities agreement;

(b) A first/third party all monies legal charge over the following properties:

(1) 9,693 square meters of freehold commercial land held under Geran 79552, Lot No. 101901 
(previously known as H.S.(D) 119869 PT 15292), Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (Note 7);

(2) The land under Town lease No. 017561536, District of Kota Kinabalu (Note 7); 

(3) A 2-storey freehold shop office held under Geran 55250, Lot 38534, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala 
Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (Note 4);
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24. BANK BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

 The bank overdrafts, banker acceptance, bridging loan, revolving credit and term loans obtained from licensed 

banks are secured by the following: (cont’d)

Term loans, bank overdrafts, bridging loan and revolving credit (cont’d)

(b) A first/third party all monies legal charge over the following properties: (cont’d)

(4) Plot A6, held under individual title Geran 43611, Lot No. PTD 14193 Mukim Ulu Sungai Johor, 
District Kota Tinggi, Johor Darul Ta’zim (Note 7);

(5) Legal charge/deed of assignment and power of attorney over shop offices held under Geran 78076, 
Lot 101462, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur 
(Note 4);

(6) Legal charge/deed of assignment and power of attorney over service apartments held under Geran 
323201, Lot 56602, Bandar Saujana, District of Petaling, Selangor (Note 5); and

(7) Legal charge over shop lots held under strate title (WP) 51197, Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah 
Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (Note 5).

(c) Corporate guarantee executed by the Company and subsidiary companies;

(d) Assignment of all the rights, title and interest in and to 15 office units, held under Geran 78076, Lot 
No. 101462, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur as 
disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.  A first party first legal charge over the properties upon 
issuance of the individual/strata title to the properties; 

(e) A legal assignment over the rights and interest to the rental proceeds;

(f) Assignment of proceeds from sale of car park;

(g) Pledge of fixed deposit by way of an open all monies memorandum of deposit as disclosed in Note 19;

(h) Open all monies debenture incorporating first fixed and floating charges over the past, present and 
future assets of ICA;

(i) Assignment of construction contracts, performance bonds and insurance proceeds of a project;

(j) Joint and several guarantees of the individual shareholders and directors of a subsidiary company; and

(k) Specific debenture over 2 units of shop office lot held under master title no. Hakmilik 78076, Lot no. 
101462, Mukim of Petaling, Daerah Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (Note 7).

(l) Debenture over Company’s fixed and floating assets both present and future.

Banker acceptance

(a) Certain fixed deposits of the Group as disclosed in Note 19(c); and

(b) Corporate guarantee by the Company.
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24. BANK BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

 The interest rates per annum are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   % % % %

Bank overdrafts  7.81 - 8.20 7.85 - 8.45 8.05 - 8.10 8.05 - 8.10
Bridging loan  8.75 8.75 – –
Banker acceptance   5.79 - 5.89   5.79 - 5.89  – – 
Revolving credit  8.75 8.75 – –
Term loans  4.92 - 12.00 4.92 - 12.00 6.70 - 10.00 6.70 - 10.00

 

 Included in the secured term loans is an amount of RM55,100,000 (2018: RM76,750,000) granted by a 
subsidiary company of a corporate shareholder with significant influence over the Group. The term loans are 
subject to interest at 12% p.a. (2018: 12% p.a.), repayable within the next 12 months after the reporting date. 

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January   22,452   22,452  – – 
Recognised in profit or loss
 (Note 32)   (412) –  218  –
Under provision in prior year

 (Note 32)   87  – – –
 

At 31 December   22,127   22,452   218  – 

 The net deferred tax liabilities and assets shown on the statements of financial position after appropriate 
offsetting are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax liabilities   24,071   24,512   218   73 
Deferred tax assets   (1,944)  (2,060) –  (73)

    22,127   22,452   218  –
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

 The components of the deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows: 

     Accelerated

     capital

     allowances  Total

Deferred tax liabilities    RM’000 RM’000

Group

At 1 January 2019     24,512   24,512 
Recognised in profit or loss     (281)  (281)
Over provision in prior years     (160)  (160)

At 31 December 2019     24,071   24,071 

At 1 January 2018     25,945   25,945 
Recognised in profit or loss     (178)  (178)
Over provision in prior years     (1,255)  (1,255)

At 31 December 2018     24,512   24,512

Company

At 1 January 2019     73   73 
Recognised in profit or loss     218   218 
Over provision in prior years     (73)  (73)

At 31 December 2019     218   218 

At 1 January 2018     1,874   1,874 
Recognised in profit or loss     (17)  (17)
Over provision in prior years     (1,784)  (1,784)

At 31 December 2018     73   73 
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

 The components of the deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows: (cont’d)

     Other

   Unutilised  deductible

   capital Unutilised temporary

   allowances tax losses differences Total
Deferred tax assets  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

At 1 January 2019   1,689   371  –  2,060 
Recognised in profit or loss   (141) –  272   131 
Over provision in prior years   (170)  (73)  (4)  (247)

At 31 December 2019   1,378   298   268   1,944 

At 1 January 2018   1,215   2,172   106  3,493 
Recognised in profit or loss   47   (17)  -   30 
Over provision in prior years   427   (1,784)  (106)  (1,463)

At 31 December 2018   1,689   371  –  2,060 

     Unutilised

     tax losses Total

Deferred tax assets    RM’000 RM’000

Company

At 1 January 2019     73   73 
Over provision in prior years     (73)  (73)

At 31 December 2019    – –

At 1 January 2018     1,874   1,874 
Recognised in profit or loss     (17)  (17)
Over provision in prior years     (1,784)  (1,784)

At 31 December 2018     73   73 
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

 The deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross):

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised capital allowances   15,209   12,758  – –
Unutilised tax losses   55,383   53,651  –  1,533
 

    70,592   66,409  –  1,533 

 

 With effect from year of assessment 2019, unutilised tax losses are allowed to be carried forward up to a 
maximum of seven consecutive years of assessment under the current tax legislation. The unutilised capital 
allowances do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in 
respect of these items as they may not have sufficient taxable profits to be used to offset or they have arisen 
in subsidiary companies that have a recent history of losses. 

26. PROVISION FOR LIqUIDATED ASCERTAINED DAMAGES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January   13,119  –  13,119  – 
Provision during the year   2,839   13,119   2,839   13,119 
Payment during the year   (5,815) – – –

At 31 December   10,143   13,119   15,958   13,119 

 Provision for liquidated ascertained damages is in respect of property development projects undertaken by 

the Group. The provision is recognised for expected liquidated damages claims based on the terms of the 
applicable agreements.

27. TRADE PAYABLES

(a) Retention on contracts included in trade payables of the Group and the Company amounted to 

approximately RM36,684,000 (2018: RM33,592,000) and RM32,032,000 (2018: RM29,669,000) 
respectively. Retentions are unsecured, interest free and expected to be settled as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Within one year   19,781   15,289   19,781   15,289 
More than one year   16,903   18,303   12,251   14,380
 

    36,684   33,592   32,032   29,669 
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27. TRADE PAYABLES (CONT’D)

(b) Credit terms of trade payables of the Group and Company ranged from 30 to 120 days (2018: 30 to 
120 days) depending on the terms of the contracts.

28. OTHER PAYABLES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other payables   184,980   52,254   97,114   17,822 
Accruals   54,422   19,345   41,317   2,389 
Deposits received   22,889   14,202   51   51
 

    262,291   85,801   138,482   20,262 

(a) Included in other payables of the Group and of the Company is an amount of RM90 million and Nil 

(2018: RM0.2 million and RM0.2 million) respectively owing to Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd. (“PHSB”) being 
advance entitlement pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement entered between BJD and PHSB.

29. REVENUE

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue form contracts

 with customers:
Major goods and services:

- Construction contracts   116,335  113,632   194,018   141,562 
- Joint development income   201,408   88,079  – –
- Sale of development properties   25,324   12,161  – –
- Sale of goods   27,775   46,219  – –
- Others   526   724  – –
 

   371,368   260,815   194,018   141,562 

Timing of revenue recognition:

At a point in time   28,301   46,943  – –
Overtime   343,067   213,872   194,018   141,562 

Total revenue from contracts

 with customers  371,368   260,815   194,018   141,562
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29. REVENUE (CONT’D)

 Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers and information regarding the Group’s 
reportable segments is set out below:

    Property  Building 

2019   Construction development materials  Others Total 

   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Major goods and services:

- Construction contracts  116,335  – – –  116,335 
- Joint development income –  201,408   – –  201,408 
- Sale of development properties –  25,324  –  –  25,324 
- Sale of goods – –  27,775   –  27,775 
- Others – – –  526   526 

Revenue from external customers  116,335   226,732   27,775   526   371,368 

Timing of revenue recognition:

At a point in time – –  27,775   526   28,301
Over time  116,335   226,732  – –  343,067 

Revenue from external customers  116,335   226,732   27,775   526   371,368 

2018

Major goods and services:

- Construction contracts  113,632  – – –   113,632 

- Joint development income –  88,079  – –  88,079 
- Sale of development properties –   12,161  – –  12,161 
- Sale of goods – –  46,219  –  46,219 
- Others – – –   724   724 

Revenue from external customers  113,632   100,240   46,219   724   260,815 

Timing of revenue recognition:

At a point in time – –  46,219   724   46,943 

Over time  113,632   100,240  –   –  213,872 

Revenue from external customers  113,632   100,240   46,219   724   260,815 
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30. FINANCE COSTS

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 Interest expenses on:  

 Bank overdrafts    2,299   2,383   1,486   1,631 
 Bridging loan    2,586   130  – –
 Banker acceptance    310   383   132   150 
 Finance lease   –  613  –   76 
 Lease liabilities    631  –  87  – 
 Revolving credit    654   343  – –
 Term loans    30,047   29,404   4,011   9,060 

 Invoice financing    730   673   730  – 
 Others   –   199  –  – 

    37,257   34,128   6,446   10,917 
 Less: Interest expense capitalised
   in property, plant and

   equipment  (Note 4(d))    (1,817)  (4,248) – –
   Interest expense included
   in  property development

   costs (Note 7(i))    (10,875)  (7,112) –  – 

    24,565   22,768   6,446   10,917 

31. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 Profit before tax is determined after charging/(crediting) amongst other, the following items:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Auditors’ remuneration

 (Note a)   264   262   119   119 

Amortisation of intangible asset

 (Note 6)   15   14  – –
Amortisation of land right    3,390  – – – 

Impairment loss on:  

- Trade receivables (Note 15)   314  –  232  – 
Depreciation of property, plant

 and equipment (Note 4)   1,880   3,610   93   140 
Depreciation of investment

 properties (Note 5)   1,608   279  –  – 
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31. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONT’D)

 Profit before tax is determined after charging/(crediting) amongst other, the following items: (cont’d)

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Depreciation of rights-of-

 use assets (Note 9)   2,425  –   94  – 
Lease expenses relating to
 short-term leases   926   994   159   159 
Write-down of inventories   –   7  – –
Interest income:  

- deposits with licensed banks   (1,932)  (330)  (259)  (259)
- others   (64)  (2,891) – –
Gain on disposal of 

 property, plant and equipment   (258)  (1,104) – –
Gain on disposal of other

 investments   (779) – – – 

Loss on unrealised foreign

 exchange  –  5  –  5 
Dividend income  – –  –  (247)

Rental income   (1,490)  (1,790) – –

  

(a) Auditors’ remuneration

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Auditors of the Company  

 - Statutory audit
  - Current year  197  194   81   81 
 - Non-statutory audit

  - Current year   38   38   38   38

    235   232   119   119 

Other auditors

 - Statutory audit
  - Current year   29   30  – –

    29   30  –  –

    264   262   119   119 
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32. TAXATION

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Tax expenses recognised in

 profit or loss
 Current income tax:
  Current tax provision
   - in Malaysia   24,341   11,301   1,818  –
     Under/(over) provision in prior years  481   (249)  10   (12)

    24,822   11,052   1,828   (12)

Deferred tax (Note 25):
 Relating to origination and reversal of 

  temporary differences   (412) –  218  –
    Under provision in  prior years   87  – – –

    (325) –   218  –

Tax expense/(credit) for the financial year  24,497   11,052   2,046   (12)

 Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2018: 24%) of the estimated assessable 
profits for the financial year. Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective 
jurisdictions.

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective tax rate of the Group and of the Company are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Profit before tax   76,083   39,315   3,987   3,879 

At Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% 
 (2018: 24%)   18,260   9,436   957   931 
Income not subject to tax  –   (370) –  –
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  4,665   5,037   1,447   1,621 
Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously 
 not recognised   (368)  (3,006)  (368)  (2,552)
Deferred tax assets not recognised   1,372   204  –  –
Under/(over) provision of taxation in 
 prior years   481   (249)  10   (12)
Under provision of deferred taxation in 
 prior years   87   – – – 

Tax expense/(credit) for the financial year  24,497   11,052   2,046   (12)



HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)     ·        ANNUAL REPORT 2019

194

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

32. TAXATION (CONT’D)

 With effect from year of assessment 2019, unutilised tax losses are allowed to be carried forward up to a 
maximum of seven consecutive years of assessment under the current tax legislation. The unutilised capital 
allowance do not expire under current tax legislation. The Group and the Company has the following estimated 
unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances available for set-off against future taxable profit. The 
said amounts are subject to approval by the tax authorities.

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Unutilised capital allowances   20,951   19,796  –  –
Unutilised tax losses   56,625   55,197  –   1,837 

    77,576   74,993  –  1,837 

33. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(i) Basic earnings per share

 The basic earnings per share has been calculated based on the consolidated profit for the financial 
year attributable to owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the financial year as follows:

  Group 

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Net profit for the financial year, attributable to owners
 of the parent    51,500   28,891 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary  shares in issue in

 1 January (in thousand of shares)   374,894   374,870 
Effect of ordinary shares issued during  the financial year 
 (in thousand of shares)     6,574   1

Weighted average number of ordinary  shares in issue in

 31 December (in thousand of shares)    381,468   374,871 

Basic earnings per share (in sen)     13.5   7.7 
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33. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONT’D)

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

 The diluted earnings per share has been calculated based on the adjusted consolidated profit for the 
financial year attributable to the owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the financial year have been adjusted for the dilutive effects of all potential ordinary 
shares as follows:

  Group 
     2019 2018
     RM’000 RM’000

Net profit for the financial year, attributable to owners
 of the parent     51,500   28,891 

Weighted average number of ordinary  shares used in the
 calculation of basic  earnings per share (in thousand of shares)  381,468   374,871 
Adjustment for incremental shares from  assumed conversions   
 - ESOS (in thousand of shares)   –  – 

Weighted average number of ordinary  shares at 31 December    
 (diluted) (in thousand of shares)   381,468   374,871 

Diluted earnings per share (in sen)    13.5   7.7 

34. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME (“ESOS”)

 At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 June 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the 
establishment of an ESOS for eligible Directors and employees of the Group.

 The ESOS is administered by the ESOS committee which is appointed by the Board of Directors, in accordance 
with the By-Laws of the ESOS. The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years commencing from 
21 August 2015, unless extended further.

 The salient features of the ESOS scheme are, inter alia, as follows:

(i) Eligible Directors and employees are those who are confirmed employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (excluding foreign and dormant subsidiaries) and has attained the age of eighteen (18) 
years before the date of offer;

(ii) The ESOS committee may determine any other eligibility criteria and/or waive any of conditions of the 
eligibility for the purposes of selecting an eligible person at any time and from time to time, in the ESOS 
committee’s discretion and the decision of the ESOS committee shall be final and binding;

(iii) The maximum number of new shares which may be made available under the ESOS shall be up to ten 
percent (10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if 
any) at the point in time when an offer is made;

(iv) The options granted may be exercised at any time within the option period from the date of offer; and

(v) The options granted are not entitled to dividends or voting rights. Upon exercise of the options, the 
ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.
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34. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME (“ESOS”) (CONT’D)

 Movement in the number of share options and the exercise price are as follows:

  Group and Company 
  Number of share option

     2019 2018

     Units ‘000 Units ‘000

   

At 1 January     3,649   4,158 
Lapsed during the financial year     –   (509)

At 31 December     3,649   3,649 

Exercise price    RM0.74 RM0.74

Options exercisable at 31 December     3,649   3,649 

 The fair value of share options granted to eligible employees and directors, was determined using Black-
Scholes-Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. The fair value of share options measured at the grant date and the input assumed by the 
Company in arising the fair value are as follows: 

  Group and Company

     2019 2018

   

Fair value of share options at grant date   
 On 1 September 2015 (RM)     0.21   0.21 
 Exercise price (RM)     0.74   0.74 

Share price of the Company at grant date (RM)    0.81   0.81 
Volatility (%)     36.95   36.95
Option life (years)     5   5 
Risk-free interest rate (%)     4.23   4.23 

 The expected life of the share options is based on historical data, has been adjusted according to management’s 
best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting the 
market conditions attached to the option), and behavioural considerations. The expected volatility is based 
on the historical share price volatility over the past 3 years, adjusted for unusual or extraordinary volatility 
arising from certain economic or business occurrences which is not reflective of its long term average level. 
While the expected volatility is assumed to be indicative of future trends, it may not necessarily be the actual 
outcome. No other features of the option grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
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35. STAFF COSTS

 Group Company
  2019 2018 2019 2018
   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Fees    492   506   492   506 
Salaries, wages and other emoluments  13,875   11,627   7,490   6,537 
Defined contributions plan   1,450   1,305   811   801 

    15,817   13,438   8,793   7,844 
Less: Staff costs capitalised
   - property development costs 
    (Note 7(i))   (881)  (979)  –    –   
   - construction contracts costs
    (Note 14)   (1,716)  (1,091)  (1,032)  (789)

    13,220   11,368   7,761   7,055 

 Included in staff costs is aggregate amount of remuneration received and receivable by the Directors of the 
Company and of the subsidiary companies during the financial year as below: 

 Group Company
  2019 2018 2019 2018
   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Executive Directors
- Salaries and other emoluments   2,311   2,160   1,275   1,199 
- Defined contributions plan   268   270   145   155 
- Benefits-in-kind   162   134   98   40 

    2,741   2,564   1,518   1,394 

Non-executive Directors
- Fees   460   506   460   506 
- Meeting and other allowances   110   111   38   39 
- Benefits-in-kind  55  55   55   55 

    625   672   553   600

Total Directors’ remuneration   3,366   3,236   2,071   1,994 

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENT

  Group 
     2019 2018
     RM’000 RM’000

Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:     
- Purchase of property, plant and equipment    –   526 
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Identifying related parties

 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if 
the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the party or 

exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, 
or where the Group or the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant 
influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or 

indirectly. The key management personnel comprise the Directors and senior management personnel 

of the Group, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 

the Group entities directly or indirectly.

(b) Significant related party transactions

 Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under negotiated 

terms. In addition to the related party balances disclosed elsewhere, the significant related party 
transactions of the Group and of the Company are as follow:

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Group

Transaction with Directors of the Company  
Progress billing received/receivable    158   202 
     

Transaction with companies in which

 a substantial shareholder has interest    
Progress billing received/receivable    197   496 
     

Transaction with Directors of  related companies 
Progress billing received/receivable    30   165 
     

Transaction with a major  shareholder    
Progress billing received/receivable    870   544 
     

Transactions with subsidiary companies
 of a corporate shareholder with a
 significant influence over the Company 
Progress billing received/receivable    3,967   400 
Interest expenses paid/payable     (12,396)  (10,185)
Drawdown of term loans     80,100   19,000 
Repayment of term loans     (101,750)  (12,000)

Transaction with a minority shareholder
 of a subsidiary company     

Project management fee paid/payable    (2,520)  (2,011)
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

(b) Significant related party transactions (cont’d)

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Group

Transaction with a company in which a Director
 of the company has interest

Progress claims paid/payable     (21,868)  (5,701)
Rental of retail spaces     (699) – 

Rental of office     351   –

Transaction with a company in which a Director
 of a related company has interest
Progress billing received/receivable    934   123 

Transactions with a corporate  shareholder
 that has significant influence over the Company 
Purchase of ordinary shares     –  (1,184)

    2019 2018

    RM’000 RM’000

     

Company

Transactions with subsidiary companies 

Dividend income     –  247 

Management fee income received/receivable    14,640   14,640 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   4,025   – 
Progress billings for construction work received/receivable   96,069   38,961 
Property consultant fee received/receivable    3,877   7,266 
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

 Remuneration of Directors is disclosed in Note 35. Aggregate amount of remuneration received and 
receivable by other key management personnel is as follow:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Salaries, wages and
 other emoluments   2,912   2,242   2,035   1,982 
Defined contributions plan   369   305   287   274 

    3,281   2,547   2,322   2,256

38. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 The main business segments of the Group comprise the following:

Construction Foundation and civil engineering, building contracting works and engineering, 
procurement, construction and commissioning of pipeline system

 

Property development Development of residential and commercial properties

 

Building materials Manufacturing and distribution of ready-mixed concrete and quarry operation
 

Others Trading services

 Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable 
operating segments.

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 

about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit 
or loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

 Transactions between segments are carried out on agreed terms between both parties. The effects of such 
inter-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. The measurement basis and classification are 
consistent with those adopted in the previous financial year.

 Information about segment assets and liabilities are neither included in the internal management reports nor 

provided regularly to the management. Hence, no disclosures are made on segment assets and liabilities.
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38. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONT’D)

(a) Adjustments and eliminations

 Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Other non-cash income/(expense) consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes 
to financial statements:

     2019 2018

     RM’000 RM’000

Net gain on disposal of property,  plant and equipment   258   1,104 
Gain on disposal of investments     779  – 

Impairment on trade receivables    (314) – 

Write-down of inventories    –   (7)
Loss on unrealised foreign exchange   –  (5)

      723   1,092 

(c) Geographical information

 Substantially all the Group’s revenue is derived locally and non-current assets are located within Malaysia.

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Corporate guarantees given to

 licensed banks and financial
 institutions for banking facilities

 granted to subsidiary companies

 - Limit of guarantee  –    –     738,067   606,067 
 - Amount utilised  –   –    348,658   243,248 

Corporate guarantees given to

 a supplier a supplier of goods

 to subsidiary companies 

 - Limit of guarantee  –    –   28,850   28,850 
 - Amount utilised  –   –     1,797   2,337

Guarantees issued by financial
 institutions in connection with
 performance bonds, security

 and tender deposits in favour of 

 third parties for construction projects   8,677   8,677   8,677   8,677 
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40. MATERIAL LITIGATIONS

 The Group and the Company have not engaged in any litigation which will have a material effect on the 
business or financial position of the Group and of the Company except for the following:

(i) High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur Suit No. D-26NCC-42-2011

 Federal Court of Malaysia Civil Appeal No. 02(f)-140-12/2017

 Zen Courts Sdn Bhd (“Zen Courts”) had initiated a petition vide the High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur 
(“KLHC”) Petition No. 26NCC-42-2011 against the respondents, namely Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd 
(“BJDSB”), the Company and Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd (“HHERSB”) alleging the Company 
and HHERSB had oppressed its rights as a minority shareholder of BJDSB. The KLHC in finding that 
there was oppression, had ordered the Company to buy out the Zen Courts’ shares in BJDSB. Such 
shares were to be valued by Ferrier Hodgson MH Sdn Bhd (“FHMH”) who was, by consensus, appointed 
as the independent valuer on 19 June 2012.

 The valuation report was issued by FHMH on 31 December 2012. After having considered all relevant 
factors, FHMH valued the 30% shareholding stake in BJDSB held by Zen Courts to be RM35,970,000 
(“Valuation Report”). Dissatisfied with the Valuation Report, Zen Courts filed an application to make 
representations on the Valuation Report for determination of the value of the shares (“Zen Court 
Application”). The Company, on the other hand, filed an application to fix the value of the shares as 
recommended in the Valuation Report (“Ho Hup Application”). The KLHC dismissed Zen Court Application 
and allowed Ho Hup Application by fixing the value of the shares as per the Valuation Report on 31 
December 2012 and for the buy out to be completed within 4 months (“Valuation Order”).

 Zen Courts appealed to the Court of Appeal against the dismissal of Zen Court Application and the 

Valuation Order. These appeals were dismissed by the Court of Appeal on 19 February 2014 (“Court 
of Appeal’s Orders”).

 Zen Courts subsequently applied for leave to appeal to the Federal Court of Malaysia (“Federal Court”) 
in relation to the Court of Appeal’s Orders. On 5 May 2015, the Federal Court granted leave to Zen 
Courts to appeal to the Federal Court based on 2 leave questions (“FC Appeals”).

 At the hearing of the FC Appeals on 26 April 2016, the Federal Court allowed the FC Appeals without 
answering the leave questions (“FC Order”). The effect of the FC Order is that Zen Court Application 
is allowed and the Valuation order is set aside. Both Zen Court Application and Ho Hup Application 
have been remitted to the KLHC for determination of the value of the buy-out. The evidence-taking 
expert witnesses in respect of the valuation of the 30% shares took 6 days between 20 March 2018 
to 20 March 2018, after which parties filed their respective written submissions. Oral submission by 
respective parties was heard on 1 June 2018, 9 and 10 October 2018. The matter which was fixed for 
decision on 25 January 2019 has been adjourned to 12 March 2019 for a case management for the 
share valuers to attend before the judge to take further instructions from him to build a model to value 

the 30% shares. On 12 March 2019, the judge has directed the matter to be adjourned to 29 April 2019 

for further mention.

 Meanwhile, Zen Courts had on 22 August 2016 filed an application to the KLHC to restore the previously 
existing state of affairs of them in BJDSB from Ho Hup pending the disposal of Zen Court Application 
(“Restoration Application”). The Restoration Application was dismissed with costs by the KLHC on 27 
March 2017. Zen Courts subsequently appealed to the Court of Appeal on 18 April 2017 against such 
dismissal and the appeal had then been dismissed by the Court of Appeal with costs on 2 August 2017 
(“COA Decision”).
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40. MATERIAL LITIGATIONS (CONT’D)

(i) High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur Suit No. D-26NCC-42-2011

 Federal Court of Malaysia Civil Appeal No. 02(f)-140-12/2017 (cont’d)

 In view of the COA Decision, Zen Courts further filed an application in the Federal Court for leave to 
appeal against the COA Decision. Leave to appeal was granted by the Federal Court on 4 December 
2017 and fixed for hearing on 11 February 2019. On 11 February 2019, the Federal Court has ordered, 
by consent of the parties, that the Restoration Application be remitted to the KLHC for hearing and 
disposal. During the case management on 18 February 2019, the KLHC has indicated that the Restoration 
Application should be determined after the completion of the re-evaluation exercise and fixed the matter 
for mention on 12 March 2019. On 12 March 2019, the judge has directed the matter to be adjourned 

to 29 April 2019 for further mention.

 On 26 June 2019, the High Court had determined that the valued of Zen Court’s 30% shareholding in 
Bukit Jalil Development at RM99,090,000, an increase from an earlier determination of RM35,970,000, 
which the Company had paid to Zen Courts for the purchase of Zen Court’s 30% shareholding in Bukit 
Jalil Development Sdn Bhd. As such, by the High Court’s decision on 26 June 2019 aforesaid, the 
Company is to pay a further RM63,120,000.

 On 11 July 2019, the High Court ordered that the payment to Zen Courts for RM63,120,000.00 be as 
follows:

a)  RM20,000,000 on or before 10 October 2019; and

b) the balance RM43,120,000 on or before 10 January 2020.

 On 14 August 2019, the High Court further ordered that:

a) the Company is to pay Zen Courts interest upon the RM63,120,000 at the rate of 5% per annum 
calculated from 26 June 2019 until the date of full settlement;

b) the Company is to pay Zen Courts, party to party cost of RM250,000,000;

c) Bukit Jalil Development is to pay the fees and disbursement of KPMG Corporate Advisory Sdn 
Bhd amounting to RM1,040,072 inclusive of tax; and

d) Bukit Jalil Development is to pay the fees and disbursement of Hartanah Consultants (Valuation) 
Sdn Bhd amounting to RM2,650 inclusive of tax.

 On the Company’s application made on 14 August 2019 after the decision as described above were 
given, the High Court ordered a stay of all further proceedings and enforcement of all those decisions 

pending the disposal of the appeal by the Company to the Court of Appeal on condition that the payments 

referred to above are paid within the time permitted into an interest bearing bank deposit account held 
jointly by the solicitors for the Company and Zen Court. 

 Consequently thereto, the Company appealed against the decisions of High Court to the Court of Appeal. 

 On 30 August 2019, Zen Courts appealed to the Court of Appeal to against the decision of the High 

Court.

 On 22 January 2020, the Company has entered into a Settlement Agreement with Zen Courts. Accordingly, 
an upfront sum was paid along with a property transfer with the balance cash settlement over a payment 
term of 3 instalments.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019     ·        HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD 197301000497 (14034-W)

205

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

40. MATERIAL LITIGATIONS (CONT’D)

(i) High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur Suit No. D-26NCC-42-2011

 Federal Court of Malaysia Civil Appeal No. 02(f)-140-12/2017 (cont’d)

 With this settlement, the disputes with Zen Courts relating to their previous 30% shareholding in Bukit 
Jalil Development including all litigation matters pertaining thereto will be completely resolved. 

 To date, the parties’ respective appeals are scheduled on 9 July 2020 for case management before the 
Court of Appeal. All matters and claims before the court, for the Company and against the Company by 

Zen Court, are to be withdrawn.

(ii) Hon’ble II Chief Judge City Civil Court, Hyderabad O.P.No. 2039 of 2008

 On 9 March 2005, Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd (“HHCCI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, entered into a joint development agreement with the Andhra Pradesh Housing Board 
(“APHB”) to develop an integrated township at Raviryal Village, Maheshwaran Mandal, Rangareddy 
District, Andhra Pradesh (“JDA”).

 The JDA was subsequently terminated by APHB. HHCCI disputed the termination on the grounds that 
APHB had yet to comply with its obligations in respect of the conditions precedent under the JDA.

 On 2 May 2005, HHCCI commenced an arbitration proceeding to claim for expenses incurred and 
damages due to the unlawful termination of the JDA. On 19 May 2008, an arbitration award was published 
in HHCCI’s favour (“Award”). The Award provides for:
                        

(a) The upfront fee in the amount of Rs16,796,250 together interest at the rate of 12% per annum to 
be refunded to HHCCI, interest of which is to be calculated from 1 February 2006 to the date of 
the refund being made; and

(b) Compensation for expenses incurred in the amount of Rs600,000 together with interest at the rate 
of 9% per annum, interest of which is to be calculated from 6 January 2006.

 On 18 November 2013, APHB filed an appeal against the Award and applied to set aside the Award. 
The appeal was dismissed and ruled in favour of HHCCI by the appellate court on 19 January 2018. 
There being no further appeal filed by APHB against the ruling of the appellate court, the Award is 
now deemed final and absolute. APHB had yet to comply with the terms of the Award and HHCCI had 
instructed their solicitors to commence recovery proceeding to enforce the Award against APHB.

 Following thereto, the Company has lodged an Execution Petition before the City Civil Courts at 
Hyderabad, India to proceed with execution and recovery of Appellate Court’s award against APHB. 
The matter is pending before City Civil Courts at Hyderabad.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows: 

(a)  Amortised cost ("AC") 

(b) Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") – Equity instrument designated upon 
initial recognition ("EIDUIR")
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (cont’d)

      At amortised

      cost

      RM’000

Group

2019 

Financial Assets

Trade receivables      203,950 
Other receivables      89,768 
Amount due from a joint venture      99 

Fixed deposits with licensed banks     31,383 
Cash and bank balances     54,186

       379,386 

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables     151,216 
Other payables      262,291 

Lease liabilities      16,945 
Bank borrowings      355,411 

       785,863 

    FVTOCI At amortised Carrying

    - EIDUIR cost amount

    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2018 

Financial Assets 

Other investment    1,184   –   1,184 
Trade receivables   –  192,218   192,218 
Other receivables   –  57,174   57,174 
Amount due from a joint venture   –  99   99 

Fixed deposits with licensed banks  –   10,051   10,051
Cash and bank balances   –  21,052   21,052 

     1,184   280,594   281,778 

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables    –  175,946   175,946 
Other payables   –   85,801   85,801 
Finance lease liabilities   –  8,487   8,487 
Bank borrowings   –  373,568   373,568 

    – 643,802   643,802 
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (cont’d)

      At amortised
      cost
      RM’000

Company
2019
Financial Assets
Trade receivables      24,881 
Other receivables      29,908 
Amount due from subsidiary companies     337,456 
Amount due from a joint venture      99 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks     27,125 
Cash and bank balances      10,361

       429,830 

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables      66,796 
Other payables     138,482 
Amount due to subsidiary companies     1,954 
Lease liabilities      1,805 
Bank borrowings     43,766

       252,803 

  
    FVTOCI  Carrying
    - EIDUIR AC amount
    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2018 
Financial Assets
Trade receivables   –  20,381   20,381 
Other receivables   –  29,908   29,908 
Amount due from  subsidiary companies  –  346,493   346,493 
Amount due from a joint venture   –  99   99 
Fixed deposits with  licensed banks  –  6,198   6,198 
Cash and bank balances   –   14,858   14,858 

    –  417,937   417,937 

 
Financial Liabilities 
Trade payables    –   95,671   95,671 
Other payables    –  20,262   20,262 
Amount due to  subsidiary companies  –   6,579   6,579 
Finance lease liabilities   –   1,243   1,243 
Bank borrowings   –   130,542   130,542 

   –   254,297   254,297 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b) Net loss on financial instruments

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Net loss on impairment of 

 financial instruments:
 - Financial asset at
  amortised cost  314  –   232  – 

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies

 

 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

(i) Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises principally from the 
individual characteristics of each customer and deposits with banks and financial institutions. 
The Company's exposure to credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to subsidiary 
companies and financial guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiary 
companies. 

 Receivables and contract assets 

 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. Normally credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain 

amount. 

 At each reporting date, the Group or the Company assesses whether any of the receivables and 
contract assets are credit impaired. 

 The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired receivables and contract assets are written off (either 
partially or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 
Group or the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that 

could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, 
receivables and contract assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities. 

 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 The carrying amounts of the financial assets recorded on the statements of financial position at 
the end of the financial year represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk. 
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NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(i) Credit risk (cont’d)

 Receivables and contract assets (cont’d)

 Concentration of credit risk

 The Group’s has no significant concentration to credit risk except as disclosed in Note 15. The 
Company has no significant concentration of credits risks except as disclosed in Note 15 and 
advances to its subsidiary companies where risks of default have been assessed to be low.

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institutions. As at the end of the 
reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in 
the statement of financial position.

 These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank balances 
are insured by government agencies. Consequently, the Group and the Company are of the view 
that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.

 Financial guarantees

 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities 
granted to certain subsidiaries. The Company also provides corporate guarantee to suppliers of 

goods to subsidiary companies. The Company monitors on a continuous basis the results of the 

subsidiary companies and repayments made by the subsidiary companies. 

 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 The Company’s maximum exposure in this respect is RM348.66 million and RM1.8 million (2018: 
RM243.25 million and RM2.34 million), representing the outstanding banking facilities and for 
supply of goods to certain subsidiary companies as at the end of the reporting period. There was 
no indication that the subsidiary company would default on repayment as at the end of the reporting 
period.

 Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary company's 
financial position deteriorates significantly. The Company considers a financial guarantee to be 
credit impaired when: 

• The subsidiary company is unlikely to repay its credit obligation to the bank in full; or 

• The subsidiary company is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders' 
fund.

 The Company determines the probability of default of the guaranteed loans individually using 

internal information available.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(i) Credit risk (cont’d)

 Inter-company loans and advances 

 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 The Company provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiary companies. The Company 

monitors the ability of the subsidiaries to repay the loans and advances on an individual basis. 

 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their 
carrying amounts in the statements of financial position.  Loans and advances provided are not 
secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements.

 Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 Generally, the Company considers loans and advances to subsidiary companies have low credit 
risk. The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary 
company's financial position deteriorates significantly. As the Company is able to determine the 
timing of payments of the subsidiary companies' loans and advances when they are payable, the 
Company considers the loans and advances to be in default when the subsidiary companies are 
not able to pay when demanded. The Company considers a subsidiary company's loan or advance 
to be credit impaired when:

• The subsidiary company is unlikely to repay its loan or advance to the Company in full; 

• The subsidiary company's loan or advance is overdue for more than 365 days; or

• The subsidiary company is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders' 
fund. 

 The Company determines the probability of default for these loans and advances individually using 

internal information available.

(ii) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk 
arises primarily from their various payables. 

 The Group’s and the Company’s funding requirements and liquidity risk are managed with the 
objective of meeting business obligations on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through 
internally generated cash flows and minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines 
available.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(ii) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

 The following table analyses the remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay.

   On demand    Total Total

   or within 1 to 2 2 to 5 After contractual carrying

   1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2019

Non-derivative

 financial liabilities
Trade payables  151,216   –  – –   151,216   151,216 
Other payables  262,291  –   –  –   262,291   262,291 

Lease liabilities  6,526   4,432   6,014   1,537   18,509   16,945 
Bank borrowings  209,259   85,874   67,810   92,375   455,318   355,411 

    629,292   90,306   73,824   93,912   887,334   785,863

2018  

Non-derivative

 financial liabilities
Trade payables  175,946  –  – –  175,946   175,946 
Other payables  85,801  – – –  85,801   85,801 
Finance lease liabilities  3,979   4,817   441  –   9,237   8,487 
Bank borrowings  188,138   73,861   50,059   99,298   411,356   373,568 

    453,864   78,678   50,500   99,298   682,340   643,802 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(ii) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

 The following table analyses the remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay. (cont’d)

   On demand    Total Total

   or within 1 to 2 2 to 5 After contractual carrying

   1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

2019

Non-derivative

 financial liabilities
Trade payables  66,796   –  – –  66,796   66,796 

Other payables  138,482  – – –  138,482   138,482 
Amount due to

 subsidiary companies  1,954  – – –  1,954   1,954 
Lease liabilities  1,475   381   39  –  1,895   1,805 
Bank borrowings  30,533   2,475   7,424   7,424   47,856   43,766 
Financial guarantee*  350,455  – – –  350,455  – 

    589,695   2,856   7,463   7,424   607,438   252,803 

2018

Non-derivative

 financial liabilities
Trade payables  95,671  – – –  95,671   95,671 
Other payables  20,262   – – –  20,262   20,262 

Amount due to

 subsidiary companies  6,579  – – –  6,579   6,579 
Finance lease liabilities  636   613   58    1,307   1,243 
Bank borrowings  75,328   43,375   7,424   9,898   136,025   130,542 
Financial guarantee*  245,585  – – –  245,585  – 

    444,061   43,988   7,482   9,898   505,429   254,297

*  Being corporate guarantee granted for banking facilities and supply of goods to certain 
subsidiary companies which will only be encashed in the event of default by these companies.
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NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 

(iii) Market risks

(a) Foreign currency risk

 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in 
currencies  other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies 

giving rise to this risk is United States Dollar (USD).

 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk is minimal.

(b) Interest rate risk

 The Group’s and the Company’s fixed rate deposits placed with licensed banks and borrowings 
are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in market interest rates. 
The Group’s and the Company’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change 
in cash flows due to changes in market interest rates. 

 The Group manages the interest rate risk of its deposits with licensed banks by placing them 
at the most competitive interest rates obtainable, which yield better returns than cash at bank 
and maintaining a prudent mix of short and long term deposits.

 The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by 
obtaining financing with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group constantly 
monitors its interest rate risk by reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourable rates are 
obtained. The Group does not utilise interest swap contracts or other derivative instruments 
for trading or speculative purposes.

 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s significant interest-bearing 
financial instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Fixed rate

 instruments

Financial assets   31,383   10,051   27,125   6,198 
Financial liabilities   (72,045)  (85,237)  (1,805)  (1,243)

    (40,662)  (75,186)  25,320   4,955 

Floating rate

 instruments    

Financial liabilities   (300,311)  (296,818)  (43,766)  (130,542)
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(cont’d)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 

(iii) Market risks (cont’d)

(b) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in market interest rates at the end of 
the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

 A change in 0.5% (2018: 0.5%) interest rate at the end of the reporting period would have 
increased/(decreased) the Group and the Company’s profit before tax by RM1.5 million and 
RM0.22 million (2018: RM1.48 million and RM0.65 million) respectively, arising mainly as a 
result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables remain constant. The assumed movement in basis points 

for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

(c) Other price risk 

 Equity price risk arises from the Group's investments in equity securities.

 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 Management of the Group monitors the equity investments on a portfolio basis. All buy and 

sell decisions are approved by the Directors of the Company.

 Equity price risk sensitivity analysis 

 This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and the Group's equity 

investments moved in correlation with the FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI ("FBMKLCI").

 A 10% strengthening in FBMKLCI at the end of the reporting period would have increased 
the Group’s other comprehensive income by approximately Nil (2018: RM118,400) for 
investments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income. A 10% weakening 
in FBMKLCI would have had equal but opposite effect on other comprehensive income.

(d) Fair values of financial instruments

 The carrying amounts of receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings 
approximate their fair value due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments and/
or insignificant impact of discounting. Fair value of other investment is within Level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
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(cont’d)

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 The table below details changes in the liabilities of the Group and of the Company arising from financing 
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes:

  Non-cash changes

   At Net changes Effect of New New At
   1 January from financing adopting lease term loan 31 December
   2019 cash flows (i) MFRS 16 Note 9 Note 4(a) 2019
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Finance lease liabilities
 (Note 22)  8,487  –  (8,487) – – –
Lease liabilities (Note 23) –  (4,435)  10,240   11,140  –  16,945 
Term loans (Note 24)  314,074   (34,841) – –  526   279,759 
Bridging loan (Note 24)  15,000   28,943  – – –  43,943 
Revolving credit (Note 24)  7,500  – – – –  7,500 
Banker acceptance

 (Note 24)  4,893   (2,356) – –  –  2,537 

Total liabilities from

 financing activities   349,954   (12,689)  1,753   11,140   526   350,684 

       Non-cash

    At Net changes Effect of  changes  At 

   1 January from financing adopting New lease 31 December
    2019 cash flows (i) MFRS 16 Note 9 2019
    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company   

Finance lease liabilties (Note 22)  1,243  –   (1,243) –  – 
Lease liabilities (Note 23)  –  (788)  1,243   1,350   1,805 
Term loans (Note 24)   110,481   (76,433) – –  34,048 

Total liabilities from financing activities   111,724   (77,221) –  1,350   35,853 
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(cont’d)

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

 The table below details changes in the liabilities of the Group and of the Company arising from financing 
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes (cont’d):

  Non-cash changes

   At Net changes New New At

   1 January from financing finance lease term loan 31 December
   2018 cash flows (i) Note 4(a) Note 4(a) 2018
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Finance lease liabilities
 (Note 22)  9,807   (1,414)  94  –  8,487 
Term loans (Note 24)  263,519   45,474  –  5,081   314,074 
Bridging loan (Note 24)  –   15,000  – –  15,000 
Revolving credit (Note 24) –  7,500  –  –  7,500 
Banker acceptance (Note 24)  4,997   (104) – –  4,893 

Total liabilities from

 financing activities   278,323   66,456   94   5,081   349,954 

      Non-cash

    At Net changes changes At

    1 January from financing New finance 31 December
    2018 cash flows (i) lease Note 4(a) 2018
    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Finance lease liabilities (Note 22)   –   1,149   94   1,243 
Term loans (Note 24)   127,815   (17,334)  –   110,481 

Total liabilities from financing activities    127,815   (16,185)  94    111,724 

(i) The cash flows from loans and borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from or repayments of 
borrowings in the statements of cash flows.

 

43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
 

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s policy is to maintain a prudent level of gearing 

ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements. The gearing ratios at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows:

 Group Company

  2019 2018 2019 2018

   RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Total loans and borrowings   372,356   382,055   45,571   131,785 
Less: Fixed deposits, cash and
   bank balances (Note 19) ^   (67,997)  (19,322)  (26,652)  (14,185)

Net debt    304,359   362,733   18,919   117,600 

Total equity    446,205   377,257   316,502   297,128 

Debt-to-equity ratio   0.68   0.96   0.06   0.40 

^ Fixed deposits, cash and bank balances excluded cash and cash equivalents restricted from use. 

 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.

44. SUBSEqUENT EVENT

 Effect of outbreak of coronavirus pandemic

 The Directors of the Company have closely monitored the development progress of the outbreak of coronavirus 

pandemic (“COVID-19”) infection in Malaysia that may affect and impact on the business performance, financial 
performance and financial position of the Group and of the Company mainly due to travel and movement 
restriction and other precautionary measures imposed by relevant local authorities that affected the on-going 
Group’s activities and the Company business operations. 

 As at the date of this report, the financial impact of the COVID-19 outbreak to the Group and to the Company 
cannot be reasonably estimated due to the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid development relating to 

COVID-19, the extent of the impact depends on the on-going precautionary measures introduced by each 
country to address this pandemic and the durations of the pandemic. As such, the Directors of the Company 

will continue to closely monitor the situations and respond proactively to mitigate the impact on the Group’s 
activities and the Company’s financial performance and financial position.

45. DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 
of the Directors on 28 May 2020.
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No. Location/Land details

Age of 

Building

Date of 

Acquisition Tenure Size

Existing 

Use Description

Net Book 

Value

RM’000

1. HSD 119867, PT 15290, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 

Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 

Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

– 12/09/1995 Freehold 1,226,451
square

feet

Property 

development

Development 

Land

60,516

2. HSD 119868, PT 15291, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 

Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 

Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

– 12/09/1995 Freehold 512,591
square

feet

Property 

development 

Development 

Land

9,571

3. Geran 79552, Lot 101901
(previously known as 
H.S.(D) 119869,
PT 15292),
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 

Kuala Lumpur, Negeri
Wilayah Persekutuan

Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

– 12/09/1995 Freehold 104,335
square

feet

Property 

development

Development 

Land

17,914

4. HSD 119870, PT 15293, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 

Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 

Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

– 12/09/1995 Freehold 320,621

square

feet

Property 

development

Development 

Land

5,987

5. HSD 119871, PT 15294, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 

Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 

Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

– 12/09/1995 Freehold 109,849
square

feet

Property 

development

Development 

Land

2,051

6. Ho Hup Tower
Bandar Bukit Jalil
Kuala Lumpur

– 21/09/2016 Freehold 146,812
square

feet

Office Tower Office Tower 104,294

7. Lot No. K-1-1, K-1-1M, 
K-1-2, K-1-3
Pusat Perdagangan 

Bandar Bukit Jalil
Persiaran Jalil 1
57000 Kuala Lumpur

2.5
years

30/06/2017 Freehold 8,350
square

feet

For rental Shop Office 8,535

LIST OF

MATERIAL PROPERTIES
As at 31 December 2019
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No. Location/Land details

Age of 

Building

Date of 

Acquisition Tenure Size

Existing 

Use Description

Net Book 

Value

RM’000

8. Lot No. B-13-1, B-13-2, 

B-13-3, B-13-3A & B-13-5
Pusat Perdagangan 

Bandar Bukit Jalil
Persiaran Jalil 1
57000 Kuala Lumpur

2

years 

31/12/2017 Freehold 11,246

square

feet

For rental Shop Offce 12,913

9. Plot A6 Geran 43611,

Lot No. PTD 14193

Mukim Ulu Sungai Johor,
District Kota Tinggi,
Johor Darul Ta’zim

2

years 

02/11/2017 Leasehold 4,303,734

square

feet

Property 

development

Development 

Land

43,090

10. Carpark B1, B2, B3,

LG and LG1 at Aurora

Place, Persiaran Jalil 1, 
Bukit Jalil, Kuala Lumpur

– 31/12/2019 Freehold 2027

bays

Carpark Building 70,000

11. 32 Units of Retail

Lots located at Lower
Ground floor at Aurora
Place, Persiaran Jalil 1,
Kuala Lumpur

– 31/12/2019 Freehold 51,757 
square

feet

Retail Lots Building 52,498

12. Exhibition Floor
located at Level 4

at Aurora Place,

Persiaran Jalil 1,
Kuala Lumpur

– 31/12/2019 Freehold 16,685 
square

feet

Exhibition 
Floor

Building 16,000

LIST OF

MATERIAL PROPERTIES
(cont’d)
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ORDINARY SHARES 

Issued and Paid-up Share Capital : 412,383,996 ordinary shares
Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights : One (1) vote per ordinary share on a poll
Number of Shareholders : 4,526

DISTRIBUTION OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
according to statistical summary of the Record of Depositors as at 28 May 2020

 No. of % of No. of % of

Size of Holdings Shareholders Shareholders Shares Held Issued Capital

Less than 100 shares 138 3.05 2,830 ~
100 to 1,000 shares 463 10.23 262,322 0.06

1,001 to 10,000 shares 2,304 50.91 12,803,780 3.10
10,001 to 100,000 shares 1,320 29.16 45,564,535 11.05
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares 296 6.54 193,671,121 46.96
5% and above of issued shares 5 0.11 160,079,408 38.82
    

Total 4,526 100.00 412,383,996 100.00

Notes:

~ Negligible

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
according to the Record of Depositors as at 28 May 2020

 Direct Indirect

Name of Directors  Shareholdings % Shareholdings  %

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie   – – –  –
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee  – – 54,147,750 (1) 13.130

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok    5,687,500 1.379 8,161,000 (2) 1.979

Datin Chan Bee Leng  47,700 0.012 77,958,722 (3) 18.904
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong     287,000 0.070 –  –
Dato’ Wong Gian Kui  – – –  –
Boey Tak Kong  2,260,000 0.548 –  –
Chow Seck Kai  117,400 0.028 –  –
Low Kheng Lun  51,383 0.012 65,113,032 (4) 15.789

Notes
(1) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas Berhad and his children’s direct 

shareholdings in the Company pursuant to Section 8(4) & 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act, 2016 (“CA 2016”).
(2) Deemed interest by virtue of his spouse’s and daughter’s direct shareholdings in the Company pursuant to 

Section 59(11)(c) of CA 2016.
(3) Deemed interest by virtue of her husband, Dato’ Low Tuck Choy’s substantial shareholdings in Low Chee 

Group Sdn Bhd (“LCG”), Estate of Low Chee and Concrete Pavers Industries Sdn Bhd (“CPISB”) and her 
husband’s direct shareholdings in the Company.

(4) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.

ANALYSIS OF

SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 28 May 2020
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LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
according to the Record of Depositors as at 28 May 2020

 Name No. of Shares Held %

1. RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 54,079,258 13.11
 Pledged Securities Account for Low Chee Group Sdn Bhd
2. Gryphon Asset Management Sdn Bhd 40,645,250 9.86
3. AmSec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 23,495,100 5.70
 Pledged Securities Account for Ambank (M) Berhad for
 Omesti Holdings Berhad (SMART)
4. M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 23,115,000 5.61
 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd for Omesti Holdings Berhad
5. M & A Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 18,744,800 4.54
 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd for Mettiz Capital Limited 
6. Low Chee Group Sdn Bhd 11,033,774 2.68
7. Hendak Maju Sdn Bhd 9,372,300 2.27
8. M & A Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 8,450,000 2.05
 Montego Assets Limited 
9. Low Tuck Choy 6,817,500 1.65
10. RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 5,679,000 1.38
 Pledged Securities Account for Low Tuck Choy 
11. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 5,062,000 1.23
 Exempt an for Affin Hwang Asset Management Berhad (TSTAC/CLNT-T) 
12. M & A Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 5,000,000 1.21
 For Winfields Development Pte. Ltd. 
13. Kwan Siew Deeg 4,519,900 1.10
14. H’ng Bak Tee 4,462,200 1.08
15. AmSec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 4,203,000 1.02
 Pledged Securities Account for Yap Siew Bee (MX3809) 
16. Kwan Siew Deeg 4,051,100 0.98
17. Yap Siew Bee 3,800,000 0.92
18. CimSec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 3,525,554 0.85
 CIMB Bank for Mohamed Nizam Bin Abdul Razak (PB) 
19. M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 3,115,000 0.76
 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd for Omesti Holdings Berhad (HH) 
20. Omesti Holdings Berhad 2,791,300 0.68
21. Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,671,900 0.65
 Pledged Securities Account for Tan Siew Booy (D18) 
22. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,600,000 0.63
 Pledged Securities Account for Mah Siew Kwok 
23. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,411,300 0.58
 Pledged Securities Account for Low Choon Chong 
24. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 2,409,200 0.58
 Exempt an for Credit Suisse (SG BR-TST-ASING) 
25. Boey Tak Kong 2,260,000 0.55
26. Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,030,000 0.49
 Pledged Securities Account for Gan Kong Hiok (001) 
27. CGS-CIMB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,807,200 0.44
 Pledged Securities Account for Teow Ewe Jin (MY0829) 
28. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,650,000 0.40
 Pledged Securities Account for Fong York Siang 
29. Yayasan Guru Tun Hussein Onn 1,535,500 0.37
30. Lim Jit Hai 1,529,900 0.37

 Total 262,867,036 63.74

ANALYSIS OF
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
according to the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 28 May 2020

 Direct Indirect

Name  Shareholdings % Shareholdings  %

Low Chee Group Sdn Bhd  65,113,032 15.789 –  –
Omesti Holdings Berhad   52,516,400 12.735 –  –
Gryphon Asset Management Sdn Bhd  40,645,250 9.856 –  –
Dato’ Low Tuck Choy  6,817,500 1.653 71,240,305 (1) 17.275
Low Lai Yoong  1,362,500 0.330 65,113,032 (2) 15.789
Omesti Berhad  – – 52,516,400 (3) 12.735
Insas Berhad  – – 54,095,250 (4) 13.118
Datin Chan Bee Leng  47,700 0.012      77,958,722  (5) 18.904
Low Kheng Lun  51,383 0.012      65,113,032  (6) 15.789
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee  – –      54,147,750  (7) 13.130

Notes
(1) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Low Chee Group Sdn Bhd (“LCG”), Estate of Low 

Chee and Concrete Pavers Industries Sdn Bhd (“CPISB”) and his spouse’s and son’s direct shareholdings 
in the Company.

(2) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.
(3) Deemed interest by virtue of its substantial shareholdings in its wholly-owned subsidiary, OHB.
(4) Deemed interest by virtue of its shareholdings in its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Gryphon Asset Management 

Sdn Bhd and Montego Assets Ltd and substantial shareholdings in its associate company, Winfields 
Development Pte Ltd.

(5) Deemed interest by virtue of her husband, Dato’ Low Tuck Choy’s substantial shareholdings in LCG, Estate 
of Low Chee and CPISB and her husband’s direct shareholdings in the Company.

(6) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.
(7) Deemed interest by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas Berhad and his children’s direct 

shareholdings in the Company pursuant to Section 8(4) & 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act, 2016.

ANALYSIS OF

SHAREHOLDINGS
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NOTICE OF THE FORTY-SIXTH

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Forty-Sixth Annual General Meeting (“46th AGM”) of Ho Hup Construction 

Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or the “Company”) will be held at Bukit Jalil Golf & Country Resort, 1st Floor, Perdana 
Ballroom, Jalan Jalil Perkasa 3, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 22 July 2020 at 10:00 a.m. to 
transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019 together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors 
thereon (“Audited Financial Statements and Reports FY2019”).

[Please refer to 

Explanatory
Note (a)]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fee of RM330,000 for the financial year ending 
31 December 2020, to be payable on a quarterly basis in arrears.

(Resolution 1)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits up to an amount of RM65,000 from 
23 July 2020 until the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company.

(Resolution 2)

4. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who retire in accordance with 
Clause 93 of the Company’s Constitution and being eligible, have offered themselves 
for re-election:

(i) Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok
(ii) Mr. Chow Seck Kai
(iii) Mr. Boey Tak Kong

(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs UHY as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and 
to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 6)

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

6. Ordinary Resolution

 Continuing in office as Independent Non-Executive Director

 “THAT approval be and is hereby given to Mr. Chow Seck Kai who has served as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of 
more than nine years, to continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company.”

(Resolution 7)
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7. Ordinary Resolution

 Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 

Companies Act, 2016

 “THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 2016 and the approvals of the relevant 
authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered, pursuant to Sections 75 
and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 to allot and issue shares in the Company at any 

time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors 

may, in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of 
shares issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 20% of the total number 
of issued shares of the Company for the time being and that the Directors be and 

are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the 
additional shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Securities) 
and that such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next 
AGM of the Company.”

(Resolution 8)

8. Ordinary Resolution

 Proposed Authority for The Company to Purchase its own Ordinary Shares

 “THAT subject to the Companies Act 2016, provisions of the Constitution of the 

Company, the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“Main LR”) and all other applicable laws, rules and regulations and 
guidelines for the time being in force and the approvals of all relevant regulatory 

authority, approval be and is hereby given to the Company, to purchase such number 

of ordinary shares in the Company (“Company Shares”) as may be determined by 

the Directors of the Company from time to time through Bursa Malaysia Securities as 
the Directors may deem fit, necessary and expedient in the interest of the Company 
(“Proposed Share Buy-Back”), provided that:- 

i. the maximum aggregate number of Company Shares which may be purchased 
and/or held by the Company as treasury shares pursuant to the Proposed 
Share Buy-Back shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares 
of the Company at any point in time of the said purchase(s); and 

ii. the maximum funds to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of 
purchasing Company Shares pursuant to the Proposed Share Buy-Back 
shall not exceed the total retained profits of the Company based on the latest 
audited financial statements available at the time of the purchase(s);

 THAT the authority conferred by this resolution will commence immediately upon 
passing of this ordinary resolution and shall continue to be in force until:- 

i. the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) at which time 
the said authority shall lapse unless by an ordinary resolution passed at 

that meeting, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to 
conditions; or

ii. the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to 
be held; or 

iii. the authority is revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution passed by the 

shareholders in general meeting, 

whichever occurs first;

(Resolution 9)

NOTICE OF THE FORTY-SIXTH

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)
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 THAT the Company Shares purchased by the Company pursuant to the Proposed 
Share Buy-Back may be dealt with by the Directors of the Company in their absolute 
discretion in all or any of the following manner:- 

a. the shares so purchased may be cancelled; and/or the shares so purchased 
may be retained in treasury for distribution as dividend to the shareholders 

and/or resold on the market of Bursa Securities and/or subsequently cancelled; 
and/or

 

b. part of the shares so purchased may be retained as treasury shares with the 
remainder being cancelled; and/or

 

c. transfer the shares, or any of the shares for the purposes of or under an 

employees’ shares scheme; and/or
 

d. transfer the shares, or any of the shares as purchase consideration; and/or
 

e. deal with the shares in any other manner as may be permitted by the applicable 
laws and/or regulations in force from time to time;

 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take 

all such steps as are necessary and enter into any instrument, agreements or 

arrangements with any party or parties to implement, finalise and give full effect 
to the Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to assent to any conditions, 
modifications, revaluations, variations and/or amendments (if any) as may be 
imposed by the relevant authorities from time to time or as the Directors may in 

their discretion deem necessary and to do all such acts and things as the Directors 

may deem fit and expedient in the best interest of the Company.”

9. Ordinary Resolution

 Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related 

Party Transactions (“RRPTs”) of a Revenue or Trading Nature as set out 

in Section 2.4 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 26 June 2020 (“RRPT 

Circular”)

 “THAT, subject to the provision of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, 
approval be and is hereby given to Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad and its 

subsidiaries (“Ho Hup Group”) to enter into and to give effect to specified RRPTs 
of a revenue or trading nature with the Related Parties as set out in Section 2.4 of 
the RRPT Circular, which are necessary for its day-to-day operations, to be entered 
into by Ho Hup Group on the basis that these transactions are entered into on 

terms which are not more favourable to the Related Party involved than generally 
available to the public and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the 

Company;

(Resolution 10)
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 THAT the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate is subject to 
annual renewal. In this respect, any authority conferred by the Proposed Renewal 
of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate, shall only continue to be in force until:

(i) the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company following the general meeting 
at which the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate was 
passed, at which time it will lapse, unless by resolution passed at the general 
meeting, the authority is renewed; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the AGM after that date is required 
to be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Act (but must not extend to such 
extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or

(iii) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company 

in general meeting,

whichever is the earlier;

 AND THAT the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to 
complete and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as 
may be required) to give effect to the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ 
Mandate.”

11. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By order of the Board

Lim Shook Nyee (MAICSA 7007640)
Lee Heng Aun (MIA 10104)

Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
26 June 2020

NOTICE OF THE FORTY-SIXTH
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Explanatory Notes:

(a) This Agenda item is meant for discussion only, as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Act does not require 
a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements and Reports FY2019.  Hence, 
this Agenda is not put forward for voting.

(b) Section 230(1) of the Act provides amongst others, that the fees of the Directors and any benefits payable 
to the Directors of a listed company shall be approved at the general meeting.

 In this respect, the Board wishes to seek shareholders’ approval at the 46th AGM of the Company on the two 
(2) separate resolutions as below:

(i)  Resolution 1 - Payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 31 December 2020

 This resolution is to facilitate payment of Directors’ fees on current financial year basis.  In the event 
the Directors’ fees proposed is insufficient due to enlarged Board size, approval will be sought at the 
next AGM for additional fees to meet the shortfall.

(ii)  Resolution 2 - Payment of Directors’ benefits

 At the Forty-Fifth (“45th”) AGM of the Company held on 30 May 2019, the Company had obtained the 
shareholders’ approval for the payment of Directors’ benefits to the Non-Executive Directors up to an 
amount of RM120,000 from 31 May 2019 until 22 July 2020, being the appointed date of holding the 
46th AGM of the Company.

 The proposed Resolution 2, if passed, will authorise the payment of Directors’ benefits to the Non-
Executive Directors up to an amount of RM65,000 with effect from 23 July 2020 until the next AGM of 
the Company in year 2021.  The Directors’ benefits payable to the Non-Executive Directors comprise 
the meeting allowances of RM65,000. 

The Chief Executive Officer/Executive Directors do not receive any meeting allowances.

(c) Resolution 7 – Continuing in office as Independent Non-Executive Director

 Mr. Chow Seck Kai was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 17 March 
2010 and has been on the Board for over 9 years.  The Board, through the Nomination Committee (“NC”) 

had conducted an assessment of the independence of Mr. Chow Seck Kai as Independent Non-Executive 
Director and affirmed that he demonstrated complete independence in character and judgement both as 
Board member and in his roles as Committees member.  He has a good understanding of the business of 

the Company and his knowledge and experience would continue to provide invaluable contribution to the 
Board. The Board (without the participation of Mr. Chow Seck Kai) therefore endorsed NC’s recommendation 
for him to continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.  

(d) For Resolution 8, further information in relation to the general mandate for issue of securities is set out in the 
Statement Accompanying Notice of 46th AGM.
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Explanatory Notes: (cont’d)

(e) Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors to purchase the Company’s shares through Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad up to 10% of the issued shares of the Company. Details of the Proposed Share Buy Back 
is set out in the Share Buy Back Statement of the Company in the Circular to Shareholders dated 26 June 
2020 circulated together with this Annual Report.

(f) Resolution 10, if passed, will renew the authority given to Ho Hup Group a mandate to enter into RRPTs of a 
revenue of trading nature with the related parties.  The mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company 
at a general meeting, will expire at the next AGM of the Company.  The Details of the Proposed Renewal of 
Existing Shareholders’ Mandate are set out in the Circular to Shareholders dated 26 June 2020 circulated 
together with this Annual Report.

Notes:

(i) In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 15 
July 2020 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.

(ii) A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint proxy / proxies to attend and vote in 
his stead.  A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to 
attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the 
member at the Meeting.  There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.  A proxy appointed 
to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. 

(iii) Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds 
which is credited with ordinary shares of the Company.

(iv) Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the 
Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the 
number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account 
it holds.

(v) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer 
or attorney duly authorised.

(vi) The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Registrar of the Company at 
ShareWorks Sdn. Bhd., 2-1, Jalan Sri Hartamas 8, Sri Hartamas, 50480 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-
eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof or, in the case of a poll, 
not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll.

NOTICE OF THE FORTY-SIXTH
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF 46TH AGM
Pursuant to Paragraph 8.27(2) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities

Details of individuals who are standing for election as Directors (excluding Directors standing for re-election)

No individual is seeking for election as a Director at the 46th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company.

Statement relating to general mandate for issue of securities in accordance with Paragraph 6.03(3) of the 

Main Market Listing Requirements

The resolution in relation to the authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies 
Act, 2016 is a renewal of the general mandate for the issue of new ordinary shares in the Company which was 
approved at the last AGM of the Company held on 30 May 2019.

Under the previous mandate, the following new ordinary shares were issued under the Private Placement:

Date

Number of

Ordinary Shares

Price Per Share

(RM) Proceeds

22 October 2019 18,744,600 0.4650 8,716,239.00

31 October 2019 18,744,800 0.4650 8,716,332.00

Total 17,432,571

As at 28 May 2020, the status of utilisation of the proceeds raised is as follows:

Details

Proposed

Utilisation

Actual

Utilisation

RM RM

Partial Repayment of Borrowings 8,500,000 8,500,000

Working Capital 8,282,571 8,282,571

Estimated Expenses in Relation to the Private Placement 650,000 650,000

Total 17,432,571 17,432,571

The Board is of the view that the general mandate, on the issuance of new securities of not more than 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares), is in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders 
as it provides flexibility to the Directors to undertake fund-raising activities, including but not limited to placement 
of shares for the funding of the Company’s future investment projects, working capital and/or acquisitions, by the 
issuance of shares in the Company to such persons at any time, as the Directors consider it to be in the best 

interests of the Company. 

Any delay arising from and cost involved in convening a general meeting to approve such issuance of shares 

should be eliminated. 

This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the 
next AGM of the Company.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING 

NOTICE OF 46TH

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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✄

HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD
(Registration No. 197301000497(14034-W))
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

*I/We, (full name in capital letters)  .................................................................................................................................................................

of (full address)  ..............................................................................................................................................................................................

being a *member/members of HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD (“Ho Hup” or the “Company”), hereby appoint

(full name in capital letters).............................................................................................................................................................................

of (full address) ...............................................................................................................................................................................................

or *failing him/her, (full name in capital letters) ...............................................................................................................................................

of (full address) ...............................................................................................................................................................................................

or *failing him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Forty-Sixth Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Bukit Jalil Golf & Country Resort, Perdana Ballroom, Jalan Jalil Perkasa 3, Bukit 
Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 22 July 2020 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.
Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given, 
the proxy will vote or abstain at his/her discretion.

Resolution Agenda For Against

1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM330,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 
2020, to be payable on a quarterly basis in arrears.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits up to an amount of RM65,000 from 23 July 2020 
until the next AGM of the Company.

3. To re-elect Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok who retires in accordance with Clause 93 of the Company’s 
Constitution. 

4. To re-elect Mr. Chow Seck Kai who retires in accordance with Clause 93 of the Company’s 
Constitution.

5. To re-elect Mr. Boey Tak Kong who retires in accordance with Clause 93 of the Company’s 
Constitution. 

6. To re-appoint Messrs. UHY as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and to authorise the 
Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

As Special Business

7. Continuation in office of Mr. Chow Seck Kai as Independent Non-Executive Director.
8. Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016
9. Proposed Authority for The Company to Purchase its own Ordinary Shares 

10. Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 
(“RRPTs”) of a Revenue or Trading Nature as set out in Section 2.4 of the Circular to Shareholders 
dated 26 June 2020 (“RRPT Circular”)

* strike out whichever not applicable

Signed this ................................day of ........................................... , 2020

   

.....................................................................
Signature of Member/Common Seal

Notes:

(1) In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 15 July 2020 (“General Meeting Record of 
Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.

(2) A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint proxy / proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and 
vote instead of the member at the Meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at 
the Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting.

(3) Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint 
at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds which is credited with ordinary shares of the Company.

(4) Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in 
one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect 
of each omnibus account it holds.

(5) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is 
a corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

(6) The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Registrar of the Company at ShareWorks Sdn. Bhd., 2-1, Jalan Sri Hartamas 
8, Sri Hartamas, 50480 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof or, in the 
case of a poll, not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll.

FORM OF PROXY

No. of Shares Held CDS Account No.

The proportions of my/our holding to be represented by my/
our Proxies are as follows :

No. of Shares Percentage

First Proxy

Second Proxy

Total 100%
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